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Dear Fellow Stockholders:

MFA provides its stockholders with attractive returns through leveraged
investments in high-quality hybrid and adjustable-rate MBS. In 2007, the results of
this strategy spoke for themselves. Our portfolio spreads and the dividends to com-
mon stockholders trended up in each of the four quarters. As of December 31, 2007,
approximately 99% of our assets consisted of MBS issued or guaranteed by a
federally chartered corporation (Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac), or an agency of
the U.S. government (Ginnie Mae), other MBS rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s
Corporation, MBS-related receivables and cash.

In light of continuing concerns regarding the residential mortgage and housing

markets, we are pleased with our strategy of investing in high-quality assets.

MFA TOTAL ASSETS

At December 31, 2007
01% = 51%

Agency MBS
$7.870 billion

B AAA Rated MBS
$0.425 billion

. MBS and other securities rated
below AAA or unrated
$0.008 billion
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MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.

Concerns about increased mortgage delinquencies have led investors to question
the underlying risk and value of MBS across the ratings spectrum. Banks, brokers
and insurers have announced billions in losses from exposure to the U.S. mortgage
credit market. These losses have reduced financial industry capital.

While we have consistently maintained an assets-to-equity multiple of
approximately 9x-10x (or a debt-to-equity multiple of approximately 8x-9x), we
have determined that in this current period of financial industry stress the prudent
strategy is to generally lower our target debt-to-equity multiple to approximately
7x-9x. Our focus will continue to be in high-quality agency MBS, which are

liquid and financeable.

MBS BY TIME TO COUPON RESET
OR ESTIMATED PREPAYMENT*®
At Decemiber 31, 2007

B Greater than 60 Months
B 37-60 Months

25-36 Months

[] 13-24 Months

B wWithin 12 Months

*Applying a 20% CPR

|
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MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.

We believe this strategy will reduce the uncertainty reflected in MFA’s share
price and will position MFA to take advantage of profitable opportunities that
we believe will be available in the future. One major initiative for 2008 is the
expected initial public offering of MFResidential Investments, Inc. This new
company will employ a different focus than MFA by primarily investing in
non-agency residential MBS, residential mortgage loans and other real estate-related
assets. M FResidential, which will be externally managed by a subsidiary of MFA,
is expected to generate investment management fee income for MFA and additional
value for MFA’s stockholders.

Our core business model, our proven and experienced management team
and our corporate values should give you, our stockholders, strong reason to be
optimistic about our future. On behalf of the Board of Directors and employees of

MFA, we thank you for your continued investment and confidence.

Stewart Zimmerman
Chairman of the Board
President and CEQO
March 20, 2008
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT — This annual report on Form 10-K may contain "forward-looking ™" statements within the
meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (or 1933 Act). and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (or 1934 Act). We caution that any such forward-looking statements made by us are
not guarantees of future performance and that actual results may differ materially from those in such forward-looking
statements. Some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates contained in our
Jforward-looking statements are sel forth in this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007. See

ltem 1A, “Risk Factors” of this annual report on Form 10-K.




In this annual report on Form 10-K, we refer to MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. and its subsidiaries as “we,”
“us,” or “our,” unless we specifically state otherwise or the context indicates otherwise. The following defines
certain of the commonly used terms in this annual report on Form 10-K: MBS refers to the morigage-backed
securities in our portfolio; Agency MBS refers to our MBS that are issued or guaranteed by a federally chartered
corporation, such as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, or an agency of the U.S. government, such as Ginnie Mae;
Hybrids refers to hybrid mortgage loans that have interest rates that are fixed for a specified period of time and,
thereafter, generally adfjust annually to an increment over a specified interest rate index; ARMs refers to hybrids
and adjustable-rate mortgage loans which typically have interest rates that adjust annually to an increment over a
specified interest rate index; and ARM-MBS refers to MBS that are secured by ARMs. Hybrid ARMs are identified
by their initial fixed-rate and adjustable-rate periods; for example, 5/1 is used to deseribe a Hybrid ARM with a
five-year fixed interest rate period and subsequent one-year interest rate adjustment periods. The date that a
Hybrid shifts from a fixed-rate payment schedule to an adjustable-rate pavment schedule is known as the reset date.

PART 1

Item 1. Business.

General

We are a self-advised real estate investment trust (or REIT) primarily engaged in the business of investing, on a
leveraged basis, in ARM-MBS, which are primarily secured by pools of mortgages on single family residences. Our
ARM-MBS portfolio consists primarily of Agency MBS or MBS rated in one of the two highest rating categories by
at least one nationally recognized rating agency, such as Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., Standard & Poor’s
Corporation or Fitch, Inc. (or Rating Agencies). Our principal business objective is to generate net income for
distribution to our stockholders resulting from the spread between the interest and other income we earn on our
investments and the interest expense we pay on the borrowings that we use to finance our investments and our
operating costs.

At December 31, 2007, we had total assets of approximately $8.606 billion, of which $8.301 billion, or 96.5%,
represented our MBS portfolio. At December 31, 2007, $7.870 billion, or 94.8%, of our MBS portfolioc was
comprised of Agency MBS, $425.0 million, or 5.1%, was comprised of non-Agency AAA rated MBS and $6.2
million, or 0.1%, was comprised of non-Agency MBS rated below AAA or unrated. At December 31, 2007, all of
the MBS in our portfolio consisted of ARM-MBS and none of our MBS were backed by subprime mortgage loans.
At December 31, 2007, we also had an indirect investment of $11.6 million in a 191-unit multi-family apartment
property and other unrated securities of $1.6 million, which, when combined, comprised 0.2% of our total assets. In
addition, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, we provide investment advisory services to a third-party institution
with respect to their MBS portfolio investments and, as of December 31, 2007, had approximately $279.4 million of
assets under management,

We were incorporated in Maryland on July 24, 1997 and began operations on April 10, 1998. We have elected
to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. One of the requirements of maintaining our
qualification as a REIT is that we must distribute at least 90% of our annual net taxable income to our stockholders,
subject to certain adjustments.

Investment Strategy

We are primarily engaged in the business of investing in Agency ARM-MBS and other high quality ARM-
MBS. Our operating policies require that at least 50% of our investment portfolio consist of ARM-MBS that are
either (i) Agency MBS or (ii) rated in one of the two highest rating categories by at least one of the Rating Agencies.
Pursuant to our operating policies, the remainder of our assets may consist of direct or indirect investments in: (i)
other types of MBS; (ii} residential mortgage loans; (iii) collateralized debt obligations and other related securities;
(iv) real estate; (v) securities issued by REITs, limited partnerships and closed-end funds; (vi) high-yield corporate
securities and other fixed income instruments (corporate or government); and (vii) other types of assets approved by
our Board of Directors (or Board) or a committee thereof. All of our Agency and AAA rated MBS are currently
secured by first lien mortgage loans on one to four family properties.




The ARMs collateralizing our MBS are primarily comprised of Hybrids, which have interest rates that are fixed
for a specified period (typically three to ten years) and, thereafter, generally adjust annually to an increment over a
specified interest rate index, and, to a lesser extent, adjustable-rate mortgages, which have interest rates that
generally adjust annually (although some adjust more frequently) to an increment over a specified interest rate
index. Interest rates on the mortgage loans collateralizing our MBS are based on specific index rates, such as
London Interbank Offered Rate (or LIBOR), the one-year constant maturity treasury (or CMT) rate, the Federal
Reserve U1.8. 12-month cumulative average one-year CMT (or MTA) or the | 1th District Cost of Funds Index (or
COF1). In addition, the ARMs collateralizing our MBS typically have interim and lifetime caps on interest rate
adjustments.

Because the coupons earned on ARM-MBS adjust over time as interest rates change (typically after a fixed-rate
period) the market values of these assets are generally less sensitive to changes in interest rates than are fixed-rate
MBS. In order to mitigate our interest rate risks, our strategy is to maintain a substantial majority of our portfolio in
ARM-MBS. At December 31, 2007, ARM-MBS comprised 96.5% of our total assets and 100% of our total MBS
portfolio. The ability of ARM-MBS to reset over time based on changes in interest rates helps to mitigate interest
rate risk more effectively over a longer time period than over the short term; however, interest rate risk is not
entirely eliminated.

Financing Strategy

QOur financing strategy is designed to increase the size of our MBS portfolic by borrowing against a substantial
portion of the market value of the MBS in our portfolio. We typically utilize repurchase agreements to finance the
acquisition of our MBS and, in certain cases, enter into interest rate swap agreements {(or Swaps) to hedge the
interest rate risk associated with these repurchase agreements. At December 31, 2007, we had $7.526 billion
outstanding under repurchase agreements, of which $4.628 billion was hedged with Swaps. At December 31, 2007,
our assets-to-equity ratio was 9.3 to | and our debt-to-equity ratio was 8.1 to |.

Repurchase agreements are financing arrangements, (i.e., borrowings) under which we pledge our MBS as
collateral to secure loans with repurchase agreement counterparties (i.e., lenders). The amount borrowed under a
repurchase agreement is limited to a specified percentage of the estimated market value of the pledged collateral.
The portion of the pledged collateral held by the lender is the margin requirement for that borrowing. Repurchase
agreements take the form of a sale of the pledged collateral to a lender at an agreed upon price in return for such
lender’s simultaneous agreement to resell the same securities back to the borrower at a future date (i.e., the maturity
of the borrowing) at a higher price. The difference between the sale price and repurchase price is the cost, or interest
expense, of borrowing under a repurchase agreement. Our cost of borrowings under repurchase agreements
generally corresponds to LIBOR plus or minus a margin. Under our repurchase agreements, we retain beneficial
ownership of the pledged collateral, while the lender maintains custody of such collateral. At the maturity of a
repurchase agreement, we are required to repay the loan and concurrently receive back our pledged collateral or,
with the consent of the lender, we may renew such agreement at the then prevailing market interest rate. Under our
repurchase agreements, a lender may require that we pledge additional assets to such lender (i.e., by initiating a
margin call) in the event the estimated fair value of our existing pledged collateral declines below a specified
percentage during the term of the borrowing. Our pledged collateral fluctuates in value due to, among other things,
principal repayments and changes in market interest rates. By maintaining low leverage, we are better able to
respond to potential increases in margin requirements. To date, we have satisfied all of our margin calls.

In order to reduce our exposure to counterparty-related risk, we generally seek to diversify our exposure by
entering into repurchase agreements with at least four separate lenders with a maximum loan from any lender of no
more than three times our stockholders’ equity. At December 31, 2007, we had master repurchase agreements with
19 separate counterparties and had amounts outstanding under repurchase agreements with 18 such counterparties,
with a maximum net exposure (the difference between the amount loaned to us, including interest due on such loans,
and the estimated fair value of the security pledged by us as collateral, including accrued interest on such securities)
to any single lender of $71.9 million. In addition, we also enter into Swaps with certain of our repurchase agreement
counterparties and other institutions. At December 31, 2007, our aggregate maximum net exposure to any single
counterparty for repurchase agreements and Swaps was $74.5 million.

We enter into derivative financial instruments (or Hedging Instruments) to hedge against increases in interest
rates on a portion of our anticipated LIBOR-based repurchase agreements. At December 31, 2007, our Hedging
Instruments consisted solely of Swaps, which are used to lock-in fixed interest rates, over the term of the Swap,




related to a portion of our current and anticipated repurchase agreements. At December 31, 2007, we were a party to
131 fixed-pay Swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $4.628 billion. Historically, we also purchased interest
rate cap agreements (or Caps) to hedge our interest rate risk. A Cap is a contract whereby we, as the purchaser, pay
a fee in exchange for the right to receive payments equal to the principal (i.e., notional amount) times the difference
between a specified interest rate and a future interest rate during a defined “active” period of time. Under our Caps,
if the 30-day LIBOR were to increase above the interest rate specified in each Cap during the effective term of such
Cap, we would be entitled to receive monthty payments from the counterparty to such Cap during the period that the
30-day LIBOR exceeded such specified interest rate. While we may in the future purchase Caps, we have not
purchased any since 2004. We do not anticipate entering into Hedging Instruments for speculative or trading
purposes.

We indirectly own one multi-family apartment property, which is subject to a long-term fixed-rate mortgage
loan. The mortgage collateralized by this property is non-recourse, subject to customary non-recourse exceptions,
which generally means that the lender’s final source of repayment in the event of default is foreclosure of the
property. At December 31, 2007, the mortgage secured by this multi-family apartment property was $9.5 million.
{See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.)

In the future, we may also use other sources of funding, in addition to repurchase agreements, to finance our
MBS portfolio, including, but not limited to, other types of collateralized borrowings, loan agreements, lines of
credit, commercial paper or the issuance of debt securities,

Advisory Business and Other investments

We, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, provide investment advisory services to a third-party institution with
respect to its MBS portfolio investments and, as of December 31, 2007, had approximately $279.4 million of assets
under management for one institution.

Even though we have acquired primarily Agency and AAA rated MBS to date, pursuant to our operating
policies, we also acquire MBS and other mortgage-related assets of lower credit quality (i.e., non-Agency MBS or
other securities rated below AAA). At December 31, 2007, 0.1% of our investment securities portfolio was invested
in securities that were rated below AAA or unrated (none of which were backed by subprime collateral). To the
extent that we identify attractive investment opportunities, we may acquire additional assets in the future that are
rated below AAA, or in some cases are unrated.

We continue to explore alternative business strategies, investments and financing sources and other initiatives to
complement our core business strategy. However, no assurance can be provided that any such strategic initiatives
will or will not be implemented in the future or, if undertaken, that any such strategic initiative will favorably impact
us.

Corporate Governance

We pride ourselves on maintaining an ethical workplace in which the highest standards of professional conduct
are practiced.

«  Our Board is composed of a majority of independent directors. Our Audit, Nominating and Corporate
Governance and Compensation Committees are composed exclusively of independent directors.

+ In order to foster the highest standards of ethics and conduct in all of our business relationships, we have
adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Corporate Governance Guidelines, which cover a wide
range of business practices and procedures that apply to all of our directors, officers and employees. In
addition, we have implemented Whistle Blowing Procedures for Accounting and Auditing Matters that sets
forth procedures by which any officer or employee may raise, on a confidential basis, concerns regarding
any questionable or unethical accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters with our Audit
Committee.

«  We have an insider trading policy that prohibits any of our directors, officers or employees from buying or
selling our common and preferred stock on the basis of material nonpublic information and prohibits
communicating material nonpublic information to others.




*  We have a formal internal audit function to further the effective functioning of our internal controls and
procedures. Our internal audit plan, which is approved annually by our Audit Committee, is based on a
formal risk assessment and is intended to provide management and our Audit Committee with an effective
too! to identify and address areas of financial or operational concerns and to ensure that appropriate
controls and procedures are in place. We have implemented Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, as amended (or the SOX Act), which requires an evaluation of internal control over financial
teporting in association with our financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2007. (See Item
9A, “Controls and Procedures” included in this annual report on Form 10-K.)

Competition

We operate in the mortgage-REIT industry. We believe that our principal competitors in the business of
acquiring and holding MBS of the types in which we invest are financial institutions, such as banks, savings and
loan institutions, life insurance companies, institutional investors, including mutual funds and pension funds, hedge
funds and other mortgage-REITs. Some of these entities may not be subject to the same regulatory constraints (i.e.,
REIT compliance or maintaining an exemption under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (or the
Investment Company Act)) as us. I[n addition, many of these entities have greater financial resources and access to
capital than us. The existence of these entities, as well as the possibility of additional entities forming in the future,
may increase the competition for the acquisition of MBS, resulting in higher prices and lower yields on such assets.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, we had 16 employees, all of which were full-time. We believe that our relationship
with our employees is good. None of our employees are unionized or represented under a collective bargaining
agreement.

Available Information

We maintain a website at www.mfa-reit.com. We make available, free of charge, on our website our (a) annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K (including any amendments
thereto), proxy statements and other information (or collectively, the Company Documents) filed with, or furnished
to, the Securities and Exchange Commission {or SEC), as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are
so fited or furnished, (b) Corporate Governance Guidelines, (¢) Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and (d) written
charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
of our Board. Our Company Documents filed with, or furnished to, the SEC are also available at the SEC’s website
at www.sec.gov. We also provide copies of our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics, free of charge, to stockholders who request it. Requests should be directed to Timothy W. Korth,
General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and Secretary, at MFA Mortgage Investments,
Inc., 350 Park Avenue, 21st floor, New York, New York 10022.




Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business and operations are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, the occurrence of which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions to
stockholders and could cause the value of our capital stock to decline.,

General

Our business and operations are affected by a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, and
primarily depend on, among other things, the level of our net interest income, the market value of our assets and the
supply of, and demand for, MBS in the market place. Our net interest income varies primarily as a result of changes
in interest rates, the slope of the yield curve (i.¢., the differential between long-term and short-term interest rates),
the availability of adequate financing, borrowing costs (i.c., interest expense) and prepayment speeds on our MBS
portfolio, the behavior of which involves various risks and uncertainties. Interest rates and prepayment speeds, as
measured by the constant prepayment rate (or CPR), vary according to the type of investment, conditions in the
financial markets, competition and other factors, none of which can be predicted with any certainty.

Qur operating results also depend upon our abitity to effectively manage the risks associated with our business
operations, including our interest rate and prepayment risks, while maintaining our qualification as a REIT. In
addition, we face risks inherent in our other assets, comprised of an indirect 100% interest in a muli-family
apartment property, non-Agency MBS rated below AAA and derivative financial instruments. Although these
assets represent a small portion of our total assets, less than 1.0% at December 31, 2007, they have the potential of
materially impacting our operating performance in future periods if such assets were to become impaired.

An increase in our borrowing costs relative to the interest we receive on our MBS may adversely affect our
profitability.

In general, we generate income primarily based on the spread (i.e., the difference) between the interest income
we earn on our portfolio, less net amortization of purchase premiums and discounts, and the interest expense we pay
on our borrowings. We rely primarily on borrowings under repurchase agreements, typically with terms from one to
60 months, to finance the acquisition of MBS which have longer-term contractual maturities. Even though most of
our MBS have interest rates that adjust over time based on short-term changes in corresponding interest rate indexes,
the interest we pay on our borrowings may increase at a faster pace than the interest we earn on our MBS. If the
interest expense on our borrowings increases relative to the interest income we earn on our MBS, our profitability
may be adversely affected.

«  Changes in interest rates, cyclical or otherwise, may adversely affect our profitability. Interest rates are
highly sensitive to many factors, including fiscal and monetary policies and domestic and international
economic and political conditions, as well as other factors beyond our control. In general, we finance the
acquisition of our MBS through borrowings in the form of repurchase transactions, which exposes us to
interest rate risk on the acquired assets. The cost of our borrowings is based on prevailing market interest
rates. Because the term of our repurchase transactions typically ranges from one to 60 months at inception,
the interest tates on our borrowings generally adjust more frequently (as new repurchase transactions are
entered into upon the maturity of existing repurchase transactions) than the interest rates on our MBS.
During a period of rising interest rates, our borrowing costs generally will increase at a faster pace than our
interest earnings on the leveraged portion of our MBS portfolio, which could result in a decline in our net
interest spread and net interest margin. The severity of any such decline would depend on our
asset/liability composition at the time as well as the magnitude and period over which interest rates
increase. Further, an increase in short-term interest rates could also have a negative impact on the market
value of our MBS portfolio. If any of these events happen, we could experience a decrease in net income
or incur a net loss during these periods, which may negatively impact our distributions to stockholders.

«  Hybrid MBS have fixed interest rates for an initial period which may reduce our profitability if short-
term interest rates increase. The ARMs collateralizing our MBS are primarily comprised of Hybrids,
which have interest rates that are fixed for an initial period (typically three to ten years) and, thereafter,
generally adjust annually to an increment over a pre-determined interest rate index. Accordingly, during a
period of rising interest rates, the cost of our borrowings would increase while the interest income we earn
on our MBS portfolio would not increase with respect to our Hybrid MBS that were then in their fixed rate




period. If this happens, we could experience a decrease in net income or incur a net loss during these
periods, which may negatively impact our distributions to stockholders.

* A flat or inverted yield curve may adversely affect ARM-MBS prepayment rates and supply. Our net
interest income varies primarily as a result of changes in interest rates as well as changes in interest rates
across the yield curve. When the differential between short-term and long-term benchmark interest rates
narrows, the yield curve is said to be “flattening.” We believe that when the yield curve is relatively flat,
borrowers have an incentive to refinance into Hybrids with longer initial fixed-rate periods and fixed rate
mortgages, causing our MBS to experience faster prepayments. In addition, a flatter yield curve generally
leads to fixed-rate mortgage rates that are closer to the interest rates available on ARMs, potentially
decreasing the supply of ARM-MBS. At times, shori-term interest rates may increase and exceed long-
term interest rates, causing an inverted yield curve. When the yield curve is inverted, fixed-rate mortgage
rates may approach or be lower than mortgage rates on ARMs, further increasing ARM-MBS prepayments
and further negatively impacting ARM-MBS supply. Increases in prepayments on our MBS portfolio
cause our premium amottization to accelerate, lowering the yield on such assets. If this happens, we could
experience a decrease in net income or incur a net loss during these periods, which may negatively impact
our distributions to stockholders.

*  Interest rate caps on the ARMs collateralizing our MBS may adversely affect our profitability if short-
term interest rates increase. The coupons earned on ARM-MBS adjust over time as interest rates change
(typically after a fixed-rate period). The financial markets primarily determine the interest rates that we
pay on the repurchase transactions used to finance the acquisition of our MBS; however, the level of
adjustment on the interest rates earned on our ARM-MBS is typically limited by contract. The interim and
lifetime interest rate caps on the ARMs collateralizing our MBS limit the amount by which the interest
rates on such assets can adjust. Interim interest rate caps limit the amount interest rates on a particular
ARM can adjust during any given year or period. Lifetime interest rate caps limit the amount interest rates
can increase from inception through maturity of a particular ARM. Our repurchase transactions are not
subject to similar restrictions. Accordingly, in a sustained period of rising interest rates or a period in
which interest rates rise rapidly, we could experience a decrease in net income or a net loss because the
interest rates paid by us on our borrowings could increase without limitation (as new repurchase
transactions are entered into upon the maturity of existing repurchase transactions) while increases in the
interest rates earned on the ARMSs collateralizing our MBS could be limited due to interim or lifetime
interest rate caps.

*  Adjustments of interest rates on our borrowings may not be matched to interest rate indexes on our
MBS. In general, the interest rates on our repurchase transactions are based on LIBOR, while the interest
rates on our ARM-MBS may be indexed to LIBOR or another index rate, such as the one-year CMT rate,
MTA or COFl. Accordingly, any increase in LIBOR relative to one-year CMT rates, MTA or COFI1 will
generally result in an increase in our borrowing costs that is not matched by a corresponding increase in the
interest earned on our ARM-MBS. Any such interest rate index mismatch could adversely affect our
profitability, which may negatively impact our distributions to stockholders.

Prepayment rates on the mortgage loans underlying our MBS may adversely affect our profitability.

The MBS that we acquire are primarily secured by pools of ARMs on one-to-four family properties. In general,
the ARMs collateralizing our MBS may be prepaid at any time without penalty (other than certain MTA-indexed
ARMs). Prepayments on our MBS result when homeowners/mortgagees satisfy (i.e., payoff the mortgage) upon
selling or refinancing their mortgaged property. In addition, because our MBS are primarily Agency MBS, defaults
and foreclosures on such guaranteed MBS typically have the same effect as prepayments. When we acquire a
particular MBS, we anticipate that the underlying mortgage loans will prepay at a projected rate which provides us
with an expected yield on such’ MBS. When homeowners/mortgagees prepay their mortgage loans faster than
anticipated, it results in a faster prepayment rate on the related MBS in our portfolio and this may adversely affect
our profitability. Prepayment rates generally increase when interest rates fall and decrease when interest rates rise,
but changes in prepayment rates are difficult to predict. Prepayment rates also may be affected by conditions in the
housing and financial markets, general economic conditions and the relative interest rates on fixed-rate and
adjustable-rate mortgage loans.

We often purchase MBS that have a higher interest rate than the prevailing market interest rate. In exchange for
a higher interest rate, we typically pay a premium over par value to acquire these securities. In accordance with




generally accepted accounting principles (or GAAP), we amortize the premiums on our MBS over the life of the
related MBS. [f the mortgage loans securing our MBS prepay at a rapid rate, we will have to amortize our
premiums on an accelerated basis which may adversely affect our profitability. As of December 31, 2007, the
amortized cost of our portfolio of MBS was approximately 101.2% of par value.

Prepayments, which are the primary feature of MBS that distinguish them from other types of bonds, are
difficult to predict and can vary significantly over time. As the holder of MBS, we receive a portion of our
investment principal when underlying mortgages are prepaid. In order to continue to earn a return on this prepaid
principal, we must reinvest it in additional MBS or other assets; however, if interest rates decline, we may earn a
lower return on our new investments as compared to the MBS that prepay. Prepayments may have a negative
impact on our financial results, the effects of which depends on, among other things, the amount of unamortized
premium on the MBS, the reinvestment lag and the reinvestment opportunities.

Our business strategy involves a significant amount of leverage which may adversely affect our return on our
investments and may reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders as well as increase losses
when economic conditions are unfavorable.

Pursuant to our financing strategy, we borrow against a substantial portion of the market value of our MBS and
use the borrowed funds to acquire additional investment assets. We are not required to maintain any particular
assets-to-equity ratio. Future increases in the amount by which the collateral value is required to contractually
exceed the repurchase agreement loan amount, decreases in the market value of our MBS, increases in interest rate
volatility and changes in the availability of adequate financing could cause us to be unable to achieve the degree of
leverage we believe to be optimal. Our return on our assets and cash available for distribution to our stockholders
may be reduced to the extent that changes in market conditions prevent us from leveraging our investments or cause
the cost of our financing to increase relative to the income that can be derived from the leveraged assets. In
addition, our payment of interest expense on our borrowings will reduce cash flow available for distributions to our
stockholders. If the interest income on our MBS purchased with borrowed funds fails to cover the interest expense
of the related borrowings, we will experience net interest losses and may experience net losses from operations.
Such losses could be significant as a result of our leveraged structure. The use of borrowing, or “leverage,” to
finance our MBS and other assets involves a number of other risks, including the following:

< Adverse developments involving major financial institutions or involving one of our lenders could result
in a rapid reduction in our ability to borrow and adversely affect our business and profitability.
Although as of December 31, 2007 we had amounts outstanding under repurchase agreements with 18
separate lenders and continue to develop new relationships with additional lenders, recent turmoil in the
financial markets as it relates to major financial institutions has raised concerns that a material adverse
development involving one or more major financial institutions could result in our lenders reducing our
access to funds available under our repurchase agreements. Because all of our repurchase agreements are
uncommitted, such a distuption could cause our lenders to determine to reduce or terminate our access Lo
future borrowings, which could adversely affect our business and profitability. Furthermore, if many of our
lenders became unwilling or unable to provide us with financing, we could be forced to sell our investment
securities at an inopportune time when prices are depressed.

< Our profitability may be limited by a reduction in our leverage. As long as we eam a positive spread
between interest and other income we earn on our assets and our borrowing costs, we can generally
increase our profitability by using greater amounts of leverage. We cannot, however, assure you that
repurchase financing will remain an efficient source of long-term financing for our assets. The amount of
leverage that we use may be limited because our lenders might not make funding available to us at
acceptable rates or they may require that we provide additional collateral to secure our borrowings. If our
financing strategy is not viable, we will have to find alternative forms of financing for our assets which
may not be available. In addition, in response to certain interest rate and investment environments, we
could implement a strategy of reducing our leverage by selling assets or not replacing MBS as they
amortize and/or prepay, thereby decreasing the outstanding amount of our related borrowings. Such an
action would likely reduce interest income, interest expense and net income, the extent of which would be
dependent on the level of reduction in assets and liabilities as well as the sale prices for which the assets
were sold.




+ If we are unable to renew our borrowings at favorable rates, it may force us to sell assets and our
profitability may be adversely affected. Since we rely primarily on borrowings under repurchase
agreements to finance our MBS, our ability to achieve our investment objectives depends on our ability to
borrow money in sufficient amounts and on favorable terms and on our ability to renew or replace maturing
borrowings on a continuous basis. Our ability to enter into repurchase agreements in the future will depend
on the market value of our MBS pledged to secure the specific borrowings, the availability of adequate
financing and other conditions existing in the lending market at that time. If we are not able to renew or
replace maturing borrowings, we would be forced to sell some of our assets under possibly adverse market
conditions, which may adversely affect our profitability.

o Adecline in the market value of our assets may result in margin calls that may force us to sell assefs
under adverse market conditions. The market value of our MBS, generally moves inversely to changes in
interest rates and, as a result, may be negatively impacted by increases in interest rates, Accordingly, in a
rising interest rate environment, the value of our assets may decline. A decline in the market value of our
MBS may limit our ability to borrow against such assets or result in lenders initiating margin calls, which
require a pledge of additional collateral or cash to re-establish the required ratio of borrowing to collateral
value, under our repurchase agreements. Posting additional collateral or cash to support our credit will
reduce our liquidity and limit our ability to leverage our assets, which could adversely affect our business.
As a result, we could be forced to sell some of our assets in order to maintain liquidity. Forced sales
typically result in lower sales prices than do market sales which are made in the normal course of business.
If our MBS were liquidated at prices below our amortized cost (i.e., the carrying value) of such
investments, we would incur losses. Such a situation could result in a rapid deterioration of our financial
condition and possibly necessitate a filing for bankruptcy protection,

* If a counterparty to our repurchase transactions defaults on its obligation to resell the underlying
security back to us at the end of the transaction term or if we default on our obligations under the
repurchase agreement, we would incur losses. When we engage in repurchase transactions, we generally
sell securities to lenders (i.c., repurchase agreement counterparties) and receive cash from the lenders. The
lenders are obligated to resell the same securities back to us at the end of the term of the transaction.
Because the cash we receive from the lender when we initially sell the securities to the lender is tess than
the value of those securities (this difference is referred to as the haircut), if the lender defaults on its
obligation to resell the same securities back to us we would incur a loss on the transaction equal to the
amount of the haircut (assuming there was no change in the value of the securities). Further, if we default
on one of our obligations under a repurchase transaction, the lender can terminate the transaction and cease
entering into any other repurchase transactions with us. Our repurchase agreements contain cross-default
provisions, so that if a default occurs under any one agreement, the lenders under our other agreements
could also declare a default. Any losses we incur on our repurchase transactions could adversely affect our
earnings and thus our cash avaitable for distribution to our stockholders.

»  QOur use of repurchase agreements to borrow money may give our lenders greater rights in the event of
bankruptcy. Borrowings made under repurchase agreements may qualify for special treatment under the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code. In the unlikely event that a lender under our repurchase agreements files for
bankruptcy it may be difficult for us to recover our assets pledged as coliateral to such lender. In addition,
if we ever file for bankruptcy, lenders under our repurchase agreements may be able to avoid the automatic
stay provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and take possession of, and liquidate, our collateral under our
repurchase agreements without delay.

We may experience a decline in the market value of our assets.

A decline in the market value of our MBS or other assets may require us to recognize an “other-than-
temporary” impairment against such assets under GAAP if we were to determine that, with respect to any assets in
unrealized loss positions, we do not have the ability and intent to hold such assets to maturity or for a period of time
sufficient to allow for recovery to the amortized cost of such assets. If such a determination were to be made, we
would recognize unrealized losses through earnings and write down the amortized cost of such assets to a new cost
basis, based on the fair market value of such assets on the date they are considered to be other-than-temporarily
impaired. Such impairment charges reflect non-cash losses at the time of recognition; subsequent disposition or sale
of such assets could further affect our future losses or gains, as they are based on the difference between the sale
price received and adjusted amortized cost of such assets at the time of sale.




OQur investment strategy may involve credit risk.

The holder of a mortgage or MBS assumes a risk that the borrowers may default on their obligations to make
full and timely payments of principal and interest. Our investment policy requires that at least 50% of our assets
consist of ARM-MBS that are either issued or guaranteed by a federally charted corporation, such as Fannie Mae or
Freddie Mac, or an agency of the U.S. government, such as Ginnie Mae, or are rated in one of the two highest rating
categories by at least one of the Rating Agencies. Even though we have acquired primarily Agency and AAA rated
MBS to date, pursuant to our investment policy, we have the ability to acquire MBS and other investment assets of
lower credit quality. At December 31, 2007, we owned $7.9 million of non-Agency MBS and other securities that
were rated below AAA or unrated, none of which were backed by subprime collateral. Such lower credit quality
investments could cause us to incur losses of income from, and/or losses in market value relating to, these assets if
there are defaults of principal and/or interest on, or if the Rating Agencies downgrade the credit rating of, these
assets.

Our use of hedging strategies to mitigate our interest rate exposure may not be effective and may expose us to
counterparty risks.

In accordance with our operating policies, we may pursue various types of hedging strategies, including Swaps,
Caps and other derivative transactions, to seek to mitigate or reduce our exposure to losses from adverse changes in
interest rates. Qur hedging activity will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates, the type of
assets held and financing sources used and other changing market conditions. No hedging strategy, however, can
completely insulate us from the interest rate risks to which we are exposed or that the implementation of any
hedging strategy would have the desired impact on our results of operations or financial condition. Certain of the
U.S. federal income tax requirements that we must satisfy in order to qualify as a REIT may limit our ability to
hedge against such risks. We will not enter into derivative transactions if we believe that they will jeopardize our
qualification as a REIT.

Interest rate hedging may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because, among other things:
+  interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates;

+ available interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is
sought;

+  the duration of the hedge may not maich the duration of the related liability;

» the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions (other than through taxable REIT
subsidiaries (or TRSs)) to offset interest rate losses is limited by U.S. federal tax provisions governing
REITs;

+ the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it
impairs our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction; and

+  the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay.

We primarily use Swaps to hedge against anticipated future increases in interest rates on our repurchase
agreements. Should a Swap counterparty be unable to make required payments pursuant to such Swap, the hedged
liability would cease to be hedged for the remaining term of the Swap. In addition, we may be at risk for any
collateral held by a hedging counterparty to a Swap, should such counterparty become insolvent or file for
bankruptcy. Our hedging transactions, which are intended to limit losses, may actually adversely affect our
earnings, which could reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Hedging Instruments involve risk since they often are not traded on regulated exchanges, guarantecd by an
exchange or its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities. Consequently, there
are no requirements with respect to record keeping, financial responsibility or segregation of customer funds and
positions. Furthermore, the enforceability of Hedging Instruments may depend on compliance with applicable
statutory and commodity and other regulatory requirements and, depending on the identity of the counterparty,
applicable international requirements, The business failure of a hedging counterparty with whom we enter into a
hedging transaction will most likely result in its default. Default by a party with whom we enter into a hedging
transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force us to cover our commitments, if any, at the then




current market price. Although generally we will seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may
not always be possible to dispose of or close out a hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterparty
and we may not be able to enter into an offsetting contract in order to cover our risk. We cannot assure you that a
liquid secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold, and we may be required to maintain a
position until exercise or expiration, which could result in losses.

We may enter into Hedging Instruments that could expose us to contingent liabilities in the future.

Subject to maintaining cur qualification as a REIT, part of our financing strategy will involve entering into
Hedging Instruments that could require us to fund cash payments in certain circumstances (e.g., the early
termination of a Hedging Instrument caused by an event of defauit or other voluntary or inveluntary termination
event or the decision by a hedging counterparty to request the posting of collateral it is contractually owed under the
terms of a Hedging Instrument). With respect to the termination of an existing Swap, the amount due would
generally be equal to the unrealized loss of the open Swap position with the hedging counterparty and could also
include other fees and charges. These economic losses will be reflected in our financial results of operations and our
ability to fund these obligations will depend on the liguidity of our assets and access to capital at the time. Any
losses we incur on our Hedging Instruments could adversely affect our earnings and thus our cash available for
distribution to our stockholders.

We may change our investment strategy, operating policies and/or asset allocations without stockholder
consent,

We may change our investment strategy, operating policies and/or asset allocation with respect to investments,
acquisitions, leverage, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions at any time without the
consent of our stockholders. A change in our investment strategy may increase our exposure to interest rate and/or
credit risk, default risk and real estate market fluctuations, Furthermore, a change in our asset atlocation could result
in our making investments in asset categories different from our historical investments. These changes could
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, the market price of our common stock or our ability to
pay dividends or distributions.

We have not established a minimum dividend payment level,

We intend to pay dividends on our common stock in an amount equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income, which is calculated before deductions of dividends paid and excluding net capital gains and losses, in order
to maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. tederal income tax purposes. Dividends will be declared and paid at
the discretion of our Board and will depend on our earnings, our financial condition, maintenance of our REIT
qualification and such other factors as our Board may deem relevant from time to time. We have not established a
minimum dividend payment level for our common stock and our ability to pay dividends may be negatively
impacted by adverse changes in our operating results,

We are dependent on our executive officers and key personnel for our success.

As a self-advised REIT, our success is dependent upon the efforts, experience, diligence, skill and network of
business contacts of our executive officers and key personnel, including Stewart Zimmerman, Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer and President; William S. Gorin, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer; Ronald A. Freydberg, Executive Vice President and Chief Portfolio Officer; Timothy W. Korth, General
Counsel, Senior Vice President - Business Development and Corporate Secretary; and Teresa D. Covello, Senior
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer. The departure of any of our executive officers and/or key
personnel could have a material adverse effect on our operations and performance.

We are dependent on information systems and systems’ failures could significantly disrupt our business.

Our business is highly dependent on our communications and information systems. Any failure or interruption
of our systems could cause delays or other problems in our securities trading activities, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operation and performance.
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We may be subject to risks associated with our investments in real estate.

Real property investments are subject to varying degrees of risk. The economic returns from our indirect
investment in Lealand Place, a 191-unit multi-family apartment property located in Lawrenceville, Georgia (or
Lealand), may be impacted by a number of factors, including general and local economic conditions, the relative
supply of apartments and other housing in the area, interest rates on mortgage loans, the need for and costs of repairs
and maintenance of the property, government regulations and the cost of complying with them, taxes and inflation.
In general, local conditions in the applicable market area significantly affect occupancy or rental rates for multi-
family apartment properties. Real estate investments are relatively illiquid and, therefore, we will have limited
ability to dispose of our investment quickly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. [n addition,
under certain circumstances, we may be subject to significant tax liability in the event that we sell our investment in
the property. Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, regulations and ordinances, we may be
required, regardless of knowledge or responsibility, to investigate and remediate the effects of hazardous or toxic
substances or petroleum product releases at the property and may be held liable to a governmental entity or to third
parties for property or personal injury damages and for investigation and remediation costs incurred as a result of
contamination. These damages and costs may be substantial. The presence of such substances, or the failure to
properly remediate the contamination, may adversely affect our ability to borrow against, sell or rent the affected
property. We must operate the property in compliance with numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations,
including landlord tenant laws, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and other laws generally applicable to
business operations. Noncompliance with such laws could expose us to liability.

We operate in a highly competitive market for investment opportunities and competition may limit our
ability to acquire desirable investment securities.

We operate in a highly competitive market for investment opportunities. Our profitability depends, in large
part, on our ability to acquire MBS or other investment securities at favorable prices. In acquiring our investment
securities, we compete with a variety of institutional investors, including other REITs, public and private funds,
commercial and investment banks, commercial finance and insurance companies and other financial institutions.
Many of our competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical, marketing and
other resources than we do. Several other REITs have recently raised, or are expected to raise, significant amounts
of capital, and may have investment objectives that overlap with ours, which may create additional competition for
investment opportunities. Some competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources that are
not available to us. Many of our competitors are not subject to the operating constraints associated with REIT tax
compliance or maintenance of an exemption from the Investment Company Act. In addition, some of our
competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a
wider variety of investments and establish additional business relationships than us. Furthermore, competition for
investment securities of the types and classes which we acquire may lead to the price of such assets increasing,
which may further limit our ability to generate desired returns. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures
we face will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Also,
as a result of this competition, desirable investments may be limited in the future and we may not be able to take
advantage of attractive investment opportunities from time to time, as we can provide no assurance that we will be
able to identify and make investments that are consistent with our investment objectives.

Our qualification as a REIT.

We believe that we qualify for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes and plan to operate so
that we can continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. So long as we qualify as a
REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our income that we distribute currently to our
stockholders. Many of the REIT requirements, however, are highly technical and complex. The determination that
we are a REIT requires an analysis of various factual matters and circumstances, some of which may not be totally
within our control and some of which involve questions of interpretation. For example, to qualify as a REIT, at least
95% of our gross income must come from specific passive sources, like mortgage interest, that are itemized in the
REIT tax laws. In addition, the composition of our assets must meet certain requirements at the close of each
quarter. There can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service (or IRS) or a court would agree with any
conclusions or positions we have taken in interpreting the REIT requirements. We also are required to distribute to
our stockholders at least 90% of our net taxable income (excluding net capital gains and losses) on an annual basis.
Such distribution requirement limits the amount of cash we have available for other business purposes, including




amounts to fund our growth. Also, it is possible that because of differences in timing between the recognition of
taxable income and the actual receipt of cash, we may have to borrow funds on a short-term basis to meet the 90%
distribution requirement. Even a technical or inadvertent mistake could jeopardize our REIT qualification unless we
meet certain statutory relief provisions. Furthermore, Congress and the IRS might make changes to the tax laws and
regulations, and the courts might issue new rulings, that make it more difficult or impossible for us to remain
qualified as a REIT.

If we faii to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would be subject to U.S. federal income
tax at regular corporate rates. Also, unless the IRS granted us relief under certain statutory provisions, we would
remain disqualified as a REIT for four years following the year we first failed to qualify. If we failed to qualify as a
REIT, we would have to pay significant income taxes. This likely would have a significant adverse effect on the
value of our securities. In addition, we would no longer be required to pay any dividends to stockholders.

Even if we qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we are required to pay certain federal, state
and local taxes on our income and property. Any of these taxes will reduce our operating cash flow.

Compliance with securities laws and regulations could be costly,

The SOX Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange affect
the scope, complexity and cost of corporate governance, regulatory compliance and reporting, and disclosure
practices. We believe that these rules and regulations will continve to make it costly for us to obtain director and
officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to
obtain the same coverage. These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain
qualified members of management and our Board (particularly with respect 1o Board members serving on our Audit
Committee).

In addition, our management is required to deliver a report that assesses the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting, pursuant to Section 302 of the SOX Act. Section 404 of the SOX Act requires our
independent registered public accounting firm to deliver an attestation report on management’s assessment of, and
the operating effectiveness of, our internal controls over financial reporting in conjunction with their opinion on our
audited financial statements as of each December 31. We cannot give any assurances that material weaknesses will
not be identified in the future in connection with our compliance with the provisions of Sections 302 and 404 of the
SOX Act. The existence of any such material weakness would preclude a conclusion by management and our
independent auditors that we maintained effective internal coatrol over financial reporting. Our management may
be required to devote significant time and expense to remediate any material weaknesses that may be discovered and
may not be able to remediate any material weaknesses in a timely manner. The existence of any material weakness
in our internal control over financial reporting could also result in errors in our financial statements that could
require us to restate our financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and cause
stockholders to lose confidence in our reported financial information, all of which could lead to a decline in the
market price of our common stock.

Loss of our Investment Company Act exemption would adversely affect us.

We intend to conduct our business so as to maintain our exempt status under, and not to become regulated as
an investment company for purposes of, the Investment Company Act. If we failed to maintain our exempt status
under the [nvestment Company Act and became regulated as an investment company, our ability to, among other
things, use leverage would be substantially reduced and, as a result, we would be unable to conduct our business as
described in this annual report on Form 10-K. The Investment Company Act exempts entities that are “primarily
engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in real
estate” (i.e., qualifying interests). Under the current interpretation of the staff of the SEC, in order to qualify for this
exemption, we must maintain (i) at least 55% of our assets in qualifying interests (or the 55% Test) and (ii) at least
80% of our assets in real estate related assets (including qualifying interests) (or the 80% Test). MBS that do not
represent all of the certificates issued (i.e., an undivided interest) with respect to the entire pool of mortgages (i.e., a
whote pool) underlying such MBS may be ireated as securities separate from such underlying mortgage loans and,
thus, may not be considered qualifying interests for purposes of the 55% Test; however, such MBS would be
considered real estate related assets for purposes of the 80% Test. Therefore, for purposes of the 55% Test, our
ownership of these types of MBS is limited by the provisions of the [nvestment Company Act. In meeting the 55%
Test, we treat as qualifying interests those MBS issued with respect to an undertying pool as to which we own all of
the issued certificates. There can be no assurance that the laws and regulations governing REITs, including the
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Division of Investment Management of the SEC, providing more specific or different guidance regarding the
treatment of assets as qualifying interests or real estate related assets, will not change in a2 manner that adversely
affects our operations. If the SEC or its staff were to adopt a contrary interpretation, we could be required to sell a
substantial amount of our investment securities under potentially adverse market conditions. Further, in order to
insure that we at all times qualifies for this exemption from the Investment Company Act, we may be precluded
from acquiring MBS whaose yield is higher than the yield on MBS that could be otherwise purchased in a manner
consistent with this exemption. Accordingly, we monitor our compliance with both of the 55% Test and the 80%
Test in order to maintain our exempt status under the Investment Company Act; however, there can be no assurance
that we will be able to maintain our exemption as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. If
we fail to qualify for this exception in the future, we could be required to restructure our activities, including
effecting sales of our investment securities under potentially adverse market conditions, which could negatively
affect the value of our common stock, the sustainability of our business modet and our ability to make distributions.
As of December 31, 2007, we had determined that we were in, and had maintained compliance with, both of the
55% Test and the 80% Test.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2.  Properties.
Executive Offices

We have a lease for our corporate headquarters in New York, New York which extends through April 30, 2017
and provides for aggregate cash payments ranging from approximately $1.1 million to $1.4 million per year, paid on
a monthly basis, exclusive of escatation charges and landlord incentives. In connection with this lease, we
established a $350,000 irrevocable standby letter of credit in lieu of lease security for the benefit of our landlord
through April 30, 2017, The letter of credit may be drawn upon by the landlord in the event that we default under
certain terms of the lease. In addition, we have a lease through December 2011 for our off-site back-up facility
located in Rockville Centre, New York, which provides for, among other things, rent of approximately $27,000 per
year, paid on a monthly basis. We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs in the
foreseeable future.

Properties Owned Through Subsidiary Corporations

At December 31, 2007, we indirectly owned 100% interest in Lealand, an apartment property located at 2945
Cruse Road, Lawrenceville, Georgia. (See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item & of
this annual report on Form 10-K.}

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

None.

To date, we have not been required to make any payments to the IRS as a penalty for failing to make disclosures
required with respect to certain transactions that have been identified by the IRS as abusive or that have a significant
tax avoidance purpose,

Item4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.
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Item 4A. Executive Officers.

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to each of our executive officers at December 31,
2007. The Board appoints or annually reatfirms the appointment of all of our executive officers.

Officer Age Position held with our company

Stewart Zimmerman 63 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President

William S. Gorin 49 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Ronald A. Freydberg 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Portfolio Officer

Teresa D. Covello 42 Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer

Timothy W. Korth 42 General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and Corporate Secretary

Stewart Zimmerman has served as our Chief Executive Officer, President and a Director since 1997 and was
appointed Chairman of the Board in March 2003. From 1989 through 1997, he initially served as a consultant to
The America First Companies and became Executive Vice President of America First Companies, L.L.C. During
this time, he held a number of positions: President and Chief Operating Officer of America First REIT, Inc. and
President of several mortgage funds, including America First Participating/Preferred Equity Morigage Fund,
America First PREP Fund 2, America First PREP Fund Il Pension Series L.P., Capital Source L.P., Capital Source
1T L.P.-A, America First Tax Exempt Mortgage Fund Limited Partnership and America First Tax Exempt Fund 2-
Limited Partnership. Previously, Mr. Zimmerman held various progressive positions with other companies,
including Security Pacific Merchant Bank, EF Hutton & Company, Inc., Lehman Brothers, Bankers Trust Company
and Zenith Mortgage Company. Mr. Zimmerman holds a Bachelors of Arts degree from Michigan State University.

William S. Gorin serves as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. He has served as
Executive Vice President since 1997 and was appointed Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in 2001, From 1998
to 2001, Mr. Gorin served as our Executive Vice President and Secretary, From 1989 to 1997, Mr. Gorin held
various positions with PaineWebber Incorporated/Kidder, Peabody & Co. Incorporated, serving as a First Vice
President in the Research Department. Prior to that position, Mr. Gorin was Senior Vice President in the Special
Products Group. From 1982 to 1988, Mr. Gorin was empioyed by Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc./E.F. Hutton &
Company, Inc. in various positions in corporate finance and direct investments. Mr. Gorin has a Masters of
Business Administration degree from Stanford University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from
Brandeis University.

Ronald A. Freydberg serves as our Executive Vice President and Chief Portfolio Officer, which positions he
was appointed to in 2001. From 1997 to 2001, he served as our Senior Vice President. From 1995 to 1997, Mr.
Freydberg served as a Vice President of Pentalpha Capital, in Greenwich, Connecticut, where he was a fixed-income
quantitative analysis and structuring specialist. From 1988 to 1995, Mr. Freydberg held various positions with J.P.
Morgan & Co. From 1994 to 1995, he was with the Global Markets Group. In that position, he was involved in
commercial mortgage-backed securitization and sale of distressed commercial real estate, including structuring, due
diligence and marketing. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Freydberg was employed by Citicorp. Mr. Freydberg holds a
Masters of Business Administration degree in Finance from George Washington University and a Bachelor of Arts
degree from Muhlenberg College.

Teresa D). Covello serves as our Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer, which
positions she was appointed to in 2003, From 2001 to 2003, Ms. Covello served as our Senior Vice President and
Controller. From 2000 wuntil joining us in 2001, Ms. Covello was a self-employed financial consultant,
concentrating in investment banking within the financial services sector. From 1990 to 2000, she was the Director
of Financial Reporting and served on the Strategic Planning Team for JSB Financial, Inc. Ms. Covello began her
career in public accounting with KPMG Peat Marwick (predecessor to KPMG LLP). Ms. Covello currently serves
as a director and president of the board of directors of Commerce Plaza, Inc., a not-for-profit organization. Ms.
Covello is a Certified Public Accountant and has a Bachelor of Science degree in Public Accounting from Hofstra
University.

Timothy W. Korth II serves as our General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and
Corporate Secretary, which positions he has held since July 2003. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. Korth was a Counsel at
the taw firm of Clifford Chance US LLP, where he specialized in corporate and securities transactions involving
REITs and other real estate companies and, prior to such time, had practiced law with that firm and its predecessor,
Rogers & Wells LLP, since 1992. Mr. Korth is admitted as an attorney in the State of New York and has a Juris
Doctor and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Finance from the University of Notre Dame.




PARTI1

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, under the symbol “MFA.” On February 12,
2008, the last sales price for our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $10.70 per share. The
following table sets forth the high and low sales prices per share of cur common stock during each calendar quarter
for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

2007 2006
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
March 31 $ 787 8% 675 § 690 5 5.65
June 30 $ 806 S 690 S 7.08 § 595
September 30 F B65 § 555 § 749 $ 6353
December 31 § 930 5 761 § B8.12 $§ 720

Holders

As of February 1, 2008, we had 1,045 registered holders and approximately 35,224 beneficial owners of our
common stock. Such information was obtained through our registrar and transfer agent, based on the results of a
broker search.

Dividends

No dividends may be paid on our common stock unless full cumulative dividends have been paid on our 8.50%
Series A Cumulative Redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share. From the date of our original issuance
in April 2004 through December 31, 2007, we have paid full cumulative dividends on our preferred stock.

We have historically declared cash dividends on our common stock on a quarterly basis. During 2007 and
2006, we declared total cash dividends to holders of our common stock of $42.2 million ($0.415 per share) and
£16.7 million ($0.21 per share), respectively. In general, cur common stock dividends have been characterized as
ordinary income to our stockhelders for income tax purposes. However, a portion of our common stock dividends
may, from time to time, be characterized as capital gains or return of capital. For 2007 and 2006, our common stock
dividends were characterized as ordinary income to stockholders. (For additional dividend information, see Notes
9(a) and 9(b) to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.)

We elected to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year
ended December 31, 1998 and, as such, have distributed and anticipate distributing annually at least 90% of our net
taxable income, subject to certain adjustments. Although we may borrow funds to make distributions, cash for such
distributions has generally been and is expected to continue to be largely penerated from our results of operations.

We declared and paid the following dividends on our common stock during the years 2007 and 2006:

Dividend
Year Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date per Share
2007 April 3, 2007 April 13,2007 April 30, 2007 S 0.080
July 2, 2007 July 13, 2007 July 31, 2007 0.050
October 1, 2007 Qctober 12, 2007 October 31, 2007 0.100
December 13, 2007 December 31, 2007 January 31, 2008 0.145 (1)
2006  April 3, 2006 April 17, 2006 April 28, 2006 $ 0.050
July 5, 2006 July 17, 2006 July 31, 2006 0.050
October 2, 2006 October 13, 2006 October 31, 2006 0.050
December 14, 2006 December 29, 2006 January 31,2007 0.060¢1)

(1} For tax purposes, a portion of each of the dividends declared on December 13, 2007 and
December 14, 2006 was treated as a dividend for stockholders in the subsequent year.




Dividends are declared and paid at the discretion of our Board and depend on our cash available for distribution,
financial condition, ability to maintain our qualification as a REIT, and such other factors that our Board may deem
relevant. We have not established a minimum payout level for our common stock. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors”,
and Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations”, of this
annual report on Form 10-K, for information regarding the sources of funds used for dividends and for a discussion
of factors, if any, which may adversely affect our ability to pay dividends at the same levels in 2008 and thereafter.

Discount Waiver, Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan

In September 2003, we initiated a Discount Waiver, Direct Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan (or
the DRSPP) to provide existing stockholders and new investors with a convenient and economical way to purchase
shares of our common stock. Under the DRSPP, existing stockholders may elect to automatically reinvest all or a
portion of their cash dividends in additional shares of our common stock and existing stockholders and new
investors may make optional monthly cash purchases of shares of our common stock in amounts ranging from $50
(or $1,000 for new investors) to $10,000 and, with our prior approval, in excess of $10,000. At our discretion,
shares of our common stock purchased under the DRSPP may be acquired at discounts of up to 5% from the
prevailing market price at the time of purchase. BNY Mellon Shareowner Services is the administrator of the
DRSPP (or the Plan Agent). Stockholders who own common stock that is registered in their own name and want to
participate in the DRSPP must deliver a completed enrollment form to the Plan Agent. Stockholders who own
common stock that is registered in a name other than their own (e.g., broker, bank or other nominee} and want to
participate in the DRSPP must either request such nominee holder to participate on their behalf or request that such
nominee holder re-register our common stock in the stockholder’s name and deliver a completed enrollment form to
the Plan Agent. Additional information regarding the DRSPP (including a DRSPP prospectus) and enrollment
forms are available online from the Plan Agent via Investor Service Direct at www.melloninvestor.com or from our
website at www.mfa-reit.com. During 2007, we sold 978,086 shares of common stock through the DRSPP
generating net proceeds of $8.1 million.

Controlled Equity Offering Program

On August 20, 2004, we initiated a controlled equity offering program (or the CEO Program) through which we
may publicly offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common stock through Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (or
Cantor) in privately negotiated and/or at-the-market transactions. During 2007, we issued 3,206,000 shares of
common stock in at-the-market transactions through our CEO Program, raising cash proceeds of $23.891,416
million, net of fees and commissions of $557,119 paid to Cantor in connection with these transactions.

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

During 2004, we adopted the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan (or the 2004 Plan), as approved by our
stockholders. The 2004 Plan amended and restated our Second Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan.
(For a description of the 2004 Plan, see Note 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements included under Item 8 of
this annual report on Form 10-K.)

The following table presents certain information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of future issuance under
securities to be  Weighted-average equity compensation
issued upon exercise exercise price of plans (excluding
of outstanding outstanding securities reflected in
options, warrants options, warrants the first column of this
Plan category and rights and rights table)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 962,000 $§ 933 1,918,125

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders - - -
Total 962,000 5 933 1,918,125




Item 6. Selected Financial Data,

Set forth below is our selected financial data which should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this annual report
on Form 10-K.

For the Year Ended December 31,

Operating Data; 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In Thousands, Except per Share Amounts)
Interest and dividends on securities $ 380,170 $ 216,871 $ 235,798 S 174957 S 119612
Interest income on short-term cash investments 4,493 2,321 2,921 807 746
Interest income on income notes 158 - B - -
Interest expense (321,308) (181,922) (183,833) {88,888) (56,592)
Net (loss) gain on sale of investment securities (/) (21,793) (23,113) (18,354) 371 (265)
Net loss on early termination of Swaps (384) - - - -
Other-than-temporary impairment on investment

securities (/) - - (20,720) - -
Other income (2) 2,060 2,264 1,811 1,675 1,346
Operating and other expenses {13,446} (11,185) (10,829) (10,622) (8,295)
Income from continuing operations 29,953 5,236 6,794 78,300 56,552
Discontinued operations, net 257 3,522 (86} (227) 1,296
Net income § 30210 § 8,758 s 6,708 § 78,073 § 57,848
Preferred stock dividends 8,160 8,160 8,160 3,576 -
Net income (loss) to common stockholders £ 22050 % 598 $  (1452) S 74497 S 57,848

Eamings (loss) per common share from
continuing operations — basic and diluted $ 024 % (0.03) §% {0.02) § 0.98 $ 1.05

Earnings per common share from discontinued

operations — basic and diluted $ - % 0.04 $ - 3 - $ .02
Eamings (loss) per common share, basic and diluted  § 024 % .01 s (0o2)y § 098 S 1.07
Dividends declared per share of common stock (3) $ 0415  $ 0.210 $ 0.405 $ 0.960 $ 1.090
Dividends declared per share of preferred stock $ 2125 % 2,125 % 2125 % 1.440 $ -

At December 31,

Balance Sheet Data: 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(fn Thousands)

MBS $ 8,301,183  § 6,340,668 § 5714906 S 6,777,574 $4372.718
Total assets 8,605,859 6.443,967 5,846,917 6.913,684 4,564,930
Repurchase agreements 7,526,014 5,722,711 5,099,532 6,113,032 4,024,376
Preferred stock, liquidation preference (4} 96,000 96,000 96,000 96,000 -
Total stockhelders' equity 927,263 678,558 661,102 728,834 484 958

(1) During 2007, we selectively sold 3844.5 million of Agency and AAA rated MBS, resulting in a realized net loss of $21.8 miliion,
These sales were primarily made in the third quarter of 2007. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2005 through the second quarter of
2006, we reduced our asset base through a sirategy under which we, among other things, sold our higher duration and lower yielding
MBS, During 2006, we sold approximately $1.844 billion of MBS, realizing net losses of $23.1 million, comprised of gross losses of
$25.2 million and gress gains of $2.1 miilion. For 2005, the repositioning involved the sale of $564.8 million of MBS, which resulted in
an §18.4 million loss on sale, and an impairment charge of $20.7 million against ceriain MBS with an amortized cost of 3842.2 million.

(2) Results of operations for real estate sold has been reclassified o discontinued operations for each of the prior periods presenied.

(3} We generally declare dividends on our common stock in the month subsequent to the end of each calendar quarter, with the
exception of the fourth quarter dividend which is typically declared during the fourth calendar quarter for tax purposes.

(4} Reflects the aggregate liquidation preference on the 3,840,000 owtstanding shares of our 8.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable
preferred stock, par value 3001, Our preferred stock is redeemable exclusively at our option at $23.00 per share plus accrued interesi
and unpaid dividends {whether or not declared) commencing on April 27, 2009. No dividends may be paid on our common stock unless
Sfill cumulative dividends have been paid on our preferred stock. From the date of our original issuance in April 2004 through
December 31, 2007, we have paid full quarterly dividends on our preferrved stock.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

General

At December 31, 2007, 99.7% of our assets consisted of Agency MBS, AAA rated MBS, MBS-related
receivables, cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. In addition, at December 31, 2007, we held a 100% indirect
interest a multi-family apartment property and $7.9 million of Non-Agency MBS and other securities rated below
AAA or unrated {none of which were backed by subprime collateral). Through wholly-owned subsidiaries, we also
provide third-party investment advisory services.

Qur principal business objective is to generate net income for distribution to our stockholders resulting from the
spread between the interest and other income we earn on our investments and the interest expense we pay on the
borrowings that we use to finance our investments and our operating costs.

The results of our business operations are affected by a number of factors and primarily depend on, among
other things, the level of our net interest income, the market value of our assets and the supply of, and demand for,
MBS in the market place. Our net interest income varies primarily as a result of changes in interest rates, the slope
of the yield curve, borrowing costs (i.e., our interest expense) and prepayment speeds on our MBS portfolio, the
behavior of which involves various risks and uncertainties. Interest rates and prepayment speeds, as measured by
the CPR, vary according to the type of investment, conditions in the financial markets, competition and other
factors, none of which can be predicted with any certainty.

With respect to our business operations, increases in interest rates, in general, may over time cause: (i) the
interest expense associated with our borrowings, which are primarily comprised of repurchase agreements, to
increase; (ii) the value of our MBS portfolio and, correspondingly, our stockholders’ equity to decline; (iii) coupons
on our MBS to reset, although on a delayed basis, to higher interest rates; (iv) prepayments on our MBS portfolio to
slow, thereby slowing the amortization of our MBS purchase premiums; and (v) the value of our Swaps and,
correspondingly, our stockholders’ equity to increase. Conversely, decreases in interest rates, in general, may over
time cause: (i} prepayments on our MBS portfolio to increase, thereby accelerating the amortization of our MBS
purchase premiums; (i1} the interest expense associated with our borrowings to decrease; (iii) the value of our MBS
portfolio and, correspondingly, our stockholders’ equity to increase; (iv) the value of our Swaps and,
correspondingly, our stockholders’ equity to decrease, and (v) coupons on our MBS assets to reset, although on a
delayed basis, to lower interest rates. In addition, our borrowing costs and credit lines are further affected by the
type of collateral pledged and general conditions in the credit market.

We expect that over time ARM-MBS experience higher prepayment rates than do fixed-rate MBS, as we
believe that homeowners with ARMs exhibit more rapid housing turnover levels or refinancing activity compared to
fixed-rate borrowers. In addition, we anticipate that prepayments on ARM-MBS accelerate significantly as the
coupon reset date approaches. Over the last consecutive eight quarters, ending with December 31, 2007, the CPR on
our MBS portfolio has ranged from a low of 13.4% to a high of 26.4%, with an average quarterly CPR of 21.8%,
Our premium amortization, which reduces the yield eamed on our MBS, is impacted by the amount of our purchase
premiums relative to our MBS investments and is also affected by the speed at which our MBS prepay. At
December 31, 2007, we had net purchase premiums of $101.6 million, or 1.2% of current par value, compared to
$98.8 million of net purchase premiums, or 1.6% of par balance, at December 31, 2006,

During each of the last three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2007, our CPR declined. We believe that
our investments in 7/1 and 10/1 MBS, which have longer fixed-rate periods (i.e., seven years for a 7/1 and 10 years
for a 10/1), weakness in the housing market and the tightening of underwriting standards on morigage loans
contributed to reducing the speed at which our MBS prepay. As of December 31, 2007, assuming a 20% CPR,
which approximates the speed at which we estimate that our MBS will prepay over time, approximately 31.3% of
our MBS assets were expected to reset or prepay during the next 12 months, with a total of 84.6% expected to reset
or prepay during the next 60 months, with an average time period until our assets prepay or reset of approximately
33 months. Our repurchase agreements, extended on average approximately 23 months, including the impact of
Swaps, resulting in an asset/liability mismatch of approximately 10 months, assuming a 20% CPR, at December 31,
2007.




The following table presents the quarterly average CPR experienced on our MBS portfolio, on an annualized
basis:

CPR
Quarter Ended 2007 2006
December 31 13.4% 26.0%
September 30 i8.1 26.4
June 30 225 26.1
March 31 23.8 244

The ARMs collateralizing our MBS are primarily comprised of Hybrids, which have interest rates that are fixed
typically fixed for three to ten years and, thereafter, generally adjust annually to an increment over a specified
interest rate index and, to a lesser extent, adjustable-rate mortgage loans, which have interest rates that generally
adjust annually (although some may adjust more frequently) to an increment over a specified interest rate index.
The following table presents information about the interim and lifetime caps on our ARM-MBS portfolio at
December 31, 2007.

Lifetime Caps on ARM-MBS Interim Interest Rate Caps on ARM-MBS
% of Total % of Total
8.0% to 10.0% 9.1% 1.0% 2.6%
>10.0% to 12.0% 80.2 2.0% and 3.0% 53
>12.0%to 15.0% 10.7 5.0% and 6.0% 86.5
100.0% 8.5%to 13.1% 5.6
100.0%

It is our business strategy to hold our investment securities, primarily comprised of MBS, as long-term
investments. As such, on at least a quarterly basis, we assess both our ability and intent to continue to hold each of
our investment securities. As part of this process, we monitor our investment securities for other-than-temporary
impairment. A change in our ability and/or intent to continue to hold any of our investment securities could result in
our recognizing an impairment charge or realizing losses upon the sale of such securities. At December 31, 2007,
we had net unrealized gains of $29.2 million on our investment securities portfolio, comprised of gross unrealized
gains of $48.6 million and gross unrealized losses of $19.4 million. We expect to hold our investment securities
which were in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007 until such time that we recover such losses or until
maturity.

During 2007, as part of our hedging strategy, we: (i) entered into 106 new Swaps with an aggregate notional
amount of $3.965 billion; (ii) had Swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $841.1 million expire and (iii)
terminated six Swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $305.2 million, in connection with the satisfaction of the
repurchase agreements that such Swaps hedged, and realized a net loss of $384,000. We paid a weighted average
fixed rate of 4.97% on our Swaps and received a variable rate of 5.20% for the year ended December 31, 2007. Qur
Swaps resulted in a net reduction of interest expense of $6.5 million, or ten basis points, for the year ended
December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007, we had repurchase agreements of $7.526 billion and Swaps with an
aggregate notional amount of $4.628 billion. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we received payments of
approximately $327,000 on our Caps and recognized $278,000 of Cap premium amortization. During 2007, we did
not purchase any Caps and had all of our remaining Caps with $150.0 million notional amount expire. (See Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item & of this annual report on Form 10-K..)

On February 12, 2008, MFResidential Investments, Inc., a newly-organized Maryland corporation (or
MFResidential), filed its initial registration statement on Form S-11 with the SEC, MFResidential’s business
strategy will be to invest primarily, on a leveraged basis, in residential MBS, residential mortgage loans and other
real estate-related financial assets. MFResidential will be externally managed by one of our subsidiaries, for which
we will, indirectly, be entitled to receive management fee income pursuant to a writien management agreement. In
addition, in connection with its initial public offering, we have agreed to make an investment in MFResidential
and/or its operating partnership subsidiary equal in the aggregate to 9.8% of the outstanding shares of common stock
of MFResidential after giving effect to such offering. In addition, we will continue to explore alternative business
strategies, investments and financing sources and other strategic initiatives, including, but not limited to, the
expansion of our third-party advisory services, the creation of new investment vehicles to manage MBS and/or other




real estate-related assets and the creation andfor acquisition of a third-party asset management business to
complement our core business strategy of investing, on a leveraged basis, in high quality ARM-MBS. However, no
assurance can be provided that any such strategic initiatives will or will not be implemented in the future or, if
undertaken, that any such strategic initiatives will favorably impact us,

The interest rates on our ARM-MBS reset based upon the benchmark interest rates to which they are indexed.
At December 31, 2007, our ARM-MBS were indexed as follows: 67.5% to 12-month LIBOR; 11.3% to 6-month
LIBOR: 15.5% to the one-year CMT, 5.2% to the 12-month MTA and 0.5% to COFL

The following table presents the quarterly average of certain benchmark interest rates during 2007 and 2006:

30-Day 6-Month 12-Month 2-Year 10-Year
Year Quarter Ended  LIBOR LIBOR  LIBOR 1-Year CMT__ Treasury  Treasury
2007 December 31 4.60% 4.60% 4.22% 3.34% 3.05% 4.03%
September 30 5.12 5.13 4.90 4.05 3.96 4.58
June 30 532 5.39 543 491 4.88 5.03
March 31 5.32 533 5.22 4.90 4.58 4.65
2006 December 31 5.33% 537% 5.30% 4.99% 4.74% 4.63%
September 30 5.35 5.49 5.51 5.09 493 4.89
June 30 5.09 534 5.45 502 499 5.07
March 31 4.61 491 5.04 4.64 4.59 4.57

Market Conditions

During 2007, concerns about increased mortgage delinquencies led investors to question the underlying risk
and value of MBS across the ratings spectrum. Since the beginning of July, banks, brokers and insurers have
announced many billions in losses from exposure to the U.S. mortgage credit market. These losses have reduced
financial industry capital and have led to reduced liquidity. This reduced liquidity has in turn led to forced asset
sales providing attractive spread investment opportunities for MFA.

From September 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007, the Federal Reserve (or the Fed) decreased the target federal
funds rate on three occasions, by an aggregate of 100 basis points from 5.25% to 4.25%. Beginning in the latter part
of the third quarter of 2007, spreads on MBS, relative to our cost of funding, widened. We took advantage of these
market conditions by raising additional capital. From September 12, 2007 through December 31, 2007, we raised
aggregate net proceeds of $277.1 million from the issuance of approximately 38.0 million shares of our common
stock in three separate public offerings. We invested the net cash proceeds, on a leveraged basis, in Agency ARM-
MBS, with initial fixed rate periods ranging from three to ten years (i.¢., 3/1 through 10/1 Hybrid ARMs). On
January 16, 2008, we announced a public offering of our common stock, which settled on January 23, 2008.
Through this offering, we raised net proceeds of $253.0 million from the issuance of approximately 28.8 million
shares of our common stock.

On January 30, 2008, following a 75 basis point inter-meeting rate cut the previous week, the Fed lowered the
target federal funds rate an additional 50 basis points to 3.00%. The investment of the proceeds from our equity
offetings, on a leverage basis, along with our reduced funding costs due to declines in interest rates should lead to
increased spreads in the first quarter of 2008.

At December 31, 2007, our MBS portfolio was $8.301 billion, compared to $6.341 billion at December 31,
2006. Our leverage ratio, as measured by assets-to-equity, was 9.3 to 1 at December 31, 2007 compared to 9.5 to |
at December 31, 2006. (See Notes 9(c) and 9(d) to the consolidated financial statements, included under ltem 8.)

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006

For 2007, we had net income available to our common stockholders of $22.1 million, or $0.24 per common
share, compared to net income of $598,000, or $0.01 per share, for 2006. During 2007 and 2006, we repositioned
our MBS portfolio, realizing net losses on the sale of MBS of $21.8 million and $23.1 million, respectively. In
addition, our 2006 net income was positively impacted by the net results of our discontinued operations, which was
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comprised of a net gain realized on the sale of two multi-family apartment properties net of such properties’
operating losses.

Interest income on our investment securities portfolio for 2007 increased by $163.4 million, or 75.4%, to $380.3
million compared to $216.9 million for 2006. This increase in interest income reflects the growth in, and an
increase in the yield earned on, our MBS portfolio. Qur MBS yield was positively impacted by purchases of higher
yielding 7/1 and 10/1 MBS and the repositioning of our portfolio in response to market conditions, whereby, in
addition to reducing our non-Agency MBS concentration, we sold lower yielding, longer duration Agency MBS.
Excluding changes in market values, our average investment in MBS increased by $2.142 billion, or 45.2%, to
$6.887 billion for 2007 from $4.744 billion for 2006. The net yield on our MBS portfolio increased to 5.52% for
2007 from 4.57% for 2006. This increase primarily reflects a 66 basis point increase in the gross yield on the MBS
portfolio to 6.11% for 2007 from 5.45% for 2006 and a 27 basis point reduction in the cost of net premium
amortization. The cost of our premium amortization decreased to 41 basis poinis for 2007 from 68 basis points for
2006. This decrease in the cost of our premium amortization during 2007 reflects a decrease in the average CPR
experienced on our portfolio to 19.1% for 2007 from 25.7% for 2006 as well as a decrease in the average purchase
premium on our MBS portfolio to 1.4% for 2007 from 1.8 % for 2006,

The following table presents the components of the net yield earned on our MBS portfolio for the quarterly
periods presented:

Gross Cost of Delay
Quarter  Yield/Stated Net Premium  for Principal
Year Ended Coupon Amortization Receivable  Net Yield
2007 December 31 6.12% (0.25Y% (0.14)% 5.73%
September 30 6,12 (0.38) (0.16} 5.58
June 30 6.09 (0.50) (0.19}) 540
March 31 6.11 (0.55) (0.21} 5.35
2006 December 31 6.04% (0.64)% (0.22)% 5.18%
September 30 5.74 (0.70) (0.21) 4.83
June 30 5.16 (0.76}) (0.19) 421
March 31 4.86 (0.64) (1) {0.18) 4.04

(1) The cost of net premium amortization for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 was lower as a result of a $20.7 million impairment charge
taken againsi certain MBS at December 31, 2005. This impairment charge resulted in a new cost basis for the MBS that were identified as
impaired which reduced our purchase premiums on these assets, which in turn reduced our purchase premium amonrtization as they were sold or
prepaid. During the quarter ended March 31, 2006, we sold alf of the MBS that were identified as impaired.

Interest income from our cash investments increased by $2.2 million to $4.5 million for 2007 from $2.3 million
for 2006. Our average cash investments increased by $43.4 million to $93.4 million for 2007 compared to $50.0
million for 2006 and yielded 4.81% for 2007 compared to 4.65% for 2006. In general, we manage our cash
investments relative to our investing, financing, operating requirements, investment opportunities and current and
anticipated market conditions. During the third quarter ended September 30, 2007, our yield on cash investments
began to decline, in line with declining market interest rates. We expect that the yield on our cash investments will
continue to follow the direction of Fed changes to the target federal funds rate.

Our borrowings under repurchase agreements increased as we leveraged equity capital raised during 2007 to
grow our MBS portfolio. Our average repurchase agreements for 2007 increased by $2.141 billion, or 52.4%, to
$6.229 billion from $4.088 billion for 2006. We experienced a 71 basis point increase in our effective cost of
borrowing to 5.16% for 2007 from 4.45% for 2006. This increase in rate paid on our borrowings reflects the higher
market rates paid on incremental borrowings and repurchase agreements that matured during 2007, OQur Hedging
Instruments reduced the cost of our borrowings by $6.6 million, or ten basis points, for 2007 and $5.2 million, or 13
basis points, for 2006. Our interest expense for 2007 increased by 76.6% to $321.3 million, from $181.9 million for
2006, reflecting an increase in the amount of, and interest rate paid on, our borrowings.

Our cost of funding on the hedged portion of our repurchase agreements is in effect fixed, over the term of the
related Swap, such that the interest rate on our hedged repurchase agreements will not decrease in connection with
the recent decline in market interest rates, but rather will remain at the fixed Swap rate over the term of the Swap.
At December 31, 2007, we had repurchase agreements of $7.526 billion and Swaps with an aggregate notional
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amount of $4.628 billion which had a weighted average fixed pay rate of 4.83% and a weighted average remaining
term of 30 months. The remainder of our repurchase agreements, which are not hedged, had a weighted average
term to maturity of 15 months at December 31, 2007. (See Notes 2(n) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, included under {tem 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.)

For 2007, our net interest income increased by $26.2 million, or 70.4%, to $63.5 million, from $37.3 million
for 2006. This increase reflects the growth in our interest-earning assets, an increase in the yield on our MBS and an
improvement in our net interest spread as MBS yields relative to our cost of funding widened. For 2007, our net
interest spread and margin increased to 0.35% and 0.91%, respectively, from 0.12% and 0.78%, respectively, for
2006. The following table presents quarterly information regarding our net interest spread and net interest margin
(which is net interest income divided by interest-earning assets) for the quarters presented.

For the Net Interest Net Interest
Quarter Ended Spread Margin
December 31, 2007 0.65% 1.22%
September 30, 2007 0.36 .90
June 30, 2007 0.20 0.74
March 31, 2007 0.l16 0.73
December 31, 2006 0.08 0.72

The following table presents information regarding our average balances, interest income and expense, yields
on interest earning assets, cost of funds and net interest income for the quarterly periods presented.

Average
Cash, Cash Yield on
Average Interest Equivalents Average Average
Amortized Income on and Total Interest- Balaace of Average Net

Far the Cost of Investment Restricted Interest Earning  Repurchase Interest Cost of Interest
Quarter Ended MBS (1) Securities Cash Income Asscts Agreements  Expense Funds Income

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31,2007 § 7,681,065  § 109,999 $ 196344  §112,284 570% § 6975521 § 88,881 5.05%  § 23,403
September 30, 2007 6,852,994 95,590 90,006 96,716 5.57 6,225,695 81,816 521 14,900
June 30, 2007 6,696,979 90,392 51,160 91,026 5.39 6,051,209 78,348 519 12,678
March 31, 2007 6,300,491 84,347 34,443 84,795 5358 5,647,700 72,260 519 12,535
December 31, 2006 5,469,461 70,836 52,412 71,480 5.18 4,833,897 62,114 510 9,366

(1) Unrealized gains and losses are not reflected in the average amortized cost of MBS,

For 2007, we had a net other loss of $20.1 million compared to a net other loss of $20.8 million for 2006. Cur
net other losses for both periods were primarily comprised of losses realized on sales of our MBS. During 2007, we
realized losses of $21.8 million on sales of Agency and AAA rated MBS, which primarily occurred during the third
quarter of 2007. As a result of these sales, we decreased the size of our non-Agency MBS portfolio and positively
impacted the spreads earned on our MBS portfolio by disposing of lower-yielding Agency MBS acquired prior to
2006. During 2006, we realized a net loss of $23.1 million on sales of MBS, as a result of the repositioning of our
MBS portfolio.

During 2007, we realized a net loss of $384,000 on the early termination of six Swaps, which had an aggregate
notional amount of $305.2 million, upon the satisfaction of the repurchase agreements that such Swaps hedged. We
camed $424,000 and $724,000 in advisory fees during 2007 and 2006, respectively, which are included in
miscellaneous other income, net. Revenue from our real estate investment remained relatively flat at approximately
$1.6 million. (See Note 6(a) to the consolidated financial statements, included under [tem 8 of this annual report on
Form 10-K.)

For 2007, we had operating and other expenses of $13.4 million, including real estate operating expenses and
mortgage interest totaling $1.8 million attributable to our one remaining real estate investment. For 2007, our nen-
real estate related overhead, comprised of compensation and benefits and other general and administrative expense,
was $11.7 million, or 0.17% of average assets, compared to $9.6 million, or 0.20% of average assets, for 2006. Our
expenses as a percentage of our average assets decreased, as we grew our average assets by leveraging our existing
and new equity capital during 2007. The cost of our compensation and benefits increased by $890,000 for 2007
compared to the 2006, reflecting an increase in compensation to existing employees and our additional hires. Our
compensation expense of $6.6 million for 2007 included aggregate non-cash share-based expenses of $512,000,
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compared to $539,000 for 2006. (See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this
annual report on Form 10-K.) Our other general and administrative expenses for 2007 were comprised primarily of
the cost of professional services, including auditing and legal fees, costs of complying with the provisions of the
SOX Act, office rent, corporate insurance, Board fees and miscellaneous other operating costs, The increase in our
other general and administrative expense for 2007 to $5.1 million from $3.8 million for 2006, primarily reflects the
cost of our additional office space as we grew and the renewal of our existing lease at our headquarters at current
markel rates commencing with the second quarter of 2007.

For 2007, we recognized $257,000 of income from discontinued operations related to a reduction of the $1.8
million built-in-gains tax of recognized on the sale of the Greenhouse, a 128-unit multi-family apartment building in
Omaha, Nebraska, during 2006. During 2006, we reported income of $3.5 million from discontinued operations, or
$0.04 per common share, which primarily reflected a net gain of $4.4 million realized on sales of two real estate
properties and related prepayment penalties of $712,000 incurred on the satisfaction of the mortgages secured by
those properties. The loss of $198,000 from discontinued operations for 2006 reflected the reclassified net results of
operations for the two properties sold during such year. (See Notes 2(h) and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, included under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

In accordance with applicable GAAP, revenues and expenses for our indirect interests in properties classified
as held-for-sale or sold have been reported on a net basis as a component of discontinued operations, for each of
the periods presented. (See Notes 2(h) and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this
annual report on Form 10-K.)

For 2006, we had net income available to our common stockholders of $598,000, or a $0.01 per commen share,
compared to a net loss of $1.5 million, or $(0.02) per share, for 2005. Both 2006 and 2005 were transitional years
that resulted in net losses from the repositioning of our MBS portfolio. As a result of our repositioning, we realized
net losses of $23.1 million on the sale of MBS during 2006 and, recognized an aggregate loss of $39.1 million,
comprised of an $18.4 million loss on the sale of MBS and an impairment charge of $20.7 million, during 2005.
Our 2006 net income was positively impacted by a net gain realized on the sale of two multi-family apartment
properties, which is a component of discontinued operations. For 2006, discontinued operations, which was
primarily comprised of the net gain on the sales of the two properties, increased our earnings by $3.5 million, or
$0.04 per common share. Results from discontinued operations were not meaningful for 2005,

Our interest income for 2006 decreased by $19.5 million, or 8.2%, to $219.2 million compared to $238.7
million for 2005, This decrease in interest income primarily reflects the decrease in the size of our MBS portfolio,
resulting from sales of certain of our MBS during 2005 and 2006 and our strategy to limit reinvestment of principal
payments received on our MBS portfolio. Excluding changes in market values, our average investment in MBS
decreased by $2.046 billion, or 30.1%, to $4.744 billion for 2006 from $6.790 billion for 2005. The net yield on our
MRS portfolio increased to 4.57% for 2006 from 3.47% for 2005. This increase primarily reflects the increase of 93
basis points in the gross yield on the MBS portfolio to 5.45% for 2006 from 4.52% for 2005 and, to a lesser extent, a
19 basis point reduction in the cost of net premium amortization to 68 basis points for 2006 from &7 basis points for
2005. The decrease in the cost of our premium amortization during 2006 reflects a decrease in the average purchase
premium on our MBS portfolio and the corresponding impact of a decrease in the CPR on our portfolio to 25.7% for
2006 from 29.8% CPR for 2005.
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The following table presents the components of the net yield earned on our MBS portfolio for the quarterly
periods presented:

Quarter Stated Net Premium  Cost of Delay

Year Ended Coupon Amortization and Other  Net Yield

2006 December 31 6.04% (0.64)% {0.22)% 5.18%
September 30 574 (0.70) {021 4.83
June 30 5.16 (0.76) (0.19) 421
March 31 4.86 (0.64) (1) (0.18) 4.04

2005 December 31 4.70% (0.90Y% (0.18)% 3.62%
September 30 4.55 (1.05) (0.19) 3.3
June 30 448 (0.86) 0.17) 3.45
March 31 4.36 (0.70) (0.135) 351

(1) The cost of net premium amortization for the quarier ended March 31, 2006 was lower as a result of a $20.7 million impairment charge
taken against certain MBS at December 31, 2005. This impairment charge resulted in a new cost basis for the MBS that were identified as
impaired which reduced our purchase premiums on these assets, which in turn reduced our purchase premium amortization as they were sold or
prepaid. During the quarter ended March 31, 2006, we sold all of the MBS that were identified as impaired at December 31, 2005,

The following table presents the quarterly average CPR experienced on our MBS portfolio, on an annualized
basis:

CPR
Quarter Ended 2006 2005
December 31 26.0% 31.2%
September 30 264 349
June 30 26.1 29.3
March 31 244 24.1

Interest income from our cash investments, comprised of money market/sweep accounts, decreased by
$600,000 to $2.3 million for 2006 from $2.9 million for 2005. While our yield on cash investments increased to
4.65% for 2006, compared to 3.17% for 2003, reflecting market increases in short-term interest rates, our average
investment in cash investments decreased to $50.0 million for 2006 compared to $92.0 million for 2005. In general,
we manage our cash investments relative to our investing, financing and operating requirements and investment
opportunities.

Our interest expense for 2006 decreased by 1.0% to $181.9 million, from $183.8 million for 2005. This
decrease in interest expense for 2006 reflects the reduction in our borrowings, which was partially offset by an
increase in the rate paid on our borrowings. Our borrowings declined as a result of a reduction of our assets and
liabilities during the period beginning in the fourth quarter of 2005 through the second quarter of 2006. Our average
liability under repurchase agreements for 2006 was $4.088 billion, compared to $6.103 billion for 2005, while our
cost of borrowings increased to 4.45% for 2006, from 3.01% for 2005. This increase in our cost of borrowings
reflects the increase in short-term market interest rates. Our Hedging Instruments decreased the cost of our
borrowings by $5.2 million, or 13 basis points for 2006, while such instruments increased our cost of borrowings by
$1.2 million, or two basis points for 2005. (See Notes 2(n) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, included
under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.)

For 2006, our net interest income decreased by $17.6 million, or 32.1%, to $37.3 million, from $54.9 million for
2005, reflecting the decrease in the size of both our MBS portfolio and borrowings. Further, the increase in interest
rates, along with the flattened and at times inverted yield curve during 2006, reduced our net interest spread and
margin to 0.12% and 0.78%, respectively, for 2006, from 0.46% and 0.80%, respectively, for 2005.




The following table presents quarterly information regarding our average balances, interest income and
expense, yields, cost of funds and net interest income for the quarters presented.

Yield on
Average Average Average Average
Amortized Interest Cash and Total Interest- Balance of Average Net

For the Cost of Income Cash Interest Earning  Repurchase  Interest Cost of Interest

Quarter Ended MBS (1) on MBS Equivalents Income Assets Agreements  Expense Funds Income
(Dollars in Thousands)

December 35,2006  § 5469461 § 70836 3§ 52412 8 71480 5.18% 8 4.833897 § 62,114 5.10% § 9366

September 30, 2006 3,899,728 47,061 39,240 47,532 4.83 3,245,774 38,205 4.67 9,327

June 30, 2006 4,337,887 45,645 47,266 46,185 4.21 3,672,905 38,818 424 7,367

March 31, 2006 5.276.973 53,329 61,126 53,995 4.05 4,605,790 42,785 397 11,210

December 31, 2005 6,378,629 57,708 115,619 58,806 3.62 5,718,634 48,498 3.36 10,308

(1) Unrealized gains/{losses} are not reflected in the average amortized cost of MBS, while other-than-temporary impairment charges are.

For 2006, we realized net other operating losses of $20.8 million, comprised primarily of $23.1 million of net
losses on sales of MBS, as a result of the repositioning of our MBS portfolio. Our remaining real estate investment,
which is not considered a material component of our operations, generated revenue of $1.6 million for 2006
compared to $1.5 million for 2005. We earned $708,000 of miscellaneous other income, net, comprised primarily of
advisory fees of $724,000 for 2006, compared to $444,000 for 2005.

During 2006, we had operating and other expenses of $11.2 millien, including real estate operating expenses
and mortgage interest of $1.6 million attributable to our remaining real estate investment, (See Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.) For 2006, our non-
real estate related overhead, comprised of compensation and benefits and other general and administrative expense,
was $9.6 million, or 0.20% of average assets, compared to $9.2 million, or 0.13% of average assets, for 2005. Cur
compensation expense of $5.7 million included a non-cash share-based expense of $539,000, of which $374,000
represented the vesting of stock options and $165,000 was for restricted stock granted during 2006. The increase in
our expenses as a percentage of our average assets for 2006 reflects the decrease in the size of our average assets
resulting from our MBS sales during 2006. Other general and administrative expenses, which were $3.8 million for
2006 compared to $3.7 million for 2005, are comprised primarily of the cost of professional services, including
auditing and legal fees, and inciude the cost of complying with the provisions of the SOX Act, corporate insurance,
office rent, Board fees and miscellaneous other operating overhead.

During 2006, we reported income of $3.5 million from discontinued operations, or $0.04 per common share,
which primarily reflects a net gain of $4.4 million realized on sales of two real estate properties and related
prepayment penalties of $712,000 we incurred on the satisfaction of the mortgages secured by those properties. The
loss of $198,000 from discontinued operations reflects the reclassified net results of operations for the two properties
sold during 2006. (See Notes 2(h) and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item & of this
annual report on Form 10-K.)

Critical Accounting Policies

Our management has the obligation to ensure that our policies and methodologies are in accordance with
GAAP. During 2007, management reviewed and evaluated our critical accounting policies and believes them to be
appropriate.

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and all majority owned and controlled subsidiaries.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made estimates and judgments of
certain amounts included in the consolidated financial statements, giving due consideration to materiality. We do
not believe that there is a great likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported related to accounting
policies described below. However, application of these accounting policies involves the exercise of judgment and
use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates.

25




Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8
of this annual report on Form 10-K. Management believes the more significant of these to be as follows:

Classifications of Investment Securities and Valuations of Such Securities

Our investments in securities, primarily comprised of Agency and AAA rated MBS, are classified as available-
for-sale securities, as discussed in Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this
annual report on Form 10-K. Although all of our MBS are carried on the balance sheet at their estimated fair vaiue,
the classification of the securities as available-for-sale results in changes in the estimated fair value being recorded
as adjustments to accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), which is a component of stockholders® equity,
rather than through earnings. We do not intend to hold any of our investment securities for trading purposes;
however, if available-for-sale securitics were classified as trading securities, there could be substantially greater
volatility in our earnings.

As noted above, all of our MBS are carried on the balance sheet at their estimated fair value. The estimated fair
values of such assets are based on prices obtained from a third-party pricing service; if pricing is not available for a
particular security from the pricing service, the average of broker quotes received for such security is used to
determine the estimated fair value of such security. Given that our securities generally trade in an active market, we
believe that the estimated market values presented reflect the estimated fair market value of our securities at the time
of valuation.

When the estimated fair value of an available-for-sale security is less than amortized cost, we consider whether
there is an other-than-temporary impairment in the value of the security. I[f, in our judgment, an other-than-
temporary impairment exists, the cost basis of the security is written down to the then-current estimated fair value,
with the amount of impairment charged against earnings. The determination of other-than-temporary impairment is
a subjective on-going process, and different judgments and assumptions could affect the timing and amount of losses
realized. (See Note 2(e) to the consolidated financial statements, included under item 8 of this annual report on
Form 10-K.)

Interest Income Recognition

Interest income on our MBS is accrued based on the actual coupon rate and the outstanding principal balance of
such securities, Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted into interest income over the lives of the
securities using the effective yield method, as adjusted for actual prepayments in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (or FAS) No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with
Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases”.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

We apply the provisions of FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” (or
FAS 133) as amended by FAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activities”.

in accordance with FAS 133, a derivative, which is designated as a hedge, is recognized as an asset/liability and
measured at estimated fair value. To qualify for hedge accounting, we must, at inception of a hedge, anticipate and
document that the hedge will be highly effective. As long as the hedge remains effective, changes in the estimated
fair value of the Hedging Instrument are included in accumulated other comprehensive income, a component of
stockholders’ equity.

To determine the estimated fair value of our Hedging Instruments, which were entirely comprised of Swaps at
December 31, 2007, we received a valuation from each Swap counterparty. These Swap valuations approximate the
amounts which we would pay or receive if we terminated the Swap at such date. We independently review the
valuations we receive from our counterparties for reasonableness relative to the forward curve to verify that the
amount at which the Swap could be settled approximates its fair value.

No premium is paid to enter into Swaps. Net payments received on our Swaps, if any, offset interest expense
on our hedged liabilities; while net payments made by us on our Swaps, if any, increase our interest expense on our
hedged liabilities.

In order to continue to qualify for and to apply hedge accounting, our Hedging I[nstruments are documented at
inception and are monitored, on a quarterly basis, to determine whether they continue to be effective or, if prior to
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the commencement of the active period, whether the hedge is expected to be effective. 1f during the term of a
Hedging Instrument we determine that the hedge is not effective or that the hedge is not expected to be effective, the
ineffective portion of the hedge will no longer qualify for hedge accounting and, accordingly, subsequent changes in
the fair value of such Hedging Instrument would be reflected in earnings. At December 31, 2007, we had 131
Swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $4.628 billion with net unrealized losses of $99.7 million, comprised of
gross unrealized losses of $99.8 million and gross unrealized gains of $103,000. The Company had no Caps at
December 31, 2007. (See Notes 2(n) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8 of this
annual report on Form 10-K.)

Income Taxes

Our financial results generally do not reflect provisions for current or deferred income taxes. We believe that
we operate in, and intend to continue to operate in, a manner that allows and will continue to allow us to be taxed as
a REIT. As aresult of cur REIT status, we do not generally expect to pay corporate level taxes. Many of the REIT
requirements, however, are highly technical and complex. If we were to fail to meet the REIT requirements, we
would be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our equity based compensation on a fair value basis in accordance with FAS No. 123R, “Share-
Based Payment,” (or FAS 123R). We expense our equity based compensation awards over the vesting period of
such awards using the straight-line method, based upon the estimated fair value of such awards at the grant date.
Equity-based awards for which there is no risk of forfeiture are expensed upon grant or at such time that there is no
longer a risk of forfeiture. (See Notes 2(j) and 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements, included under [tem 8
of this annual report on Form 10-K.)

Estimating the fair value of stock options requires that we use a model to value such options. We use the Black-
Scholes-Merton option model to value our stock options. There are limitations inherent in this model, as with all
other models currently used in the market place to value stock options, as they typically were not designed to value
stock options which contain significant restrictions and forfeiture risks, such as those contained in the stock options
that we issue. We make significant assumptions in order to determine our option value, all of which are subjective.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of cash generally consist of borrowings under repurchase agreements, payments of
principal and interest we receive on our MBS portfolio, cash generated from our operating results and, depending on
market opportunities, proceeds from capital market transactions. We use significant cash to repay principal and
interest on our repurchase agreements, purchase MBS, make dividend payments on our capital stock, fund our
operations and to make other investments that we consider appropriate. Based upon market conditions, we may also
use cash to repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to our stock repurchase program (or Repurchase
Program). We have not repurchased any shares of common stock since April 2006 and may suspend or discontinue
our Repurchase Program at any time and without prior notice.

We employ a diverse capital raising strategy under which we may issue capital stock. From September 2007
through December 31, 2007, we raised aggregate net proceeds of $277.1 million through the issuance of
approximately 38.0 million shares of our common stock in three separate public offerings. We used the net
proceeds from these offerings to acquire additional high quality ARM-MBS, on a leveraged basis, and for working
capital purposes. In addition, during 2007, we issued 3.2 million shares of common stock pursuant to our CEO
Program raising net proceeds of $23.9 million and approximately 978,000 shares of common stock pursuant to our
DRSPP raising net proceeds of $8.1 million. At December 31, 2007, we had the ability to issue an unlimited
amount of common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares representing preferred stock and/or warranis pursuant
to our automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3 and 8.5 million shares of common stock available for
issuance pursuant to our DRSPP shelf registration statement on Form S-8.

To the extent we raise additional equity capital from future capital market transactions, we currently anticipate
using such cash proceeds to purchase additional MBS or other securities, to make scheduled payments of principal
and interest on our repurchase agreements and for other general corporate purposes. We may also acquire additional
interests in residential ARMs and/or other investments consistent with our investment strategies and operating
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policies. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to raise additional equity capital at any particular
time or on any particular terms.

While we generally intend to hold our MBS as long-term investments, certain MBS may be sold in order to
manage our interest rate risk and liquidity needs, meet other operating objectives and adapt to market conditions. As
such, all of our investment securities are designated as available-for-sale. The timing and impact of future sales of
invesiment securities, if any, cannot be predicted with any certainty. During 2007, we received cash of $1.697
billion from prepayments and scheduled amortization on our investment securities and sold 32 MBS, generating net
proceeds of $844.5 million. Since our MBS are generally financed with repurchase agreements, a significant portion
of the proceeds from our MBS sales, prepayments and scheduled amortization were used to repay balances under
our repurchase agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we purchased $4.492 billion of investment
securities, primarily comprised of ARM-MBS, primarily using proceeds from repurchase agreements, cash raised
from the sale of our common stock and existing cash,

Borrowings under repurchase agreements were $7.526 billion at December 31, 2007, compared to $5.723
billion at December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2007, our assets-to-equity ratio was 9.3 to 1. At December 31,
2007, we had master repurchase agreements with 19 separate counterparties, had amounts outstanding under
repurchase agreements with 18 of such counterparties and had available capacity under our credit limits with respect
1o our repurchase agreements.

During 2007, we paid cash dividends of $8.2 million on shares in our preferred stock and $29.3 million on our
common stock. In addition, on December 13, 2007, we declared our fourth quarter 2007 dividend on our common
stock, which totaled $17.8 million and was paid on January 31, 2008 o stockholders of record on December 31,
2007.

Under our repurchase agreements we pledge additional assets as collateral to our repurchase agreement
counterparties (i.e., lenders) when the estimated fair value of the existing pledged collateral under such agreements
declines and such lenders demand additional collateral (i.e., initiate a margin call). Margin calls result from a
decline in the value of the MBS collateralizing our repurchase agreements, generally following the monthly
principal reduction of such MBS due to scheduled amortization and prepayments on the underlying mortgages,
changes in market interest rates, a decline in market prices affecting our MBS and other market factors. To cover a
margin call, we may pledge additional securities or cash. At the time one of our repurchase agreement matures, cash
on deposit as collateral (i.e., restricted cash), if any, would generally be applied against the repurchase agreement
balance, thereby reducing the amount borrowed. In addition, we are required to pledge MBS or cash as coliateral
against our Swaps. At December 31, 2007, we had $79.9 million of MBS and $4.5 million of restricted cash
pledged as collateral against our Swaps, which had notional amount of $4.628 billion. As interest rates decline, the
value of our Swaps generally decreases, resulting in margin calls. We believe that we will be able to meet our Swap
margin calls. Cash collateral on Swaps and repurchase agreements is held in interest-bearing deposit accounts with
lenders, and is reported on our balance sheet as “restricted cash”. Collateral pledged against Swaps is returned to us
when margin requirements are exceeded or when a Swap is terminated or expires.

Through December 31, 2007, we satisfied all of our margin calls with either cash or an additional pledge of
MBS collateral. At December 31, 2007, we had MBS with a fair value of $254.2 million that were not pledged as
collateral and $234.4 million of cash. We believe that we have adequate financial resources to meet our obligations,
including margin calls, as they come due, to fund dividends we declare and to actively pursue our investment
strategies. However, should the value of our MBS suddenly decrease, significant margin calls on our repurchase
agreements could result, causing an adverse change in our liquidity position,

The following table summarizes the effect on our liquidity and cash flows of contractual obligations for the
principal amounts due on our repurchase agreements, non-cancelable office leases and the mortgage loan on the
property held by our real estate subsidiaries at December 31, 2007:

{In Thousands) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012  Thereafter
Repurchase agreements $6,079,078 $ 1,162,935 % 75901 § 208,100 % - 5 -
Mortgage loan 153 166 209 8,934 - -
Long-term lease obligations 1,069 1,079 1,099 1,115 1,183 6,158

$6,080,300 § 1,164,180 § 77,209 § 218,149 § 1,183 § 6,158

Note: The above table does not include interest due on our repurchase agreements, Swaps, or morigage loan.




Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any material off-balance-sheet arrangements.

inflation

Substantially all of our assets and liabilities are financial in nature. As a result, changes in interest rates and
other factors impact our performance far more than does inflation. Our financial statements are prepared in
accordance with GAAP and dividends are based upon net income as calculated for tax purposes; in cach case, our
results of operations and reported assets, liabilities and equity are measured with reference to historical cost or fair
market value without considering inflation.

Forward Looking Statements

When used in this annual report on Form 10-K, in future filings with the SEC or in press releases or other
written or oral communications, statements which are not historical in nature, including those containing words such
as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “should,” “expect,” “believe,” “i

LIRS LTINS

intend” and similar expressions, are intended to identify
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the 1933 Act and Section 21E of the 1934 Act
and, as such, may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions.

These forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to,
those relating to: changes in interest rates and the market value of our MBS; changes in the prepayment rates on the
mortgage loans collateralizing our MBS; our ability to use borrowings to finance our assets; changes in government
regulations affecting our business; our ability to maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax
purposes; and risks associated with investing in real estate, including changes in business conditions and the general
economy. These and other risks, uncertainties and factors, including those described in the annual, quarterly and
current reports that we file with the SEC, could cause our actual results to differ materially from those projected in
any forward-looking statements we make. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made
and we do not undertake, and specifically disclaims, any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of such statements. See ltem 1A, “Risk
Factors” of this annual report on Form 10-K.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We seek to manage our risks related to interest rates, liquidity, prepayment speeds, market value and the credit
quality of our assets while, at the same time, secking to provide an opportunity to stockholders to realize attractive
total returns through ownership of our capital stock. While we do not seek to avoid risk, we seek to: assume risk
that can be quantified from historical experience, and actively manage such risk; earn sufficient returns to justify the
taking of such risks; and, maintain capital levels consistent with the risks that we undertake.

Interest Rate Risk

We primarily invest in ARM-MBS on a leveraged basis. We take into account both anticipated coupon resets
and expected prepayments when measuring the sensitivity of our ARM-MBS portfolio to changes in interest rates.
[n measuring our repricing gap (i.e., the weighted average time period unti! our ARM-MBS are expected to prepay
or reprice less the weighted average time period for liabilities to reprice (or Repricing Gap)), we measure the
difference between: (a) the weighted average months until the next coupon adjustment or projected prepayment on
the ARM-MBS portfolio; and (b) the months remaining until our repurchase agreements mature, applying the same
projected prepayment rate and including the impact of Swaps. A CPR is applied in order to reflect, to a certain
extent, the prepayment characteristics inherent in our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Over the
last consecutive eight quarters ended December 31, 2007, the monthly CPR on our MBS portfolio ranged from a
high of 26.4% experienced during the quarter ended September 30, 2006 to a low of 13.4% experienced during the
quarter ended December 31, 2007, with an average quarterly CPR of 21.8%.

The following table presents information at December 31, 2007 about our Repricing Gap based on contractual
maturities (i.e., 0 CPR), and applying a 15% CPR, 20% CPR and 25% CPR.

Estimated
Months to Asset
Reset or
Expected Estimated Months to  Repricing Gap
CPR Prepayment Liabilities Reset (/) in Months
0% (2) 59 23 36
15% 38 23 15
20% 33 23 10
25% 28 23 5

(1) Reflects the effect of our Swaps.
(2) Reflects contractual maturities, which does not consider any prepayments

At December 31, 2007, our financing obligations under repurchase agreements had remaining contractual terms
of approximately five years or less. Upon contractual maturity or an interest reset date, these borrowings are
refinanced at then prevailing market rates. However, our Swaps in effect lock-in a fixed rate of interest over the
term of each of our Swaps on a corresponding portion of our repurchase agreements. At December 31, 2007, we
had repurchase agreements of $7.526 billion hedged with $4.628 billion of Swaps that had weighted average fixed-
pay rate of 4.83% and extended an average of 30 months.

We use Swaps as part of our interest rate risk management strategy. Our Swaps are intended to serve as a hedge
against future interest rate increases on our repurchase agreements, which are typically priced off of LIBOR. During
2007, our Swaps reduced our borrowing costs by $6.5 million, or 10 basis points. Our Swaps result in interest
savings in a rising interest rate environment, while in a declining interest rate environment result in us paying the
stated fixed rate on the notional amount for each of our Swaps, which could be higher than the market rate.

The interest rates for most of our adjustable-rate assets are primarily dependent on LIBOR, the CMT rate or the
MTA rate, while our debt obligations, in the form of repurchase agreements, are generally priced off of LIBOR.
While LIBOR and CMT generally move together, there can be no assurance that such movements will be parallel,
such that the magnitude of the movement of one index will match that of the other index. At December 3!, 2007,
we had 78.8% of our ARM-MBS repricing from LIBOR (of which 67.5% repriced based on 12-month LIBOR and
11.3% repriced based on six-month LIBOR), 15.5% repricing from the one-year CMT index, 5.2% repricing from
MTA and 0.5% repricing from COFL

Our adjustable-rate assets reset on various dates that are not matched to the reset dates on our repurchase
agreements. In general, the repricing of our repurchase agreements occurs more quickly than the repricing of our
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assets. Therefore, on average, our cost of borrowings may rise or fall more quickly in response to changes in market
interest rates than would the yield on our interest-earning assets.

The mismatch between repricings or maturities within a time period is commonly referred to as the “gap” for
that period. A positive gap, where repricing of interest-rate sensitive assets exceeds the maturity of interest-rate
sensitive liabilities, generally will result in the net interest margin increasing in a rising interest rate environment and
decreasing in a falling interest rate environment; conversely, a negative gap, where the repricing of interest rate
sensitive liabilities exceeds the repricing of interest-rate sensitive assets will generate opposite results. As presented
in the following table, at December 31, 2007, we had a positive gap of $287.0 million in our less than three month
category. The following gap analysis is prepared assuming a 20% CPR; however, actual future prepayment speeds
could vary significantly. The gap analysis does not reflect the constraints on the repricing of ARM-MBS in a given
period resulting from interim and lifetime cap features on these securities, nor the behavior of various indices
applicable to our assets and liabilities. The gap methodology does not assess the relative sensitivity of assets and
liabilities to changes in interest rates and also fails to account for interest rate caps and floors imbedded in our MBS
or include assets and liabilities that are not interest rate sensitive. The notional amount of our Swaps is presented in
the following table, as they fix the cost and repricing characteristics of a portion of our repurchase agreements.
While the fair value of our Swaps are reflected in our consolidated balance sheets, the notional amounts, presented
in the table below, are not.

The following table presents our interest rate risk using the gap methodology applying a 20% CPR on MBS at
December 31, 2007.

At December 31, 2007
Lessthan3  Three Monthsto  One Yearto  Two Years to  Beyond Three

(fn Thousands) Months One Year Two Years Three Years Years Total

Interest-Earning Assets:

ARM-MBS $ 1,081,721 § 1,518,486 $ 170,015 § 974247 § 3,556,714 $ 8301,183

Income notes - - - - 1,614 1,614

Cash and restricted cash 238,927 - - - - 238,927
Total interest-earning assets $ 1,320,648 § 1,518,486 % 1,170,015 § 974247 % 3,558328 § 8,541,724

Interest-Bearing Liabilities:

Repurchase agreements $ 5661178 § 417900 $ 1,270,736 $ 176,200 § - 5 7,526,014
Mortgage Loans - - - - 9,462 9,462
Total interest-bearing liabilities $ 5661178 § 417900 $ 1,270,736 § 176,200 § 9462 % 7535476

Gap before Hedging Instruments $  (4,340,530) § 1,100,586 & (100,721) $ 798,047 § 3548866 $ 1,006,248

Swaps, notional amount $ 4,627,560 - - - - § 4,627,560
Cumulative Difference Between

Interest-Earnings Assets and

Interest Bearing Liabilities after

Hedging Instruments 5 287,030 § 1,387616  $ 1,286,895 § 2,084,942 § 5,633,808

Market Value Risk

All of our investment securities are designated as “available-for-sale” assets. As such, they are reflected at their
estimated fair value, with the difference between amortized cost and estimated fair value reflected in accumulated
other comprehensive income, a component of Stockholders’ Equity. {See Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements, included under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.) The estimated fair value of our MBS
fluctuate primarily due to changes in interest rates and other factors; however, given that, at December 31, 2007,
these securities were primarily Agency MBS or AAA rated MBS, such changes in the estimated fair value of our
MBS are generally not believed to be credit-related. At December 31, 2007, we held $4.6 million of investment
securities that were rated below AAA and $3.3 million of unrated securities. Accordingly, to a limited extent, we
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are exposed to credit-related market value risk. The following table presents information about our non-Agency
investment securities {none of which were backed by subprime collateral) held at December 31, 2007.

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

MBS Price at Weighted Loan to FICO at

Amortized  Estimated Percent December Average Value at Origination
{Dollars in Thousands) Cost Fair Value _ of Total 31, 2007 Loan Age  Origination (1)
Non-Agency MBS:

AAA rated $ 431,379 § 424954 98.56% 98 83% 26 months 7% 734
AA rated 1,413 1,392 0.32 98.50 49 months 61 744
Single A & A - rated 986 967 0.22 97.75 49 months 61 744
BBB and BBB - rated 559 543 0.13 96.00 49 months 61 744
BB and below rated 1,512 1,646 0.38 91.56 34 months Tt 730
Unrated 2,968 1,689 (.39 1.60 ¢2) 25 months 77 721
Total Non-Agency MBS 3 438,817 8§ 431,191  100.00% 98.80% 26 months 71% 734

(1) FICO. named afier Fair Isaac Corp., is a credit score used by major credit bureaus to indicate a borrower 's credit worthiness.
{2} Includes an interest only net interest margin security which at December 31, 2007 had an amortized cost of 1.59% of the
notional amount and an estimated market value of 1.67% af the notional amount.

Generally, in a rising interest rate environment, the estimated fair value of our MBS would be expected to
decrease; conversely, in a decreasing interest rate environment, the estimated fair value of our MBS would be
expected to increase. If the estimated fair value of our MBS collateralizing our repurchase agreements decreases,
we may receive margin calls from our repurchase agreement counterparties for additional MBS collateral or cash
due to such decline. If such margin calls were not met, the lender could liquidate the securities collateralizing our
repurchase agreements with such lender, resulting in a loss to us. In such a scenario, we could apply a strategy of
reducing borrowings and assets, by selling assets or not replacing securities as they amortize and/or prepay, thereby
“shrinking the balance sheet”. Such an action would likely reduce our interest income, interest expense and net
income, the extent of which would be dependent on the level of reduction in assets and liabilities as well as the sale
price of the assets sold. Such a decrease in our net interest income could negatively impact cash available for
distributions, which in turn could reduce the market price of our issued and outstanding common stock and preferred
stock. Further, if we were unable to meet margin calls, lenders could sell the securities collateralizing our
repurchase agreements with such lenders, which sales could result in a loss to us.

Liquidity Risk
The primary liquidity risk for us arises from financing long-maturity assets, which have interim and lifetime
interest rate adjustment caps, with shorter-term borrowings in the form of repurchase agreements. Although the

interest rate adjustments of these assets and liabilities fall within the guidelines established by our operating policies,
maturities are not required to be, nor are they, matched,

Our assets which are pledged to secure repurchase agreements are typically high-quality MBS, At December
31, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of $234.4 million and unpledged MBS of $254.2 million available to
meet margin calls on our repurchase agreements and for other corporate purposes. However, should the value of our
investment securities pledged as collateral suddenly decrease, margin calls relating to our repurchase agreements
could increase, causing an adverse change in our liquidity position. As such, we cannot assure that we will always
be able to roll over our repurchase agreements.

Prepayment and Reinvestment Risk

Premiums paid on our investment securities are amortized against interest income and discounts are accreted to
interest income as we receive principal payments (i.e., prepayments and scheduled amortization) on such securities.
Premiums arise when we acquire MBS at a price in excess of the principal balance of the mortgages securing such
MBS (i.e., par value). Conversely, discounts arise when we acquire MBS at a price below the principal balance of
the mortgages securing such MBS. For financial accounting purposes, interest income is accrued based on the
outstanding principal balance of the investment securities and their contractual terms. In general, purchase
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premiums on our investment securities, currently comprised primarily of MBS, are amortized against interest
income over the lives of the securities using the effective yield method, adjusted for actual prepayment activity. An
increase in the prepayment rate, as measured by the CPR, will typically accelerate the amortization of purchase
premiums, thereby reducing the yield/interest income earned on such assets.

For tax accounting purposes, the purchase premiums and discounts are amortized based on the constant
effective yield calculated at the purchase date. Therefore, on a tax basis, amortization of premiums and discounts
will differ from those reported for financial purposes under GAAP. At December 31, 2007, the net premium on our
investment securities portfolio for financial accounting purposes was $101.6 million (1.2% of the principal balance
of MBS); while the net premium for income tax purposes was estimated at $98.8 million.

In general, we believe that we will be able to reinvest proceeds from scheduled principal payments and
prepayments at acceptable yields; however, no assurances can be given that, should significant prepayments occur,
market conditions would be such that acceptable investments could be identified and the proceeds timely reinvested.

Tabular Presentation

The information presented in the following table projects the potential impact of sudden parallel changes in
interest rates on net interest income and portfolio value, including the impact of Hedging Instruments, over the next
12 months based on the assets in our investment portfolio on December 31, 2007. We acquire interest-rate sensitive
assets and fund them with interest-rate sensitive liabilities. All changes in income and value are measured as the
percentage change frotn the projected net interest income and portfolio value at the base interest rate scenario,

Change in Percentage Change Percentage Change
Interest Rates in Net Interest Income in Portfolio Value

+ 1.00% (7.56%) (1.04%)

+ 0.50% (2.49%) (0.41%)

- 0.50% 0.47% 0.19%

- 1.00% 0.79% 0.15%

Certain assumptions have been made in connection with the calculation of the information set forth in the above
table and, as such, there can be no assurance that assumed events will occur or that other events will not occur that
would affect the outcomes. The base interest rate scenario assumes interest rates at December 3§, 2007. The
analysis presented utilizes assumptions and estimates based on management’s judgment and experience.
Furthermore, while we generally expect to retain such assets and the associated interest rate risk to maturity, future
purchases and sales of assets could materially change our interest rate risk profile. It should be specifically noted
that the information set forth in the above table and all related disclosure constitutes forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the 1933 Act and Seciion 2LE of the 1934 Act. Actual results could differ
significantly from those estimated in the table.

The table quantifies the potential changes in net interest income and portfolio value should interest rates
immediately change {or Shock). The table presents the estimated impact of interest rates instantaneously rising 50
and 100 basis points, and falling 50 and 100 basis points. The cash flows associated with the portfolio of MBS for
each rate Shock are calculated based on assumptions, including, but not limited to, prepayment speeds, yield on
future acquisitions, slope of the vield curve and size of the portfolio. Assumptions made on the interest rate
sensitive liabilities, which are assumed to be repurchase agreements, include anticipated interest rates, collateral
requirements as a percent of the repurchase agreement, amount and term of borrowing.

The impact on portfolio value is approximated using the calculated effective duration (i.e., the price sensitivity
to changes in interest rates) of 0.39 and expected convexity (i.e., the approximate change in duraticon relative to the
change in interest rates) of (0.89). The impact on net interest income is driven mainly by the difference between
portfolio yield and cost of funding of our repurchase agreements, which includes the cost and/or benefit from
Hedging Instruments that hedge certain of our repurchase agreements. Qur asset/liability structure is generally such
that an increase in interest rates would be expected to result in a decrease in net interest income, as our repurchase
agreements are generally shorter term than our interest-earning assets, When interest rates are Shocked, prepayment
assumptions are adjusted based on management’s expectations along with the results from the prepayment model.
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Financial statements of subsidiaries have been omitted; as such entities do not individually or in the aggregate
exceed the 20% threshold under either the investment or income tests. The Company owned 100% of each of its

subsidiaries.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity,
cash flows, and comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statemnents based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial staterents referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results
of its operations, its cash flows, and its comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 12, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Emst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 12, 2008
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MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,
{In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) 2007 2006
Assets:
Mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”), at fair value (including pledged
MBS of $8,046,947 and $6,065,021 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, (Notes 3 and 7) $ 8301,183 § 6,340,668
Income notes (Note 3) 1,614 -
Cash and cash equivalents 234,410 47,200
Restricted cash (Note 2d) 4,517 -
Interest receivable (Note 4) 43,610 33,182
Interest rate cap agreements (“Caps™), at fair value (Note 5) - 361
Swap agreements (“Swaps™), at fair value (Note 5) . 103 2,412
Real estate, net (Note 6) 11,611 11,789
Goodwill (Note 2f) 7,189 7,189
Prepaid and other assets 1,622 1,166
Total Assets $ 8605859 § 06,443,967
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements (Note 7) $ 7,526,014 § 5722711
Accrued interest payable 20,212 23,164
Mortgage payable on real estate (Note 6) 9,462 9,606
Swaps, at fair value (Note 5) 99.836 1,893
Dividends and dividend equivalents payable (Note 9(b)) 18,005 4,899
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,067 3,136
Total Liabilities 7,678,596 5,765,409
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders® Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; series A 8.50% cumulative redeemable;
5,000 shares authorized; 3,840 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2007 and 2006 (396,000 aggregate liquidation
preference) (Note 9) 38 38

Common stock, $.01 par value; 370,000 shares authorized,
122,887 and 80,695 issued and outstanding at December 31,

2007 and 2006, respectively (Note 9) 1,229 807
Additional patd-in capital, in excess of par 1,085,760 776,743
Accumulated deficit {89,263) (68,637)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 11) {70,501) (30,393)

Total Stockholders’ Equity 927,263 678,558
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 8605859 § 6443967

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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; MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31,

{In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounis) 2007 2006 2005

Interest Income:

MBS income (Note 3) $ 380,070 § 216,871 $ 235798
Interest income on short-term cash investments 4,493 2,321 2,921
Interest income on income notes 158 - -
Interest Income 384,821 219,192 238,719
Interest Expense (Note 7) 321,305 181,922 183,833
Net Interest Income 63,516 37,270 54,886

Other Income:

Net loss on sale of MBS (Note 3) (21,793) (23,113) (18,354)
Revenue from operations of real estate (Note 6) 1,638 1,556 1,460
Net loss on early termination of Swaps (Note 5) (384) - -
Miscellaneous other income, net 422 708 351
Other-than-temporary impairment on MBS (Note 3) - - (20,720)
Other Income (Loss) (20,117) (20,849) (37,263)

Operating and Other Expense:

Compensation and benefits (Note 12) 6,615 5,725 5,505
Real estate operating expense and mortgage interest (Note 6) 1,764 1,617 1,673
QOther general and administrative 5,067 3,843 3,651
Operating and Other Expense 13,446 11,185 10,829
Income from Continuing Operations 29,953 5,236 6,794

Discontinued Operations: (Note 6)

Gain on sale of real estate, net of tax 257 4,432 -
Loss from discontinued operations, net - (198) (86)
Mortgage prepayment penalty - (712) -
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations 257 3,522 {86)
Income Before Preferred Stock Dividends 30,210 8,758 6,708
Less: Preferred Stock Dividends 8,160 8,160 8,160
Net Income (Loss) to Common Stockholders $ 22,050 § 598 § (1452

Earnings {Loss) Per Share of Common Stock: (Note 10)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations ~ basic and diluted ) 0.24 3 (0.03) & (0.02)
Earnings from discontinued operations — basic and diluted - 0.04 -
Earnings (loss) per share — basic and diluted $ 0.24 $ 0.01 8 (0.02)
Dividends declared per share of common stock (Note 9b) S 0415 $ 0.210 $ 0.405

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
_(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) Dollars Shares Dollars Shares Dollars Shares
Preferred Stock, Series A 8.50% Cumulative Redeemable -
Liquidation Preference $25.00 Per Share:
Balance at beginning of year $ 38 3,840 b 38 3,840 b3 38 3,840
Issuance of shares - - - - - -
Balance at end of year 38 3,840 38 3,840 38 3,840
Commeon Stock, Par Value $0.01;
Balance at beginning of year 807 80,695 81 80,121 820 82,017
Issuance of common stock 422 42,192 15 1,501 4 368
Repurchase of common stock - - (9) (927) (23) {2,264)
Balance at end of year 1,229 122,887 807 80,695 801 80,121
Additional Paid-in Capital, in excess of Par:
Balance at beginning of year 776,743 770,789 780,406
[ssuance of common stock, net of expenses 308,506 11,103 2,994
Share-based compensation expense, excluding par 511 539 493
Repurchase of comunan stock - (5,688} (13,104)
Balance at end of year 1,085,760 776,743 770,789
Accumulated Deficit:
Balance at beginning of year {68,637) (52,315) (17,330}
Net income 30,210 8,758 6,708
Dividends declared on common stock (42,231) (16,920} (33,533)
Dividends declared on preferred stock (8,160) (B,160) (8,160}
Payments on dividend equivalent rights (“DERs™) (445) - -
Balance at end of year {89,263) (68,637) (52,315)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:
Balance at beginning of year (30,393) (58,211) (35,100)
Unrealized gains/(losses) on investment securities, net 60,227 30,733 (28,617}
Unrealized (losses)/gains on Caps, net (83) (342) 2,735
Unrealized (losses)/gains on Swaps {100,252) {2,573) 2,771
Balance at end of year (70,501) (30,393) (58,.211)
Total Stockholders’ Equity at year end $ 927,263 $ 678,558 $ 661,102

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31,

{In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income $ 30,210 $ 8,758 3 6,708
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Losses on sale of MBS 22,143 25,245 18,364
Gains on sale of MBS (350) (2,132} (10)
Losses on early termination of Swaps 627 - -
Gains on early termination of Swaps (243) - -
Other-than-temporary impairment recognized on MBS - - 20,720
Amortization of purchase premium on MBS, net of accretion of discounts 27,535 30,974 56,515
Amottization of premium cost for Caps 278 1,700 1,578
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable (10,428) (8,984) 2,230
Decrease in receivable under the Discount Waiver, Direct Stock Purchase
and Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRSPP™) - - 985
Depreciation and amortization on real estate, including discontinued operations 432 574 838
(Increase)/decrease in other assets and other {467) 18 (65)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,176 (1,950) 2475
(Decrease)/increase in accrued interest payable (2,952) (30,993) 25,806
Gain on sale of real estate included in discontinued operations {(257) (6,660) -
Loss on sale of real estate included in discontinued operations - 408 -
Share-based compensation expense 511 539 493
Negative amottization on investments securities (537) (1,614} (443)

Net cash provided by operating activities 68,678 15,883 136,194
Cash Flows From [nvesting Activities:
Prncipal payments on MBS and other investment securities 1,697,287 1,637,304 2,629,887
Proceeds from sale of MBS 844,480 1,843,659 617,152
Purchases of MBS and other investment securities (4,492,460) (4,128,466} (2,308,134)
Proceeds from sale of real estate - 23,534
Additions to leasehold improvements {231) - -

Net cash (used)/provided by investing activities (1,950,924) (623,969) 938,905
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Increase in restricted cash 4,517) - -
Principal payments on repurchase agreements {43,374,020) (21,101,718} (19,571,976)
Proceeds from borrowings under repurchase agreements 45,177,323 21,724 897 18,558,476
Proceeds from terminations of Swaps 243 - -
Payments made for terminations of Swaps {627) - -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 308,928 11,118 2,998
Dividends paid on preferred stock (8,160) (8,160) (8,160)
Common stock repurchased - (6,127) (12,697)
Dividends paid on common stock and DER payments (29,570) (16,079) (47,646}
Principal payments on and satisfaction of mortgages from discontinued operations (144) (12,946) (134)

Net cash provided/(used) by financing activities 2,069,456 590,985 (1,079,139}
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 187210 {17,101) (4,040)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 47,200 64,301 68,341
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period § 234,410 5 47,200 3 64,301
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Interest paid § 332,566 $ 219,262 $ 159,050
Mortgage prepayment penalty paid — discontinued operations $ - $ 712 $ -
Built-in gains taxes (refunded)/paid on sales of real estate $ (91) 3 1,320 $ -
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Dividends and DERs declared and unpaid $ 18,005 3 4,899 $ 4,058

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements,
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For the Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Net income before preferred stock dividends $ 30210 § 8,758 § 6,708
Other Comprehensive Income;
Unrealized gain/{loss) on investment securities arising during the
period, net 49,352 6,165 (68,185)
Reclassification adjustment for net losses included in net income
from MBS 10,875 24,568 39,568
Unrealized (loss)/gain on Caps arising during the period, net (83) (342} 2,735
Unrealized (loss)/gain on Swaps arising during the period, net (100,252) {2,573) 2,771
Comprehensive (loss)/income before preferred stock dividends $ (9,898 3 36,576 $(16,403)
Dividends on preferred stock (8,160) (8,160) (8,160)
Comprehensive (Loss)/Income to Common Stockholders $ (18,058) § 28416 $(24,563)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

MFA Morigage Investments, [nc. (the “Company™) was incorporated in Maryland on July 24, 1997 and began
operations on April 10, 1998. The Company has elected to be treated as a real estate investment trust (“REIT™) for
federal income tax purposes. In order to maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Company must comply with a
number of requirements under federal tax law, including that it must distribute at least 30% of its annual net taxable
income to its stockholders, subject to certain adjustments. (See Note 9(b).)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a}) Basis of Presentation and Conselidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of all subsidiaries; significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

(b) MBS/Investment Securities

The Company’s investment securities are comprised primarily of hybrid and adjustable-rate MBS (collectively,
“ARM-MBS”) that are issued or guaranteed as to principal and/or interest by a federally chartered corporation, such
as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, or an agency of the U.S. government, such as Ginnie Mae (collectively, “Agency
MBS”) or are rated AAA by at least one nationally recognized rating agency, such as Moody’s Investors Services,
Inc., Standard & Poor’s Corporation or Fitch, Inc. (“Rating Agencies”). Hybrid MBS have interest rates that are
fixed for a specified period and, thereafier, generally reset annually. To a lesser extent, the Company also holds
investments in non-Agency MBS, mortgage-related securities and other investments that are rated below AAA. At
December 31, 2007, the Company held securities with a carrying value of $7.9 millien rated below AAA, including
unrated investment securities. (See Note 3.)

The Company accounts for its investment securities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“FAS™) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” which requires that
investments in securities be designated as either “held-to-maturity,” “available-for-sale” or “trading” at the time of
acquisition, All of the Company’s investment securities are designated as available-for-sale and are carried at their
estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income, a component of
Stockholder’s Equity. The Company determines the fair value of its investment securities based upon prices obtained
from a third-party pricing service and broker quotes. On December 31, 2005, the Company adopted the guidance
prescribed in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Staff Paosition FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The
Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments” (the “FASB impairment
Position™). The application of the FASB Impairment Position resulted in the Company recognizing an other-than-
temporary impairment charge of $20.7 million on December 31, 2005. (See Note 2(e}.)

Although the Company generally intends to hold its investment securities until maturity, it may, from time to
time, sell any of its securities as part of the overall management of its business. The available-for-sale designation
provides the Company with the flexibility to sell any of its investment securities. Upon the sale of an investment
security, any unrealized gain or loss is reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings as a
realized gain or loss using the specific identification method.

Interest income is accrued based on the outstanding principal balance of the investment securities and their
contractual terms. Premiums and discounts associated with Agency MBS and MBS rated AAA are amortized into
interest income over the life of such securities using the effective yield method, adjusted for actual prepayment
activity in accordance with FAS No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating
or Acquiring Loans and Initial Diirect Costs of Leases.” Certain of the Agency MBS owned by the Company
contractually provide for negative amortization, which occurs when the full amount of the stated coupon interest due
on the distribution date for an MBS is not received from the underlying mortgages. The Company recognizes such
interest shortfall on its Agency MBS as interest income with a corresponding increase in the related Agency MBS
principal value (i.e., par) as the interest shortfall is guaranteed by the issuing agency.
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Interest income on the Company’s securities rated below AAA, including unrated securities, is recognized in
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”} of FASB 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets” (“EITF 99-20").
Pursuant to EITF 99-20, cash flows from a security are estimated applying assumptions used to determine the fair
value of such security and the excess of the future cash flows over the investment is recognized as interest income
under the effective yield method. The Company reviews and, if appropriate, makes adjustments to its cash flow
projections at least quarterly and monitors these projections based on input and analysis received from external
sources, internal models, and its judgment about interest rates, prepayment rates, the timing and amount of credit
losses, and other factors. Changes in cash flows from those originally projected, or from those estimated at the last
evaluation, may result in a prospective change in interest income recognized on, or the carrying value of, such
securities.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit with financial institutions and investments in high quality
overnight money market funds, all of which have original maturities of three months or less. The carrying amount of
cash equivalents approximates their fair value.

(d) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash held in an interest-bearing account by Swap counterparties as collateral against
the Company’s Swaps. Swap collateral requirements vary by counterparty. Restricted cash is not available to the
Company for general corporate purposes, but may be applied to payments due to Swap counterparties or returned to
the Company in the event that the collateral is in excess of the collateral requirements and/or at expiration of the
Swap. In addition, the Company may also pledge cash as collateral against its repurchase agreements. The Company
had no restricted cash held as collateral against any of its repurchase agreements at December 31, 2007 or 2006. (See
Note 5.)

{e) Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Credit Risk

The Company limits its exposure 1o credit losses on its investment portfolio by requiring that at least 50% of its
investment portfolio consist of hybrid and adjustable-rate MBS that are either (i) issued or guaranteed by a federally
chartered corporation, such as Fannie Mae or Freddic Mac, or an agency of the U.5. government, such as Ginnie
Mae, or (ii) rated in one of the two highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized rating agency. The
remainder of the Company’s investment portfolio may consist of direct or indirect investments in: (i) other types of
MBS; (ii) residential mortgage loans; (iii) collateralized debt obligations and other related securities; (iv) real estate;
{(v) securities issued by REITs, limited partnerships and closed-end funds; (vi} high-yield corporate securities and
other fixed income instruments (corporate or government); and (vii) other types of assets approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors (the “Board”) or a committee thereof. At December 31, 2007, 91.9% of the Company’s assets
consisted of Agency MBS and related receivables, 5.0% were MBS rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, a
nationally recognized rating agency, and related receivables and 2.8% were cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash; combined these assets comprised 99.7% of the Company’s total assets. The Company’s remaining assets
consisted of an investment in real estate, securities rated below AAA or unrated and other assets.

FASB Impairment Position

On December 31, 2005, the Company adopted the FASB Impairment Position. Among other things, the FASB
Impairment Position specifically addresses; the determination as to when an investment is considered impaired;
whether that impairment is other-than-temporary; the measurement of an impairment loss; accounting considerations
subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment; and certain required disclosures about
unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments.

The Company assesses its investment securities for other-than-temporary impairment on at least a quarterly
basis. When the fair value of an investment is less than its amortized cost at the balance sheet date of the reporting
period for which impairment is assessed, the impairment is designated as either “temporary” or “other-than-
temporary.” If it is determined that impairment is other-than-temporary, then an impairment loss is recognized in
carnings reflecting the entire difference between the investment’s cost basis and its fair value at the balance sheet date
of the reporting period for which the assessment is made. The measurement of the impairment is not permitted to
include partial recoveries subsequent to the balance sheet date. Following the recognition of an other-than-temporary
impairment, the fair value of the investment becomes the new cost basis of the investment and is not adjusted for
subsequent recoveries in fair value through earnings. Because management’s assessments are based on factual
information as well as subjective information available at the time of assessment, the determination as to whether an
other-than-temporary impairment exists and, if so, the amount considered impaired, or not impaired, is subjective
and, therefore, constitute material estimates that are susceptible to significant change.
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Upon a decision to sell an impaired available-for-sale investment security on which the Company does not
expect the fair value of the investment to fully recover prior to the expected time of sale, the investment shall be
deemed other-than-temporarily impaired in the period in which the decision to sell is made. The Company
recognizes an impairment loss when the impairment is deemed other-than-temporary even if a decision to sell has not
been made. Upon implementing the FASB Impairment Position in 2005, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $20.7 million related to other-than-lemporary impairments on certain MBS that the Company did nat
expect to hold until recovery of such impairment. The Company had no other-than-temporarily impaired MBS at
December 31, 2007 and did not recognize any impairment charges against its MBS portfolio during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006. At December 31, 2005, the Company had MBS of $821.5 million on which an
impairment charge had been made; all such MBS were sold during the first quarter of 2006, resulting in a net gain of
$1.6 million reflecting the amount of market recovery subsequent to December 31, 2005, the impairment
measurement date. (See Note 3.)

Securities Rated Below AAA

Certain of the Company’s investment securities rated below AAA were purchased at a discount to par value, with
a portion of such discount considered credit protection against future credit losses, The initial credit protection (i.e.,
discount) on these MBS may be adjusted over time, based on review of the investment or, if applicable, its underlying
collateral, actual and projected cash flow from such collateral, economic conditions and other factors. If the
performance of these securities is more favorable than forecasted, a portion of the amount designated as credit
discount may be accreted into interest income over time. Conversely, if the performance of these securities is less
favorable than forecasted, impairment charges and a write down of such security to a new cost basis could result.
The Company did not have any impairment charges against any of its securities rated below AAA during the three
years ended December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007, the Company had $7.9 million, or 0.1% (i.e., 1/10 of 1%) of
its assets, invested in investment securities rated below AAA or unrated.

i Goodwill

The Company accounts for its goodwill in accordance with FAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets" (“FAS 142™) which provides, among other things, how entities are to account for goodwill and other
intangible assets that arise from business combinations or are otherwise acquired. FAS 142 requires that goodwill be
tested for impairment annually or more frequently under certain circumstances. At December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, the Company had goodwill of $7.2 million, which represents the unamortized portion of the
excess of the fair value of our common stock issued over the fair value of net assets acquired in connection with its
formation in 1998. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually at the entity level. Through December 31,
2007, the Company had not recognized any impairment against its goodwill.

(g) Real Estate

At December 31, 2007, the Company indirectly held 100% of the ownership interest in Lealand Place, a 191-unit
apartment property located in Lawrenceville, Georgia (*‘Lealand™), which is consolidated with the Company. This
property was acquired through a tax-deferred exchange under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code™). (See Notes 2(h) and 6.)

The property, capital improvements and other assets held in connection with this investment are carried at cost,
net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to
expense in the period incurred, while real estate assets, except land, and capital improvements are depreciated over
their useful life using the straight-line method.

(h) Real Extate Held-for-Sale/Discontinued Operations

The Company accounts for its real estate held-for-sale in accordance with FASB Statement No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets” (“FAS 144™), Among other things, FAS 144
provides that a long-lived asset classified as held-for-sale shall: (i) not be depreciated while classified as held-for-
sale; (ii) be measured at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell; and (iii) result in a loss
recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down to fair value less cost to sell or a gain recognized for any
subsequent increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess of the cumulative loss previously recognized. A
gain or loss, not previously recognized, that results from the sale of a long-lived asset shall be recognized at the date
of sale. In accordance with FAS 144, as amended by Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections” (“FAS 154”), revenues and expenses for the Company’s indirect interest in a property classified as held-
for-sale or sold have been reclassified as discontinued operations, on a net basis for each of the periods presented,
This reclassification had no effect on the Company’s reported net income. (See Note 6.)
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During the first quarter of 2006, the Company sold its 100% indirect membership interest in Greenhouse
Holdings, LLC (“Greenhouse™), which held a 128-unit multi-family apartment building in Omaha, Nebraska known
as “The Greenhouse”. The transaction resulted in a gain of $4.8 miilion net of selling costs and a built-in gains tax of
$1.8 million. In addition, a $135,000 mortgage prepayment penalty was incurred on the satisfaction of the mortgage
secured by such property. Prior to the quarter in which the sale of Greenhouse occurred, there was no definitive plan
to sell such property. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company recognized income of $257,000 related to a
reduction of the $1.8 million of built-in-gains taxes previously recognized on the sale of Greenhouse.

On June 30, 2006, the Company classified its indirect investment in Cameron at Hickory Grove Apartments, a
201-unit multi-family apartment complex in Charlotte, North Carolina (“Cameron”), as held-for-sale. Upon the
reclassification, Cameron was reviewed for impairment and it was determined that Cameron’s carrying value
approximated its fair value less cost to sell. The sale of Cameron during the fourth quarter of 2006 ultimately
resulted in a net loss of $408,000. In addition, a prepayment penalty of $577,000 was incurred on the satisfaction of
the mortgage secured by such property. (See Note 6.)

In accordance with FAS 144, the historical results of operations from Greenhouse and Cameron have been
reclassified, on a net basis, as a component of discontinued operations.

(i) Repurchase Agreements

The Company finances the acquisition of its MBS through repurchase agreements. Under these repurchase
agreements, the Company sells securities to a lender and agrees 1o repurchase the same securities in the future for a
price that is higher than the original sale price. The difference between the sale price that the Company receives and
the repurchase price that the Company pays represents interest paid to the lender. Although structured as a sale and
repurchase, under repurchase agreements, the Company pledges its securities as collateral to secure a loan which is
equal in value to a specified percentage of the estimated fair value of the pledged collateral, while the Company
retains beneficial ownership of the pledged collateral. At the maturity of a repurchase agreement, the Company is
required o repay the loan and concurrently receives back its pledged collateral from the lender. With the consent of
the lender, the Company may renew a repurchase agreement at the then prevailing financing terms. Margin calls,
whereby a lender requires that the Company pledge additional securities or cash as collateral to secure borrowings
under its repurchase agreements with such lender, are routinely experienced by the Company as the value of the MBS
pledged as collateral declines due to scheduled monthly amortization and prepayments of principal on such MBS. In
addition, margin calls may also occur when the fair value of the MBS pledged as collateral declines due to changes in
market interest rates or other market conditions. Through December 31, 2007, the Company had satisfied all of its
margin calls. (See Note 7.)

Original terms to maturity of the Company’s repurchase agreements range from one month to 60 months.
Should a counterparty decide not to renew a repurchase agreement at maturity, the Company must either refinance
elsewhere or be in a position to satisfy this obligation. If, during the term of a repurchase agreement, a lender should
file for bankruptcy, the Company might experience difficulty recovering its pledged assets and may have an
unsecured claim against the lender’s assets for the difference between the amount loaned to the Company plus
interest due to the counterparty and the estimated fair value of the collateral pledged to such lender. The Company
generally seeks to diversify its exposure by entering into repurchase agreements with at least four separate lenders
with a maximum loan from any lender of no more than three times the Company’s stockholders’ equity. At
December 31, 2007, the Company had outstanding balances under repurchase agreements with 18 separate lenders
with a maximum net exposure (the difference between the amount loaned to the Company including interest payable
and the fair value of the security pledged by the Company as collateral including accrued interest on such securities)
to a singte lender of $71.9 million, or 7.8% of stockholders’ equity. (See Note 7.)

Prior to the first quarter of 2006, the Company had, in some cases, purchased MBS from a counterparty and
subsequently financed the acquisition of these MBS through repurchase agreements, which financing was also
coliateralized by such MBS, with the same counterparty (a “Same Party Transaction™). The Company recorded the
acquisition of these MBS as assets and the related financings under repurchase agreements as liabilities on its
consolidated balance sheets, with changes in the fair value of these MBS recorded in other comprehensive income, a
component of stockholders® equity. The corresponding interest income earned on these MBS and interest expense
incurred on the related repurchase agreements were reported gross on the Company’s consclidated statements of
income. At December 31, 2007, the Company had no Same Party Transactions.
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In July 2007, the FASB issued the exposure draft for FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) 140-d, “Accounting for
Transfers of Financial Assets and Repurchase Financing Transactions,” (“FSP 140-d”), which addresses Same Party
Transactions. At the January 2008 meeting, the Board redeliberated significant issues relating to the proposed FSP
and authorized the staff to proceed to a draft of a final FSP for vote, Among other things, the FASB tentatively
determined that the FSP should be effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 and that early
adoption is not permitted. As such, the Company does not expect that the adoption of FSP 140-d, if adopted by the
FASB in its current form will have any impact on the Company’s financial statements.

() Equity Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation in accordance with FAS No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payment,” (“FAS 123R"), which was adopted on January 1, 2006. The adoption of FAS 123R did not have any
impact, as the Company had applied the fair value method of accounting for stock based compensation since January
[, 2003, and its use of stock based compensation historically was not a key component of its compensation structure.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option model to value its stock options. There are limitations inherent
in this model, as with all other models currently used in the market place to value stock options, as they typically
have not been designed to value stock options which contain significant restrictions and forfeiture risks, such as those
contained in the stock options that are issued to certain employees. Significant assumptions are made in order to
determine the Company’s option value, all of which are subjective. The fair value of the Company’s stock options
are expensed using the straight-line method.

Pursuant to FAS 123R, compensation expense for restricted stock awards, restricted stock units (“RSUs™) and
stock options is recognized over the vesting period of such awards, based upon the estimated fair value of such
awards at the grant date. DERs attached to such awards are charged to stockholders’ equity when declared. Equity
based awards for which there is no risk of forfeiture are expensed upon grant, or at such time that there is no longer a
risk of forfeiture. A zero forfeiture rate is applied to the Company’s equity based awards, as such awards have been
granted to a limited number of employees, (primarily long-term executives that have employment agreements with
the Company) and forfeiture rates have been minimal. Should information arise indicating that forfeitures may occur,
the forfeiture rate would be revised and accounted for as a change in estimate. Grantees are not required to return the
dividends or DERs if their awards do not vest, accordingly, payments made on instruments that ultimately do not vest
are recognized as additional compensation expense at the time an award is forfeited, There were no forfeitures of any
equity based compensation awards during the three years ended December 31, 2007, and 125,000 options expired
unexercised during the year ended December 31, 2005. (See Note 12,)

(k) Earnings per Common Share (“EPS")

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income available to holders of common stock by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income
available to holders of common stock by the weighted average shares of common stock and common equivalent
shares outstanding during the period. For the diluted EPS calculation, common equivalent shares outstanding
includes the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding adjusted for the effect of dilutive
unexercised stock options and RSUs outstanding using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method,
common equivalent shares are calculated assuming that all dilutive common stock equivalents are exercised and the
proceeds, along with future compensation expenses for unvested stock options and RSUs, are used to repurchase
shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock at the average market price during the reported period. No
common share equivalents are included in the computation of any diluted per share amount for a period in which a
net operating loss is reported. (See Note 10.)

() Comprehensive Income/Loss

Comprehensive income/(loss) for the Company includes net income/(loss) and the change in net unrealized
gains/(losses) on investment securities and derivative instruments, adjusted by realized net gain/loss included in net
income for the period and reduced by dividends declared on the Company’s preferred stock.

(m) U.S. Federal Income Taxes

The Company bas elected to be taxed as a REIT under the provisions of the Code and the corresponding
provisions of state law. The Company expects to operate in a manner that will enable it to continue to be taxed as a
REIT. A REIT is not subject to tax on its earnings to the extent that it distributes its ordinary taxable income to
stockholders. As such, no provision for current or deferred income taxes has been made in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

45




O

MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Under the “Built-in Gain Rules” of the Code, a REIT is subject to a corporate tax if it disposes of an asset
acquired from a C corporation during the ten-year period following the initial acquisition of such asset. Such built-in
gain tax is imposed at the highest regular corporate tax rate on the lesser of (i) the amount of gain recognized by the
REIT at the time of the sale or disposition of such asset or (ii) the amount of such asset’s built-in gains at the time the
asset was acquired from the non-REIT C corporation. During the first quarter of 2006, the Company was subject to a
built-in gains tax of $1.8 million in connection with the sale of Greenhouse, which, net of such tax and selling
expenses, resulted in a gain of $4.8 million. During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, the Company recognized
income of $257,000 related to a reduction of the $1.8 million of built-in gains tax previously recognized on the sale
of Greenhouse. (See Note 6.)

(n) Derivative Financial Instruments/Hedging Activity

The Cormpany hedges a portion of its interest rate risk through the use of derivative financial instruments,
comprised of Swaps and Caps (collectively, “Hedging [nstruments”). The Company accounts for Hedging
Instruments in accordance with FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,”
(“FAS 133”), as amended by FAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activities,” and FAS No. 149 “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
The Company’s Hedging Instruments are carried on the balance sheet at their fair value, as assets, if their fair value is
positive, or as liabilities, if their fair value is negative. Since the Company’s Hedging Instruments are designated as
“cash flow hedges,” the change in the fair value of any such instrument is recorded in other comprehensive income
for hedges that qualify as an effective hedge and is transferred from other comprehensive income to earnings as the
hedged liability affects earnings. The ineffective amount of all Hedging Instruments, if any, is recognized in earnings
each quarter. To date, except for gains and losses realized on Swaps terminated early and deemed ineffective, the
Company has not recognized any change in the value of its Hedging Instruments in earnings as a result of the hedge
or a portion thereof being ineffective.

Upon entering into hedging transactions, the Company documents the relationship between the Hedging
Instruments and the hedged liability. The Company also documents its risk-management policies, including
objectives and strategies, as they relate to its hedging activities. The Company assesses, both at inception of a hedge
and on an on-going basis, whether or not the hedge is “highly effective,” as defined by FAS 133. The Company
discontinues hedge accounting on a prospective basis and recognizes changes in the estimated fair value reflected in
earnings when; (i) it is determined that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting cash flows of a hedged item
(including hedged items such as forecasted transactions); (ii) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction
will occur; or (iii) it is determined that designating the derivative as a Hedging Instrument is no longer appropriate.

The Company utilizes Hedging Instruments to manage a portion of its interest rate risk and does not enter into
derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes. (See Note 5.)

Interest Rate Swaps

No cost is incurted by the Company at the inception of a Swap; however, in certain cases, the Company is
required to pledge cash or securities equal to a specified percentage of the notional amount of the Swap to the
counterparty as collateral. When the Company enters into a Swap, it agrees to pay a fixed rate of interest and to
receive a variable interest rate, generally based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™). The Company’s
Swaps are designated as cash flow hedges against the benchmark interest rate risk associated with its borrowings.

While the fair value of our Swaps are reflected in our consolidated balance sheets, the notional amounts are not.
All changes in the value of Swaps are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. The estimated fair
value of our Swaps approximates the amount at which our Swaps could be terminated with each of our Swap
counterparties at the valuation date, Interest rate swap values are typically based upon their terms relative to the
forward curve at the valuation date. In addition, we independently review the valuations we receive from our Swap
counterparties for reasonableness relative to the forward curve to assure that the amount at which the Swap could be
settled approximates its fair value, If it becomes probable that the forecasted transaction (which in this case refers to
interest payments to be made under the Company’s short-term borrowing agreements) will not occur by the end of
the originally specified time period, as documented at the inception and throughout the term of the hedging
relationship, then the related gain or loss in accumulated other comprehensive income would be recognized through
earnings.

Realized gains and losses resulting from the early termination of a Swap are initially recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity. The gain or loss from a terminated Swap remains
in accumulated other comprehensive income until the forecasted interest payments affect earnings. However, if it is
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probable that the forecasted interest payments will not occur, then the entire gain or loss is recognized through
earnings.

Interest Rate Caps

A one-time fee (i.e., a premium) is paid upon purchasing a Cap. Pursuant to the terms of a Cap, the Company
will receive cash payments if the interest rate index specified in a Cap increases above the contractually specified
level. Therefore, Caps have the effect of capping (i.e., limiting), the interest rate on a portion of the Company’s
borrowings, equal to the notional amount of the active Caps, to the rate specified in the Cap agreement.

In order for the Company’s Caps to qualify for hedge accounting, upon entering into the Cap, the Company must
anticipate that the hedge will be “highly effective,” as defined by FAS 133, in limiting the Company's cost beyond
the Cap threshold on its matching (on an aggregate basis) anticipated repurchase agreements during the active period
of the Cap. Provided that the hedge remains effective, changes in the estimated fair value of the Caps are included in
other comprehensive income. Upon commencement of the Cap active period, the premium paid to enter into the Cap
is amortized to interest expense. The periodic amortization of Cap premiums are based on an allocation of the
premium, determined at inception of the hedge, for the monthly components on an estimated fair value basis.
Payments received in connection with Caps, if any, reduce interest expense. If it is determined that a Cap is not
effective, the premium would be reduced and a corresponding charge made to interest expense for the ineffective
portion of the Cap. The maximum cost related to the Company’s Caps is limited to the premium paid to enter into the
Cap. The Company had no Caps at December 31, 2007 and did not purchase any Caps during the three years ended
December 31, 2007.

{0) Adoption of New Accounting Standards

FASB Statements and Interpretations

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation (“FIN") No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (*FIN 48™). FIN 48, among other things, prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attributes for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company’s adoption of FIN 48 did not have an impact on
the Company’s financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Instruments”
(“FAS 1557), an amendment to FAS 133 and FAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities” (“FAS 140™). Among other things, FAS 155: (i) permits fair value
remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require
bifurcation; (ii) clarified which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of
FAS 133; (iii) established a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that
are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring
bifurcation; (iv) clarified that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives;
and (v) amended FAS 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a
derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument.

Securitized interests which only contain an embedded derivative that is tied to the prepayment risk of the
underlying prepayable financial assets and for which the investor does not control the right to accelerate the
settlement of such financial assets are excluded under a scope exception adopted by the FASB. As a result of this
scope exception, none of the Company’s assets were subject to FAS 155. The Company continues to record changes
in the market value of its investment securities through other comprehensive income. Therefore, the adoption of FAS
155 did not have any impact on the Company’s financial statements. However, if future investments by the Company
in securitized financial assets do not meet the scope exception to FAS 155, the Company’s results of operations may
exhibit future volatility if such investments are required to be bifurcated or marked to market value through the
income statement,

(p) Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("FAS 157"), which defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. FAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007
and, with respect to the Company, is to be applied prospectively. The Company does not expect that the adoption of
FAS 157 beginning in the first quarter of 2008 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” (“FAS 159"). FAS 159 permits entities to elect to measure many financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be
recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. A decision to elect the fair value option for an eligible
financial instrument, which can be made on an instrument by instrument basis, is irrevocable. The Company will
adopt FAS 159 on January 1, 2008 on a prospective basis. The Company does not expect that the adoption of FAS
159 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2007, the FASB issued FIN No. 39-1, “Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39.” (“FIN 39-17). FIN
39-1 defines “right of setoff” and specifies what conditions must be met for a derivative contract to qualify for this
right of setoff. FIN 39-1 also addresses the applicability of a right of setoff to derivative instruments and clarifies the
circumstances in which it is appropriate to offset amounts recognized for those instruments in the balance sheet. In
addition, FIN 39-1 permits offsetting of fair value amounts recognized for multiple derivative instruments executed
with the same counterparty under a master netting arrangement and fair value amounts recognized for the right to
reclaim cash collateral (a receivable) or the obligation to return cash collateral (a payable) arising from the same
master netting arrangement as the derivative instruments. FIN 39-1 is effective for the Company beginning January
I, 2008. The Company does not expect that the adoption of FIN 39-1 will have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2007, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™) issued Statement of Position
(“SOP™) 07-01 “Clarification of the Scope of the Audit and Accounting Investment Companies and Accounting by
Parent Companies and Equity Method Investors for Investments in Investment Companies” (“SOP 07-17) which
provides guidance for determining whether an entity is within the scope of the guidance in the AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guide for Investment Companies. On February 6, 2008, the FASB decided to indefinitely defer the
effective date of SOP 07-1.

{q) Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
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At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Company’s investment securities portfolio consisted
primarily of pools of ARM-MBS, which were primarily comprised of Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS that were
rated AAA by one or more of the Rating Agencies. The following tables present certain information about the
Company's investment securities at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006,

December 31, 2007

Carrying
Principal/ MBS Value/ Gross Gross Net
Current Purchase Purchase Amortized Estimated Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
{In Thousands) Face Premiums Discounts Cost (1) Fair Value Gains Losses Gainf(Loss)
Agency MBS:
Fannie Mae Certificates $ 7,157,079 5 91610 § (706) § 7247983 $ 7287111 B 47486 3 (8,358) 5 39,128
Ginnie Mae Certificates 172,340 3,173 - 175,513 174,089 78 {1,502) {1,424)
Freddie Mac Centificates 393,441 6,221 - 409,337 408,792 781 (1,326) (545)
Non-Agency MBS: (2)
Rated AAA 430,025 2,341 (987) 431,379 424,954 97 (6,522) (6,425)
Rated AA+ 1413 - - 1413 1,362 - 20 2l
Rated single A+ 989 - (3) 086 967 - (19) a9
Rated BBB+ 559 - - 559 543 - (16) {16)
Rated BB and below 1,512 - - 1,512 1,646 134 - 134
Unrated 2,968 - - 2,968 1,689 35 {1,314) (1,279)
Total MBS $ 8160326 $ 103345 § (1,696) $ 8271650 § 8,301,183 § 48611 $ (19078) § 29533
Income notes, unrated: 1,935 - (20) 1,915 1,614 - (301) (301)
Total 5 8162261 3 103345 § (1,716)  § 8,273,565  § 8,302,797 § 48611 $ (19379 § 29,232
December 31, 2006
Carrying
Principal/ MBS Value/ Gross Gross Net
Current Purchase Purchase Amortized Estimated Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
{In Thousands) Face Premiums Discounts Cost (1) Fair Value Gains Losses Gainf{Loss}
Agency MBS:
Fannie Mae Certificates $5421,923 5 84,146 § - § 5506180 § 5482112 % 2,116 % {26,193y § (24,077)
Ginnie Mae Certificates 301,813 5,659 - 307,472 304,826 173 (2,819) (2,646)
Freddie Mac Certificates 285,059 5,849 - 301,016 299,505 50 (1.561) (1,511)
Non-Agency MBS: (2)
Rated AAA 229,030 3,184 - 237,805 234275 - (3,530) (3,530)
Rated AA 2,253 - - 2253 2,218 - (35) (35)
Rated single A & A- 3,041 - (12) 3,029 3,014 - (15) (15)
Rated BBB and BBB- 9,024 - (17) 9,007 8,972 - (35) (35)
Rated BB and below 2,150 - (1) 2,140 2,255 115 - 115
Unrated 2,754 - (2) 2,752 3.451 739 - 739
Total $6257047 F 98838 S (41)  $ 6371,663 § 6340668 S 3,193 3 (34,188) & (30,995)

(1) Includes principal pavments receivable, which is not included in the Principal/Current Face,

(2) Based upon ratings by Standard & Poor's.

Agency MBS: Although Agency MBS carry an implied AAA rating, Agency MBS are guaranteed as to
principat and/or interest by a federally chartered corporation, such as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, or an agency of the
U.S. government, such as Ginnie Mae. The payment of principal and/or interest on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
MBS is guaranteed by those respective agencies and the payment of principal and/or interest on Ginnie Mae MBS is
backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government.
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Non-Agency MBS: The Company’s non-Agency MBS are certificates that are backed by pools of single-family
mortgage loans, which are not guaranteed by the U.S. government, any federal agency or any federally chartered
corporation. Non-Agency MBS may be rated from AAA to B by one or more of the Rating Agencies or may be
unrated. The rating indicates the credit worthiness of the investment (i.c., the obligor’s ability to meet its financial
commitment on the obligation).

Other Investments: At December 31, 2007, the Company’s other investment securities were comprised of
income notes. Income notes are unrated securities collateralized by capital securities of a diversified pool of issuers,
consisting primarily of depository institutions and insurance companies.

The Company monitors the performance and market value of its investment securities portfolio on an ongoing
basis. At December 31, 2007, the Company had 184 securities, with an amortized cost of $1.037 billion and fair
value of $1.023 billion, that had unrealized losses for 12 months or more. At December 31, 2007, these securities had
gross unrealized losses of $14.2 million, of which $10.2 million was attributable to Agency MBS and $4.0 million
was attributable to AAA rated MBS. The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and the estimated fair
value of the Company’s investment securities, aggregated by investment category or rating and length of time that
such securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2007,

Unrealized Loss Position for:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or more Total
Estimated Fair Unrealized Estimated Fair Unrealized Estimated Fair Unrealized

{In Thousands) Value losses Value losses Value losses
Agency MBS:

Fannie Mae b 231974 § 486 $ 681,538 § 7872 % 913,512 § 8358

Ginnie Mae 29,650 81 128,590 1,421 158,240 1,502

Freddie Mac 115,235 393 55,004 933 170,239 1,326
Non-Agency MBS:

Rated AAA 148,346 2,517 158,325 4,005 306,671 6,522

Rated AA 1,392 21 - - 1,392 21

Rated A 967 i9 - - 967 19

Rated BBB & BBB- 543 16 - - 543 16
Unrated MBS 1,639 1314 - - 1,639 1,314
Unrated other securities 1,614 301 - - 1,614 301

Total temporarily impaired securities  $ 531,360 § 5148 & 1,023457 § 14231  § 1,554,817 § 19,379

At December 31, 2007, the Company determined that it had the intent and ability to continue to hold those
investment securities on which it had unrealized losses until recovery of such unrealized losses or until maturity, such
that the impairment of these securities was considered temporary. In making this determination, the Company
considered that the decline in the value of Agency MBS to be primarily related to changes in market interest rates and
spreads, as the receipt of par is guaranteed by the respective Agency MBS guarantor and that all of the non-Agency
securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007 had maintained their rating. However, such
assessment may change over time given, among other things, the dynamic nature of interest rate markets and other
variables. Future sales or changes in the Company’s assessment of its ability and/or intent to hold impaired
investment securities until recovery or maturity could result in the Company recognizing other-than-temporary
impairment charges or realized losses in the future.

50




MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents the impact of the Company’s investment securities on the Company’s other
comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

For the Year Ended December 31,
{In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)/Income from
investment securities:

Unrealized loss on investment securities at beginning of year $§ (30995 3% (61,728) § (33,111)

Unrealized gain/(loss) on investment securities, net 49,352 6,165 (68,185)

Reclassification adjustment for net loss included in net

income from MBS 10,875 24,568 39,568
Balance at the end of year S 192132 $  (30995) § {61,728)

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company sold 32 MBS for $844.5 million, resulting in net losses
of $21.8 million, comprised of gross losses of $22.1 million and gross gains of $350,000. During the year ended
December 31, 2006, the Company sold 84 MBS for $1.844 billion, resulting in net realized losses of $23.1 million,
comprised of gross losses of $25.2 million and gross gains of $2.1 million.

The fotlowing table presents components of interest income on the Company’s MBS portfolio for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

December 31,

{In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Coupon interest on MBS $ 407,705 3 247,845 $ 292,313
Premium amortization (27,745) {31,085) {56,548)
Discount accretion 210 111 33
Interest income on MBS, net $ 380,170 § 216,871 § 235798

The following table presents certain information about the Company’s MBS that will reprice or amortize based
on contractual terms, which do not consider prepayment assumptions, at December 31, 2007.

December 31, 2007

Months te Coupon Reset or

Contractual Payment Fair Value % of Total WAC (1}
(Dollars In Thousands)
Within one month & 600,568 1.2% 6.55%
One to three months 67,114 .8 6.11
Three to 12 Months 507,935 6.1 6.27
One to two years 47,412 0.6 5.35
Two to three years 133,941 1.6 5.86
Three to five years 3,034,622 36.6 6.11
Five to ten years 3,909,591 47.1 6.01

Total $ 8,301,183 100.0% 6.10%

(1) "WAC" is the weighted average coupon rate on the Company's MBS, which is higher
than the net yield that will be earned on such MBS. The net yield is primarily reduced by
net preminm amorlization and the contractual delay in receiving paymenis, which delay
varies by issuer.,
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The following table presents information about the Company's MBS pledged as collateral under repurchase
agreements and in connection with Swaps at December 31, 2007.

MBS Pledged Under Repurchase

Agreements MBS Pledged for Swaps
Total Fair
Estimated Accrued Estimated Accrued Value of MBS
Fair Value/ Interest on Fair Value/ Interest on Pledged and
Carrying Amortized Pledged Carrying Amortized Pledged Accrued
MBS Pledged Value Cost MBS Value Cost Swaps Interest
{in Thousands)
Fannie Mae $ 7,063,599 §$ 7,023,674 § 35212 § 65270 % 65928 % 360§ 7.164.441
Freddie Mac 355,265 355,308 3,658 13,179 3,316 161 372,263
Ginnie Mae 132,350 133,533 652 1,459 1,451 8 134,469
Rated AAA 415,825 421,938 2,020 - - - 417,845
% 7967039 $ 7934453 § 41542 § 79908 § 80,695 § 529 3 8089018

4, Interest Receivable

The following table presents the amounts of the Company’s interest receivable by investment category at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

{in Thousands) 2007 2006
Agency MBS:
Fannie Mae § 36376 $ 21,592
Ginnie Mae 870 1,391
Freddie Mac 4,177 3,107
Non-Agency MBS:
Rated AAA 2,070 1,053
Rated AA T 9
Rated A & A- 5 6
Rated BBB and BBB- 3 I8
Rated BB and below 6 5
Unrated MBS 1 1
Total MBS $ 43,515 § 33,182
Unrated other securities 3 -
Cash investments 92

Total interest receivable $ 43,610 $ 33,182

5. Hedging Instruments

In connection with the Company’s interest rate risk management process, the Company periodically hedges a
portion of its interest rate risk by entering into derivative financial instrument contracts. At December 31, 2007, the
Company’s derivatives were comprised of Swaps, which had the effect of modifying the repricing characteristics of
the Company’s repurchase agreements and cash flows on such liabilities. The use of Hedging Instruments creates
exposure to credit risk relating to potential losses that could be recognized in the event that the counterparties to these
instruments fail to perform their obligations under the contracts. In addition, the Company is required to pledge
assets as collateral for certain of its Swaps, which amount varies over time based on the market value, notional
amount and remaining term of the Swap. The Company had MBS with a fair value of $79.9 million and $13.5
million pledged as collateral against its Swaps at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, and had
$4.5 million of cash (i.e., restricted cash) pledged against Swaps at December 31, 2007. 1n the event of a default by
the counterparty, the Company may not receive payments provided for under the terms of its Hedging Instruments,
and may have difficulty obtaining its assets pledged as collateral for Swaps.
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The following table presents the impact of the Company’s Hedging Instruments on the Company’s other
comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

For the Year Ended December 31,
{In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)/Income
from Hedging Instruments:

Balance at beginning of year § 602 § 3517 §% (1,989)
Unrealized {loss)}gain on Caps, net (83) (342) 2,735
Unrealized {loss)/gain on Swaps, net {100,252) (2,573) 2,771
Balance at the end of year $ (393 ¢ 602 % 3,517
{a) Interest Rate Swaps

Swaps are used by the Company to lock in a fixed interest rate on a portion of its current and anticipated future
repurchase agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company terminated six Swaps with an
aggregate notional amount of $305.2 million, resulting in net realized losses of $384,000. Correspondingly, the
Company also satisfied the repurchase agreements that such Swaps hedged.

The following table presents the weighted average rate paid on Swaps, the weighted average rate received on
Swaps and the impact of Swaps on the Company’s interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

For the Year Ended
December 31,
{Dollars In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Weighted average Swap rate paid 4.97% 4.31% 3.53%
Weighted average Swap rate received 5.20% 5.15% 357%

Net reduction to interest expense from Swaps  § 6,507 $ 4,124 $ 108

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s Swaps had a weighted average remaining term of 30 months. At
December 31, 2007, the Company’s Swaps extended a maximum of 85 months. The following table presents
information about the Company’s Swaps at December 31, 2007, all of which were active.

Weighted
Average Estimated Fair Gross Gross
Notional  Fixed Pay Value/Carrying Unrealized Unrealized
(Dollars In Thousands) Amount  Swap Rate Value Gains (Losses)
Currently Active $ 4,627,560 483% § (99,733) $ 103§ (99.836)

{b) Interest Rate Caps

Caps are designated by the Company as cash flow hedges against interest rate risk associated with the
Company’s existing and forecasted repurchase agreements. When the 30-day LIBOR increases above the rate
specified in the Cap Agreement during the effective term of the Cap, the Company receives monthly payments from
its Cap counterparty. The Company had no Caps at December 31, 2007.

The following table presents the impact of Caps on the Company’s interest expense for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

For Year Ended December 31,

{In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Premium amortization on Caps ) 71 5 1,700 $§ 1578
Payments earned on Caps (327 (2,807) (316)

Net (reducticn)increase on interest expense related to Caps  § 49 $ (1,107 § 1,262
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6. Real Estate and Discontinued Operations

(a) Real Estate
The Company’s investment in real estate at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 was comprised of an
indirect 100% ownership interest in Lealand, a 191-unit apartment property located in Lawrenceville, Georgia. The
following table presents the summary of assets and liabilities of Lealand at December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006.
December 31,
{In Thousands) 2007 2006

Real Estate Assets and Liabilities:
Land and buildings, net of

accumulated depreciation 5 1,611 $ 11,789
Cash 26 126
Prepaid and other assets 260 146
Mortgages payable (/) (9.462) {9,606)
Accrued interest and other payables {256) (122)
Real estate assets, net $ 2,179 § 2,333

(1} The morigage collateralized by Lealand is non-recourse, subject to customary non-recourse exceptions, which generally means that the
lender’s final source of repayment in the event of default is foreclosure of the property securing such logn. At December 31, 2007 and December
31, 2006, the morigage had a fixed interest rate of 6.87%, which contractually matures on Februarv I, 2011 and is subject to a penalty if prepaid.
The Company has made loans to Lealand o fund operations, and at December 31, 2007 and 2006, Lealand owed the Company 3185,000 and
$120,000, respectively for suck loans. This loan and the related interest accounts are eliminated in consolidation,

The following table presents the summary results of operations for Lealand, for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005.

December M,

{In Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Revenue from operations of real estate $ 1,638 $ 1,556 $ 1,460
Mortgage interest expense {664) (675) (682)
Other real estate operating expense (1,100) (942) (991)
Loss from real estate operations, net 3 (126) 3 {61) $ (213)

(b) Discontinued Operations

The Company’s discontinued operations reflect the operating results for Cameron and Greenhouse, each
indirectly owned by the Company through wholly-owned subsidiaries, which were sold during 2006. The sale of
these properties resulted in the Company realizing a net gain of $4.4 million, net of a built-in gains tax of $1.8 million
incurred upon the sale of one property and selling costs. In addition, mortgage prepayment penalties of $712,000
were incurred upon the satisfaction of the mortgages secured by these properties. During the quarter ended
December 31, 2007, the Company recognized income of $257,000 related to a reduction of the built-in gains tax
previously recognized on the sale of Greenhouse. The historical results of operations for both Cameron and
Greenhouse, which are neither individually nor in the aggregate material to the Company, have been reclassified and
reported as a net component of discontinued operations.

7. Repurchase Agreements

The Company’s repurchase agreements are collateralized by the Company’s MBS and typically bear interest at
rates that are LIBOR-based. At December 31, 2007, the Company’s repurchase agreements had a weighted average
remaining contractual maturity of approximately five months and an effective repricing period of 23 months with the
impact of related Swap hedges. At December 31, 2006, the Company’s repurchase agreements had a weighted
average remaining contractual maturity of 11 months and an effective repricing period of 15 months with the impact
of related Swap hedges.
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The following table presents contractual repricing information about the Company’s repurchase agreements,
which does not reflect the impact of related derivative hedges, at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Weighted Average Weighted Average

Maturity (1} Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(Dollars In Thousands)
Within 30 days $ 4435676 5.05% § 2,848,300 5.30%
30 days to 3 months 1,225,502 4.96 1,017,900 5.10
Over 3 months to 6 months 417,900 5.20 37,200 398
Over 6 months to 12 months - - - -
QOver 12 months to 24 months 1,162,935 522 1,505,311 5.16
QOver 24 months to 36 months 75,901 4.94 314,000 533
Over 36 months 208,100 4.67 - -

$ 7,526,014 5.06% 3 5,722,711 5.22%

(1} Swaps, which are not reflected in the table, in effect modify the repricing period and rate paid on the
Company's repurchase agreements. (See Note 5.)

The following table presents information about the Company's MBS that are pledged as collateral under
repurchase agreements based upon the term to maturity of the repurchase agreements at December 31, 2007.

Term to Contractual Maturity on Repurchase Agreement

Fair Value of Up to 30t0 90 Over
MBS Collatersl Collateral 30 Days Days 90 Days Total
(In Thousands})
Agency MBS $ 7,551,214 $ 4083634 $ 1,199,186 5 1,864,836 § 7,147,656
AAA Rated 415,825 352,042 26,316 - 378,358

§ 7,967,039 $ 4435676 % 1,225,502 § 1,864,836 § 7,526,014

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments and Contingencies

The Company pays monthly rent pursuant to two separate operating leases. The Company's lease for its
corporate headquarters extends through April 30, 2017 and provides for aggregate cash payments ranging from
approximately $1.1 million to $1.4 million per year, exclusive of escalation charges and landlord incentives. In
connection with this lease, the Company established a $350,000 irrevocable standby letter of credit in lieu of lease
security for the benefit of the landlord through April 30, 2017. The letter of credit may be drawn upon by the
landlord in the event that the Company defaults under certain terms of the lease. In addition, at December 31, 2007,
the Company had a lease through December 2011 for its off-site back-up facilities located in Rockville Centre, New
York, which provides for, among other things, rent of approximately $27,000 per year.

At December 31, 2007, the contractual minimum rental payments {(exclusive of possible rent escalation charges
and normal recurring charges for maintenance, insurance and taxes) were as follows:

Year Ended Minimum Rental
December 31, Payments
(Dollars In Thousands)
2008 5 1,069
2009 1,079
2010 1,099
2011 B,1E5
2012 1183
Thereafter 6,158

$ 11,703
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9. Stockholders’ Equity

(a) Dividends on Preferred Stock

At December 31, 2007, the Company had issued and outstanding 3.8 million shares of Series A preferred stock,
with a par value $0.01 per share and a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share. The Company’s preferred stock,
which is redeemable at $25.00 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) exclusively at
the Company’s option commencing on April 27, 2009 (subject to the Company’s right under limited circumstances to
redeem the preferred stock prior to that date in order to preserve its qualification as a REIT), is senior to the
Company’s common stock with respect to dividends and distributions. The preferred stock must be paid a dividend
at a rate of 8.50% per year on the $25.00 liquidation preference before our commaon stock is entitled to receive any
dividends and is senior to our common stock with respect to distributions upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up.
The preferred stock generally does not have any voting rights, subject to an exception in the event Company’s fails to
pay dividends on the preferred stock for six or more quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive). Under such
circumstances, the preferred stock will be entitled to vote to elect two additional directors to the Board, until all
unpaid dividends have been paid or declared and set apart for payment. In addition, certain material and adverse
changes to the terms of the preferred stock cannot be made without the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3%
of the outstanding shares of preferred stock. Through December 31, 2007, the Company had declared and paid all
required quarterly dividends on the preferred stock.

The following table presents dividends declared by the Company on its preferred stock, for each of the three
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Cash

Dividend

Year Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Per Share
2007 February 16, 2007 March 1, 2007 March 30, 2607 $ 053125
May 21, 2007 June 1, 2007 June 29, 2007 0.53125

August 24, 2007 September 4, 2007 September 28, 2007 0.53125
November 21, 2007 December 3, 2007 December 31, 2007 0.53125

2006 February 17, 2006 March 1, 2006 March 31, 2006 $ 053125
May 19, 2006 June 1, 2006 June 30, 2006 0.53125

August 21, 2006 September 1, 2006 September 29, 2006 0.53125
November 20, 2006 December 1, 2006 December 29, 2006 0.53125

2005 February 18, 2005 March 1, 2005 March 31, 2005 $ 053125
May 20, 2005 June 1, 2005 June 30, 2005 0.53125

August 19, 2005 September 1, 2005 September 30, 2005 0.53125
November 18, 2005 December 1, 2005 December 30, 2005 0.53125

(b) Dividends on Commaon Stock

The Company typically declares quarterly cash dividends on its common stock in the month following the close
of each fiscal quarter, except that dividends for the fourth quarter of each year are declared in that quarter for tax

reasons related to its REIT status,
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The following table presents cash dividends declared by the Company on its common stock during each of the
three years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Dividend

Year Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Per Share
2007 April 3, 2007 April 13,2007 April 30, 2007 § 0.080
July 2, 2007 July 13, 2007 July 31, 2007 0.090
October 1, 2007 October 12, 2007 QOctober 31, 2007 0.100
December 13, 2007 December 31,2007  January 31, 2008 0.145

2006  April 3, 2006 April 17, 2006 April 28, 2006 $ 0050
July 5, 2006 July 17, 2006 July 31, 2006 0.050

October 2, 2006 October 13, 2006 October 31, 2006 0.050
December 14, 2006 December 29, 2006 January 31, 2007 0.060

2005 April 1,2005 April 12, 2005 April 29, 2005 $ 0.180
July 1, 2005 July 12, 2005 July 29, 2005 0.125

October 3, 2005 October 14, 2005 October 28, 2005 0.050
December 15, 2005 December 27,2005 January 31, 2006 0.050

In general, the Company’'s common stock dividends have been characterized as ordinary income to its
stockholders for income tax purposes. However, a portion of the Company’s common stock dividends may, from
time to time, be characterized as capital gains or return of capital. For income tax purposes, for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, all of the Company’s common stock dividends were characterized as ordinary
income to stockholders, and a portion of such dividends declared was treated as a dividend to stockholders in the
subsequent year.

(c} Shelf Registrations

On October 19, 2007, the Company filed an automatic shelf registration statement on Form S5-3 with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act™) with
respect to an indeterminate amount of common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares representing preferred stock
and/or warrants that may be sold by the Company from time to time pursuant to Rule 415 of the 1933 Act. Pursuant
to Rule 462(e) of the 1933 Act, this registration statement became effective automatically upon filing with the SEC.
On November 5, 2007, the Company filed a post-effective amendment to this automatic shelf registration statement,
which became effective automatically upon filing with the SEC.

On December 17, 2004, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-8 with the SEC under the 1933
Act for the purpose of registering additional commeon stock for issuance in connection with the exercise of awards
under the Company’s 2004 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2004 Plan”), which amended and restated the
Company’s Second Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Plan™). This registration statement
became effective automatically upon filing and, when combined with the previously registered, but unissued, portions
of the Company’s prior registration statements on Form S-8 relating to awards under the 1997 Plan, related to an
aggregate of 3.3 million shares of common stock, of which 1.9 million shares remained available for issuance at
December 31, 2007,

On December 17, 2004, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC under the
1933 Act for the purpose of registering additional common stock for sale through the DRSPP. This shelf registration
statement was declared effective by the SEC on January 4, 2005 and, when combined with the unused portion of the
Company’s previous DRSPP shelf registration statement, registered an aggregate of 10 million shares of common
stock. At December 31, 2007, 8.5 million shares of common stock remained available for issuance pursuant to the
DRSPP shelf registration statement.

(d) Public Offerings of Common Stock

On November 14, 2007, the Company completed a public offering of 17,250,000 shares of common stock, which
included the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in full, at a public offering price of $7.95 per share
and received net proceeds of approximately $130.0 million after the payment of underwriting discounts and
commissions and related expenses.
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On October 5, 2007, the Company completed a public offering of 8,050,000 shares of common stock, which
included the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in full, at a public offering price of $7.90 per share
and received net proceeds of approximately $60.2 million after the payment of underwriting discounts and
commissions and related expenses.

On September 12, 2007, the Company completed a public offering of 12,650,000 shares of common stock, which
included the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in full, at a public offering price of $7.25 per share
and received net proceeds of approximately $86.9 million after the payment of underwriting discounts and
commissions and related expenses.

(¢) DRSPP

Commencing in September 2003, the Company’s DRSPP, which is designed to provide existing stockholders
and new investors with a convenient and economical way to purchase shares of common stock (through the automatic
reinvestment of dividends and/or optional monthly cash investments) became operational. During the quarter ended
December 31, 2007, the Company issued 966,059 shares of common stock through the DRSPP raising net proceeds
of $8.0 million. During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued 978,086, 3,509 and
368,702 shares of common stock through the DRSPP raising net proceeds of $8,067,213, $27,299 and $3,018,084,
respectively. From the inception of the DRSPP through December 31, 2007, the Company issued 13,041,718 shares
pursuant to the DRSPP raising net proceeds of $118.9 million.

() Controlled Equity Offering Program

On August 20, 2004, the Company initiated a controlled equity offering program (the “CEO Program™) through
which it may, from time to time, publicly offer and sell shares of common stock through Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
(“Cantor”) in privately negotiated and/or at-the-market transactions. During the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006, the Company issued 3,206,000 and 1,461,600 shares of common stock in at-the-market transactions through
the CEO Program, raising net proceeds of $23,891,416 and $11,170,052, respectively. The Company did not issue
any shares through the CEO Program during the year ended December 31, 2005. In connection with such
transactions, the Company paid Cantor fees and commissions of $557,119 and $286,361 for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. From inception of the CEQ Program through December 31, 2007, the
Company issued 6,500,815 shares of common stock in at-the-market transactions through such program raising net
proceeds of $51,543,121 and, in connection with such transactions, paid Cantor fees and commissions of $1,263,421.
Shares for the CEQ Program are issued through the automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed on
October 19, 2007.

(g) Stock Repurchase Program

On August 11, 2005, the Company announced the implementation of a stock repurchase program (the
“Repurchase Program™) to repurchase up to 4.0 million shares of its outstanding common stock. Subject to
applicable securities laws, repurchases of common stock under the Repurchase Program are made at times and in
amounts as the Company deems appropriate, using available cash resources. Shares of common stock repurchased by
the Company under the Repurchase Program are cancelled and, until reissued by the Company, are deemed to be the
authorized but unissued shares of the Company’s common stock.

From inception of the Repurchase Program through December 31, 2007, the Company repurchased 3,191,200
shares of common stock at an average cost per share of $5.90. On May 2, 2006, the Company announced an increase
in the size of the Repurchase Program, by an additional 3,191,200 shares of common stock, resetting the number of
shares of common stock that the Company is authorized to repurchase to 4.0 million shares. At December 31, 2007,
4.0 million shares remained authorized for repurchase, The Repurchase Program may be suspended or discontinued
by the Company at any time and without prior notice. The Company has not repurchased any shares of its common
stock under the Repurchase Program since April 2006.
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10. EPS Calculation

The following table presents a reconciliation of the eamnings and shares used in calculating basic and diluted EPS
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) 2007 2006 2005

Numerator:

Net income to commons stockholders:

Net income $ 30,210 $ 8,758 5 6,708
Net income/{loss) from discontinued operations 257 3,522 (86)
Net income from continuing operations 29,953 5,236 6,794
Dividends declared on preferred stock (8,160) (8,160) (8,i60)
Net (loss)/income to commeon steckholders from

continuing operations for basic and diluted earnings per share 21,793 (2,924) {1,366)
Net income/(loss) from discontinued operations 257 3,522 (86)
Net income/(loss) to common stockholders from

continuing operations § 22,050 3 598 3 (1,452)
Denominator:

Weighted average common shares for basic eamnings per share 90,610 79,526 82,025
Weighted average effect of dilutive employee stock options 30 29 ) -
Dencminator for diluted eamings per share (2} 90,640 79,555 82,025

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share:

Continuing operations s 0.24 $ (0.03} $ (0.02)
Discontinued operations - 0.04 -
Total Basic and Diluted eamings per share S 0.24 $ 0.01 $ (0.02)

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2003, securities issuable pursuant io the exercise of the Company’s common stock options that
could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future are not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because
to have done so would have been anti-dilutive, as 20035 was a loss year.

(2) The impact of dilutive stock options is not included in the computation of earnings per share from continuing operations and
discontinued operations for periods in which their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

11

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was as follows:

{In Thousands) 2007 2006

Available-for-sale Investment Securities:

Unrealized gain $§ 48,611 $ 3,193

Unrealized {loss} (19,379) (34,188)
19,232 (30,995)

Hedging Instruments:

Unrealized (loss) gain on Swaps, net (99,733) 519

Unrealized gain on Caps - 83
(99,733) 602

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) $ (70,501 $ (30,393
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12. Equity Compensation, Employment Agreements and Qther Benefit Plans

(a) 2004 Equity Compensation Plan

In accordance with the terms of the 2004 Plan, directors, officers and employees of the Company and any of its
subsidiaries and other persons expected to provide significant services (of a type expressly approved by the
Compensation Committee of the Board as covered services for these purposes) for the Company and any of its
subsidiaries are eligible to receive grants of stock options (“Options™), restricted stock, RSUs, DERs and other
stock-based awards under the 2004 Plan.

In general, subject to certain exceptions, stock-based awards relating to a maximum of 3.5 million shares of
common stock may be granted under the 2004 Plan; forfeitures and/or awards that expire unexercised do not count
towards such limit. At December 31, 2007, 1.9 million shares of common stock remained available for grant under
the 2004 Plan. Subject to certain exceptions, a participant may not receive stock-based awards in excess of 500,000
shares of common stock in any one-year and no award may be granted to any person who, assuming exercise of all
Options and payment of all awards held by such person, would own or be deemed to own more than 9.8% of the
outstanding shares of the Company’s capital stock. Unless previously terminated by the Board, awards may be
granted under the 2004 Plan until the tenth anniversary of the date that the Company’s stockholders approved such
plan.

A DER is a right to receive, as specified by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant, a distribution
equal to the dividend that would be paid on a share of common stock. DERs may be granted separately or together
with other awards and are paid in cash or other consideration at such times, and in accordance with such rules, as the
Compensation Commitiee shall determine in its discretion. Distributions are made with respect to vested DERs only
to the extent of ordinary income and DERs are not entitled to distributions representing a return of capital. Payments
made on the Company’s DERs are charged to stockholders” equity when the corresponding common stock dividends
are declared. The Company made DER payments, which were charged against stockholders’ equity, of $445,000,
$188,000 and $296,000, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, At December 31,
2007, the Company had 960,750 DERs outstanding, all of which were vested.

Options

Pursuant to Section 422(b) of the Code, in order for stock options granted under the 2004 Plan and vesting in any
one calendar year to qualify as an incentive stock option (“ISO”) for tax purposes, the market value of our common
stock, as determined on the date of grant, shall not exceed $100,000 during a calendar year. The exercise price of an
ISO may not be lower than 100% (110% in the case of an ISO granted to a 10% stockholder) of the fair market value
of our common stock on the date of grant. The exercise price for any other type of Option so issued may not be less
than the fair market value on the date of grant. Each Option is exercisable after the period or periods specified in the
award agreement, which will generally not exceed ten years from the date of grant. Options will be exercisable at
such times and subject to such terms set forth in the related Option award agreement, which terms are determined by
the Compensation Committee. No Options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035,
At December 31, 2007, all Options outstanding were vested and had a weighted average remaining contractual term
of 3.5 years. As of December 31, 2007, the aggregate intrinsic value of total Options outstanding was $438,000.

The following table presents information about the Company’s Options for the periods presented.

2007 2006 2008

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price

Qutstanding at beginning of year: 962,000 § 933 962,000 § 933 1,087,000 § 934
Granted - - - - - -
Cancelled, forfeited or expired - - - - (125,000 9.38
Exercised - - - . - .
Qutstanding at end of year 962,000 b 9.33 962,000 § 9.33 962,000 $ 9.33
Options exercisable at end of year 962,000 § 933 949,500 § 932 824,000 $ 918
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Certain information about the Company’s Options that were outstanding as of December 31, 2007 is set forth

below:
Weighted Average

Remaining
Weighted Average Contractual Life

Exercise Price or Price Range Options Qutstanding Exercise Price (Years)
$ 4388 100,000 $ 4.88 1.6
8.40 30,000 8.40 6.6
9.38 330,000 9.38 0.3
10.23 - 10.25 502,000 10.25 5.8
962,000 3 9.33 3.5

Restricted Stock

During the vears ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company issued 57,745 and 35,738 shares of
restricted common stock, respectively. The Company did not grant or have outstanding any shares of restricted stock
prior to 2006. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had unrecognized compensation expense of $200,000
and $84,000, respectively, related to the unvested shares of restricted common stock. The following table presents
information about the Company’s restricted stock awards for the periods presented:

2007 2006
Weighted Weighted
Shares of Average Shares of Average
Restricted Price on Restricted Price on
Stock Grant Date Stock Grant Date
Outstanding at beginning of year: 35738 $  1.00 - $ -
Granted () 57,745 823 35,738 7.00
Cancelled/forfeited - - - -
Qutstanding at end of year 93483 $ 1.76 35738 § 7.00
Shares vested at end of year 69909 S 747 24917 %5 665

(1} Awards vested 25% upon gramt, and vest 25% per vear for each of the next three years on the
grant date anniversary. Grants for which there is no substantial risk of forfeiture are considered
vesied at the time of grant,

Restricted Stock Units

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company granted an aggregate of 326,392 RSUs, with a
corresponding number of DERs attached, to certain of its employees. RSUs, upon vesting, are settled in an
equivalent number of shares of the Company’s common stock. At December 31, 2007, all of the Company’s RSUs
outstanding were subject to cliff vesting on December 31, 2010 or earlier in the event of death or disability of the
grantee or termination of an employee for any reason, other than “cause”, as defined in the related RSU award
agreement. RSUs are to be settled in shares of the Company’s common stock on the earlier of a termination of
service, a change in control or on January 1, 2013, as described in the related award agreement. At December 31,
2007, the Company had unrecognized compensation expense of $2.7 miilion related to the unvested RSUs.

The following table presents expenses recorded by the Company related to its equity based compensation
instruments for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

For the Year Ended December 31,

(fn Thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Options 8 5 3 3714y % {493)
Restricted shares of common stock (359 (165) -
RSUs (148) - -
3 (512) § (539 § (493)

() Employment Agreements

The Company has an employment agreement with each of its five senior officers, with varying terms that provide
for, among other things, base salary, bonuses and change-in-control provisions that are subject to the occurrence of
certain triggering events.
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(c) Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company administers the MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. 2003 Non-employee Directors’ Deferred
Compensation Plan and the MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. Senior Officers Deferred Bonus Plan (collectively, the
“Deferred Plans™). Pursuant to the Deferred Plans, directors and senior officers of the Company may elect to defer a
certain percentage of their compensation. The Deferred Plans are intended to provide non-employee Directors and
senior officers of the Company with an opportunity to defer up to 100% of certain compensation, as defined in the
Deferred Plans, while at the same time aligning their interests with the interests of the Company’s stockholders.
Amounts deferred are considered to be converted into “stock units” of the Company. Stock units do not represent
stock of the Company, but rather represent a liability that increases or decreases in value as would equivalent shares
of the Company’s common stock. Deferred compensation liabilities are settled in cash at the termination of the
deferral period, based on the value of the stock units at that time. The Deferred Plans are non-qualified plans under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and, as such, are not funded. Prior to the time that the deferred
accounts are settled, participants are unsecured creditors of the Company. Effective January 1, 2007, the Board
resolved to suspend indefinitely the directors’ ability to defer additional compensation under the MFA Mortgage
Investments, Inc. 2003 Non-employee Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan.

The following table presents the aggregate amount of income deferred by participants of the Deferred Plans
through December 31, 2007 and 2006 the Company’s associated liability under such plans based on the market value
of the Company’s liability for its obligations under Deferred Plans at such dates.

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Cumulative Cumulative
Deferred  Liability Under Deferred Liability Under
(In Thousands) Encome Deferred Plans Income Deferred Plans
Directors® deferred $ 551 3 745 5 551 $ 594
Officers’ deferred 282 348 282 277

3 £33 $ 1,093 3 833 $ 871

(d) Savings Plan

The Company sponsors a tax-qualified employee savings plan (the “Savings Plan™), in accordance with Section
401(k) of the Code. Subject to certain restrictions, all of the Company’s employees are eligible to make tax deferred
contributions to the Savings Plan subject to limitations under applicable law. Participant’s accounts are self-directed
and the Company bears the costs of administering the Savings Plan. The Company matches 100% of the first 3% of
eligible compensation deferred by employees and 50% of the next 2%, subject to a maximum as provided by the
Code. The Company has elected to operate the Savings Plan under applicable safe harbor provisions of the Code,
whereby among other things, the Company must make contributions for all participating employees and all matches
contributed by the Company immediately vest 100%. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 the
Company recognized expenses for matching contributions of $92,000, $78,000 and $77,000, respectively.
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13. Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FAS No. 107 “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” defines the fair value of a financial
instrument as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties.
The televance and reliability of the estimates of fair values presented are limited, given the dynamic nature of market
conditions, assumptions made in calculating certain estimates of fair values and other factors over time. The
following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

2007 2006
Carrying  Estimated Carrying Estimated
{In Thousands) Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents § 234410 § 234410 S 47,200 § 47200

Restricted cash 4,517 4,517 - -

Investment securities 8,302,797 8,302,797 6,340,668 6,340,668

Hedging assets 103 103 2,773 2,773
Financial Liabilities:

Repurchase agreements 7,526,014 7,548,968 5,722,711 5,717,381

Real estate mortgages 9,462 9,812 9,606 10,268

Hedging liabilities 99 836 99.836 1,893 1,893

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in arriving at the estimated fair value of its
financial instruments presented in the above table:

Investment Securities: Reflects prices obtained from a third-party pricing service or, if pricing is not available
for a particular security from such pricing service, the average of broker quotes received for such security is used to
determine the estimated fair value of such security.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash: Estimated fair value approximates the carrying value of such
assets.

Repurchase agreements: Reflects the present value of the contractual cash flow discounted at LIBOR quoted at
the valuation date, for the term closest to the weighted average term to maturity of the aggregate repurchase
agreements.

Real Estate Mortgages: Reflects the contractual cash flows of the mortgage discounted at a market interest rate
that the Company would expect to pay, if such mortgage obligation, based on the remaining terms, were financed at
the valuation date.

Hedging Assets and Liabilities: The fair value of Hedging Instruments is based on each instrument’s terms
relative to the forward curve at the valuation date, which approximates the amount at which such instruments could
be settled with each respective hedging counterparty.

Commitments: Commitments to purchase securities are derived by applying the fees currently charged to enter
into similar agreements, taking into account remaining terms of the agreements and the present credit worthiness of
the counterparties. The Company did not have any commitments to purchase MBS at December 31, 2007, The
securities committed to be purchased at December 31, 2006 would have been offered at substantially the same price
and under substantially the same terms as those committed to be purchased at such date; therefore, the estimated fair
value of the Company’s purchase commitments was zero at December 31, 2006,
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14. Summary of Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

2007 Quarter Ended

{in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Interest income § 84,795 § 91,026 $ 96,716 $ 112,284
Interest expense {72.260) (78,348) (81,816) (88,881)
Net interest income 12,535 12,678 14,900 23,403
Gain (loss) on sale of MBS, net (1) 3 (116) {22,027y 347
Gain (loss) on early termination of Swaps - 176 (560) -
Other income 528 521 508 502
Operating and other expenses (3,216) (3,082) (3,511) (3,637)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 9,850 10,178 (10,690) 20,615
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - - 257 -
Net income (loss) before preferred dividends 9,850 10,178 (10,433) 20,615
Preferred stock dividends (2,040) (2,040} {2,040) (2,040)
Net lncome (Loss) to Common Stockholders $ 7810 $ 8,138 $  (12.473) ) 18,575
Per Share:
Eamings (loss) from continuing operations - basic and diluted 0.10 0.10 $ (0.15) 0.16
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations - basic and diluted - - $ - -
Eamings (loss) per share - basic and diluted 0.10 0.10 3 (0.15) 0.16
2006 Quarter Ended
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounis) March 31 June 3¢ September 30 December 31
Interest income § 53,995 S 46,185 § 47532 § 71480
Interest expense (42,785) (38.818) (38,205) (62,114)
Net interest income 11,210 1,367 9,327 9,366
Gain (loss) on sale of MBS, net (2) 1,597 (24,746) 36 -
Other income 621 593 533 517
Operating and other expenses (3,093) (2.391) (2,818) (2,383)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 10,335 (19.677) 7,078 7,500
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 4,628 (56) (1} {1,049)
Net income (loss) before preferred dividends 14,963 {19,733) 7,077 6,451
Preferred stock dividends (2,040) (2,040) (2,040 (2,040}
Net Income {Loss) to Common Stockholders $ 12,923 S 21,773 8 5,037 $ 4,411
Per Share:
Eamnings (loss) from continuing operations - basic and diluted $ 0.10 3 (0.27) .06 3 0.07
Earnings (logs) from discontinued operations - basic and dituted S 0.06 $ - - $ (0.01)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic and diluted S 0.16 $ 027y § 0.06 $ 0.06

(1) Primarily in the third quarter of 2007, we selecrively sold certain of our MBS. These sales were primarily made pursuant to the Company's
straregy to reduce its asset base by selling higher duration and fower yielding ARM-MBS,

(2) During 20006, the Company sold approximately $1.844 billion of MBS, realizing net losses of $23.1 million, comprised of gross losses 0f 325.2
mitlion and gross gains of §2.4 million. These sales were primarily made pursuant to the Company’s strategy (o reduce its asser base by

selling higher duration and lower yielding ARM-MBS.
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15. Subsequent Events

(a) CEQ Program

On January 7, 2008, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Agreement™) with Cantor, as sales agent.
In accordance with the terms of the Agreement, the Company may offer and sell up to 12,500,000 shares of common
stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Shares™) from time to time through Cantor. Sales of the Shares, if any, may be
made in privately negotiated transactions and/or any other method permitted by law, including, but not limited to,
sales at other than a fixed price made on or through the facilities of the New York Stock Exchange, or sales made to
or through a market maker or through an electronic communications network, or in any other manner that may be
deemed to be an “at-the-market offering” as defined in Rule 415 of the 1933 Act. Cantor will make all sales on a best
efforts basis using commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices on mutually
agreed terms between the Company and Cantor.

(b) Issuance of Common Stock

On January 23, 2008, the Company completed a public offering of 28,750,000 shares of common stock, which
included the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in full, at a public offering price of $9.25 per share
and received net proceeds of approximately $253.0 million after the payment of underwriting discounts and
commissions and related expenses.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures,

A review and evaluation was performed by the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (the “CEQO”) and Chief Financial Officer (the “CFQ™), of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such terms are defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (*1934 Act™)) as of the end of the period covered
by this annual report on Form 10-K. Based on that review and evaluation, the CEO and CFQ have concluded that
the Company’s current disclosure controls and procedures, as designed and implemented, were effective.

Management Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-13(f) and 15d-
15(f) promulgated under the 1934 Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s Board, management and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:

»  pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

»  provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

+  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, In making this assessment, the Company’s management used criteria set forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework.

Based on its assessment, the Company’s management beligves that, as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. There have been no changes in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting,

The Company’s independent auditors, Ermnst & Young LLP, have issued an attestation report on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This report appears on page 67 of this
annual report on Form 10-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc.

We have audited MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc.’s (the “Company™) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO” criteria). The Company’s
management 1s responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financtal statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate,

In our opinion, MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. maintained in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, cash flows, and comprehensive
income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, and our report dated February 12, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 12, 2008
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART 1

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,

The information regarding the Company’s directors and certain other matters required by Item 401 of
Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s proxy statement, relating to its 2008 annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 21, 2008 (the “Proxy Statement™), to be filed with the SEC within 120
days after December 31, 2007.

The information regarding the Company’s executive officers required by Item 401 of Regulation 5-K appears
under [tem 4A of this annual report on Form 10-K.

The information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act required by Item 405 of Regulation
S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after
December 31, 2007.

The information regarding the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics required by Item 406 of
Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after December 31, 2007.

The information regarding certain matters pertaining to the Company’s corporate governance required by ltem
407(c)3), (d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with
the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2007.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information regarding executive compensation and other compensation related matters required by Items
402 and 407(e)(4) and (e)(3) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2007.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The tables on equity compensation plan information and beneficial ownership of the Company required by
Items 201(d) and 403 of Regulation S-K are incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed with
the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2007.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information regarding transactions with related persons, promoters and certain control persons and director
independence required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy
Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2007.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information concerning principal accounting fees and services and the Audit Committee’s pre-approval
policies and procedures required by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2007.
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PART 1V

Item 15, Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of the report

(b)

The following documents are filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:

Financial Statements, The consolidated financial statements of the Company, together with the
independent registered public accounting firm’s report thereon, are set forth on pages 36 through 66 of this
annual report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

Schedules to Financial Statements.

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

3.1  Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 of the Form 8-K, dated April 10, 1998, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act
{Commission File No. 1-13991)).

3.2 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant,
dated August 5, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Form 8-K, dated August 13,
2002, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No, 1-13991)),

3.3 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant,
dated August 13, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Form 10-Q, for the quarter
ended December 31, 2002, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. I-
13991)).

3.4  Articles Supplementary of the Registrant, dated April 22, 2004, designating the Registrant’s 8.50%
Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the
Form 8-A, dated April 23, 2004, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-
13991)).

3.5 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of
the Form 8-K, dated August 13, 2002, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File
No. 1-13991)).

4.1  Specimen of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4, dated February 12, 1998, filed by the Registrant
pursuant to the 1933 Act (Commission File No. 333-46179)).

4.2 Specimen of Stock certificate representing the 8.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock of the Registrant {incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4 of the Form 8-A, dated April 23,
2004, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10.1 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Stewart Zimmerman, dated as of April 16, 2006
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K, dated April 25, 2006, filed by the
Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10,2 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of William S. Gorin, dated as of April 16, 2006
{incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Form 8-K, dated April 25, 2006, filed by the
Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10.3 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Ronald A. Freydberg, dated as of April 16, 2006
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10,2 of the Form R-K, dated April 25, 2006, filed by the
Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991}),

10.4 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Teresa D, Covello, dated as of January 1, 2008
{incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Form 8-K, dated January 2, 2008, filed by the
Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).
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{c)

10.5 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Timothy W. Korth I, dated as of January 1,
2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K, dated January 2, 2008, filed by the
Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act {Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10.6 2004 Equity Compensation Plan of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3, dated July 21, 2004,
filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1933 Act (Commission File No. 333-106606)).

10.7 MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. Senior Officers Deferred Compensation Plan, adopted December
19, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Form 10-K, dated December 31, 2002,
filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10.8 MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. 2003 Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan,
adopted December 19, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Form 10-K, dated
December 31, 2002, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10.9 Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement relating to the Registrant’s 2004 Equity
Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Form 10-Q, dated December
31, 2004, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

10.10 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement relating to the Registrant’s 2004 Equity
Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Form 10-Q, dated December
31, 2004, filed by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991}).

10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement relating to the Registrant’s 2004 Equity Compensation
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Form 10-Q, dated December 31, 2004, filed
by the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File Na. 1-13991)).

10.12 Form of Phantom Share Award Agreement relating to the Registrant’s 2004 Equity Compensation
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Form 8-K, dated October 23, 2007, filed by
the Registrant pursuant to the 1934 Act (Commission File No. 1-13991)).

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Assets to Equity.
12.2 Computation of Ratio of Debt to Equity.
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

Financial Statement Schedules required by Regulation S-X

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is presented in the consolidated financial statements and/or in the notes to consolidated
financial statements filed in response to Item & of this annual report on Form 10-K.
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Date: February 13, 2008

Date: February 13, 2008

Date; February 13, 2008

Date: February 13, 2008

Date: February 13, 2008

Date: February 13, 2008

Date: February 13, 2008

SIGNATURES

- Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc.

By /s/ Stewart Zimmerman
Stewart Zimmerman
Chief Executive Officer and President

By /s/ William S. Gorin
William S. Gorin
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

By /s/ Teresa D. Covello
Teresa D. Covello
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By /s/ Stewart Zimmerman
Stewart Zimmerman
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

By /s/ Stephen R. Blank
Stephen R. Blank

Director

By /s/ Edison C. Buchanan
Edison C. Buchanan
Director

By /s/ Michael L. Dahir
Michael L. Dahir
Director

By /s/ Alan Gosule
Alan Gosule
Director

By /s/ George Krauss
George Krauss

Director
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph and table provide a comparison of the cumulative total stockholder return on MFA’s common
stock, the Standard & Poot’s 500 Stock Index, the Bloomberg REIT Morigage Index {or BBG REIT Index) and a custom
mortgage-REIT peer group for the period from December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2007, In determining the returns, it is
assumed that $100 was invested in MFA’s common stock and each of the three other indices on December 31, 2002 and that
all dividends were reinvested.

$200

$150

$50
$0 " ' T T .
Dec-02 Dec-03 Dec-04 Pec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07
—&— MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc.  ~@== Standard & Poor’s 500 Index
—=&— Mortgage REIT Peer Group Index  =~¢-— BBG REIT Mortgage [ndex
1273172002 12/31/2003  12/31/2004  12/31/2005  12/30/2006  12/31/2007
MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc. $100.00 $130.08 $130.56 $ 89.62 $124.63 $157.80
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index $100.00 $128.68 $142.69 $149.70 $173.34 $182.87
BBG REIT Mortgage [ndex $100.00 $134.52 $172.11 $143.82 $172.75 § 93.67
Mortgage REIT Peer Group Index' $100.00 $111.13 $122.61 $ 76.21 $ 99.02 $105.84

" The Mortgage REIT Peer Group is comprised of Annaly Mortgage Management, Inc., Anworth Morrgage Asset Corporation, Luminent Mortgage
Capital, Inc. and Bimini Capital Management, Inc. {formerly known as Opteum Tn¢. and Bimini Mortgage Management, Inc.). The Company has elecred
to change, on a going forward basis, its peer group because it believes that the companies comprising the BBG REIT Index, a recognized index, is more
reflective of the Company’s business and, therefore, provides a more meaningful comparison of refative stock performance.

The information in the stock performance graph and table has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable,
but neither its accuracy nor its completeness can be guaranteed. There can be no assurance that MFA’s share performance
will continue in the future with trends the same or similar to those depicted in the graph or the table above. Accordingly,
MFA will not make or endorse any predictions as to future stock performance.

The stock performance graph and table shall not be deemed, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, to be (i) “soliciting material” or “filed” or (ii) incorporated by reference by any
general statement into any filing made by MFA with the Securities and Exchange Commission, except to the extent that MFA

specifically incorporates such stock performance graph and table by reference.
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MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.
APR 0 8 2008

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON MAY 21, 2008

Washington, DC 205490

To the Stockholders of MFA Morgage Investments, Inc.:

The 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of MFA Mortgage lnvestments, Inc., a
Maryland corporation (“MFA™ or the “Company™), will be held at The New York Palace Hotel, 455 Madison
Avenue, New York, New York, on Wednesday, May 21, 2008, at 10:00 a.m., New York City time, for the following
purposes:

(1) To elect two directors to serve on MFA’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) until MFA's
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and unti! their successors are duly elected and
qualify;

(2 To ratify the appointment of Emst & Young LLP as MFA’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008; and

3) To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or an
Y properly g Y
postponements or adjournments thereof.

The close of business on March 25, 2008 has been fixed by the Board as the record date for the
determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting or any postponemenis or
adjournments thereof.

We hope that all stockholders who can do so will attend the Annual Meeting in person. Whether or not you
plan to attend, in order lo assure proper representation of your shares at the Annual Meeting, we urge you to submit
your proxy voting instructions to MFA by using our dedicated internet voting website, our toll-free telephone
number or, if you prefer, the mail. By submilling your proxy voting instructions promptly, either by internet,
telephone or mail, you can help MFA avoid the expense of follow-up mailings to ensure the presence of a quorum at
the Annual Meeting. If you attend the Annual Meeting, you may, if so desired, revoke your prior proxy voting
instructions and vote your shares in person.

In order to submit proxy voting instructions prior to the Annual Meeting, you have the option of
authorizing your proxy (a) through the internet at www.proxyvote.com and following the instructions
described on the Notice of Access previously mailed fo you or on your proxy card, (b) by toll-free telephone at
1-800-690-6903 and following the instructions described on the Notice of Access previously mailed to you or
on your proxy card or (¢} by completing, signing and dating your proxy card and returning it promptly in the
postage-prepaid envelope provided.

Your proxy is being solicited by the Board. The Board recommends that you vote in favor of the
proposed items.

By Order of the Board

f\#:‘»\—v_\w égdr\

Timothy W, Korth
General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business
Development and Corporate Secretary

New York, New York
April 8, 2008




MFEA

MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT
FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON MAY 21, 2008

This Proxy Statement is being fumnished to stockholders in connection with the solicitation of proxies by
and on behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc., a Maryland corporation
{(“MFA,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “‘us”), for use at MFA’s 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Annual Meeting”) to be held at The New York Palace Hotel, 455 Madison Avenue, New York, New York, on
Wednesday, May 21, 2008, at 10:00 a.m., New York City time, or at any postponements or adjournments thereof.

In order to submit proxy voting instructions prior to the Annual Meeting, stockholders have the option to
authorize their proxy by internet, telephone or mail. Stockholders are requested to vote their shares of our common
stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock™), by proxy at the Annual Meeting by using the dedicated
internet voting website or toll-free telephone number provided for this purpose. Alternatively, stockholders may
authorize their proxy by completing, signing and dating their proxy card and returning it in the postage-prepaid
envelope provided. Specific instructions regarding the internet and telephone voling options are described on the
Notice of Access previously mailed to you and on your proxy card. Stockholders who authorize their proxy by
using the internet or telephone voting options do not need to also return a proxy card.

Shares of Common Stock represented by properly submitted proxies received by us prior to the Annual
Meeting will be voted according to the instructions specified on such proxies. Any stockholder submitting a proxy
retains the power to revoke such proxy at any time prior to its exercise at the Annual Meeting by (i) delivering prior
to the Annual Meeting a written notice of revocation to Timothy W. Korth, cur General Counsel, Senior Vice
President — Business Development and Corporate Secretary, at MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc., 350 Park
Avenue, 21* Floor, New York, New York 10022, (ii) submitting a later dated proxy or (iii) voting in person at the
Annual Meeting. Attending the Annual Meeting will not automatically revoke a stockholder’s previously submitted
proxy unless such stockholder votes in person at the Annual Meeting. If a proxy is properly completed, submitted
without specifying any instructions thereon and not revoked prior to the Annual Meeting, the shares of Common
Stock represented by such proxy will be voted FOR the election of the directors to serve on the Board until our 2011
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualify and FOR the ratification of
the appointment of Emst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2008. As 1o any
other business which may properly come before the Annual Meeting, the persons named as proxy holders on your
proxy card will vote the shares of Common Stock represented by properly voted proxies in their discretion.

This Proxy Statement, the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the related proxy card are first
being sent to stockholders on or about April 8, 2008.

ANNUAL REPORT

This Proxy Statement is accompanied by our Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended
December 31, 2007, including financial statements audited by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered
public accounting firm, and their report thereon, dated February 12, 2008.

VOTING SECURITIES AND RECORD DATE

Stockholders will be entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held of record at the close of
business on March 25, 2008 (the “Record Date™) with respect (o (i) the election of the two directors to serve on the
Board until our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualify, (ii) the
ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2008
and (iii) any other proposal for stockholder action that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any
postponements or adjournments thereof. Abstentions and broker non-votes are each included in the determination of
the number of shares present at the Annual Meeting for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present. A



broker non-vote occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner (i.e., a broker} does not vote on a
particular proposal because such nominee does nol have discretionary voting power for that particular matter and
has not received instructions from the beneficial owner. The election of directors and the ratification of the
appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm are proposals for which brokers do have
discretionary voting authority. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on the election of directors or
the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP.

The presence, in person or by proxy, of holders of Common Stock entitled to cast a majority of all the votes
entitled to be cast at the Annual Meeting shall constitute a quorum. The disposition of business scheduled to come
before the Annual Meeting, assuming a quorum is present, will require the following affirmative votes: (i) for the
election of directors, a plurality of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting and (ii) for the ratification of the
appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm, a majority of the votes cast on the proposal.

As of the Record Date, we had issued and outstanding 151,674,249 shares of Common Stock.
1. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Board of Directors

In accordance with our Charter and Bylaws, the Board is currently comprised of seven directors, Stewart
Zimmerman, Stephen R. Blank, James A. Brodsky, Edison C. Buchanan, Michael L. Dahir, Alan L. Gosule and
George H. Krauss, and is divided into three classes, with Messrs. Blank and Buchanan constituting the Class I
directors, Messrs. Dahir and Krauss constituting the Class IT directors and Messrs. Zimmerman, Brodsky and Gosule
constituting the Class III directors. One class of directors is elected at each annual meeting of our stockholders for a
term of three years. Each director holds office until his successor has been duly elected and qualified or the
director’s earlier resignation, death or removal. The term of the Board’s Class [ directors expires at the Annual
Meeting. The terms of the other two classes of directors expire at MFA’s 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(Class Il directors) and MFA’s 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (Class I11 directors).

Upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board,
Messrs. Blank and Buchanan have been nominated by the Board to stand for re-election as Class I directors by the
stockholders at the Annual Meeting to serve until our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stoeckholders or until their respective
successors are duly elected and qualified. It is intended that the shares of Common Stock represented by properly
submitted proxies will be voted by the persons named therein as proxy holders FOR the election of Messrs. Blank
and Buchanan as Class I directors, unless otherwise instructed. If the candidacy of Messrs. Blank and Buchanan
should, for any reason, be withdrawn prior to the Annual Meeting, the proxies will be voted by the proxy holders in
favor of such substituted candidates (if any) as shall be nominated by the Board. The Board has no reason to believe
that, if elected, Messrs. Blank and Buchanan will be unable or unwilling to serve as Class [ directors.

Nominees for Election as Class I Directors

The following information is furnished regarding the nominees for election as Class I directors by the
holders of Cornmon Stock,

Stephen R. Blank, 62, has served as a director of MFA since 2002. Since 1998, Mr. Blank has been
Senior Resident Fellow, Finance, at the Urban Land Institute (“ULI™), a non-profit education and research institute
which studies land use and real estate developmental policy. Prior to joining ULIL, Mr. Blank served from 1993 to
1998 as Managing Director — Real Estate Investment Banking of CIBC Oppenheimer Corp. From 1989 10 1993,
Mr. Blank was Managing Director of the Real Estate Corporate Finance Department of Cushman & Wakefield, Inc.
From 1979 to 1989, Mr. Blank served as Managing Director — Real Estate Investment Banking of Kidder, Peabody
& Co. From 1973 to 1979, Mr. Blank was employed by Bache & Co., Incorporated as Vice President, Direct
Investment Group. Mr. Blank also serves as a member of the board of trustees of Ramco-Gershenson Properties
Trust.




Edison C. Buchanan, 53, has served as a director of MFA since 2004. Since 2001, Mr. Buchanan has
been Corporate Advisor at The Trust for Public Land, a non-profit land conservation organization. In 2000,
Mr. Buchanan served as Managing Director and Head of the Domestic Real Estate Investment Banking Group of
Credit Suisse First Boston. From 1997 to 2000, he was a Managing Director in the Real Estate Investment Banking
Group at Morgan Stanley. From 1981 to 1997, Mr. Buchanan was a Managing Director of various groups in the
Investment Banking Division at Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. Mr. Buchanan also serves as a member of the board of
directors of Pioneer Natural Resources Company and as Chairman of the board of directors of The Commonweal
Conservancy.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the election of Messrs. Blank and Buchanan as Class 1 directors.
Proxies solicited by the Board will be voted FOR Messrs. Blank and Buchanan, unless otherwise instructed.

Continuing Class H Directors

The following information is furnished regarding our Class IT directors (who will continue to serve on the
Board until our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their respective successors are duly elected and
qualified).

Michael L. Dahir, 59, has served as a director of MFA since 1998. Since 1988, Mr. Dahir has been the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Omaha State Bank in Omaha, Nebraska. From 1974 to 1988, Mr. Dahir
held various positions with Omaha National Bank, including Senior Vice President and head of the Commercial
Banking Services division, and was also Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the bank’s parent
company, FirsTier Holding Company. Mr. Dahir is a non-practicing certified public accountant. Mr. Dahir is
Chairman of the Jesuit Partnership Councit of Omaha, serves on the board and executive committee of Catholic
Charities and is a member of the board of directors of Legatus international.

George H. Krauss, 66, has served as a director of MFA since 1997. Mr. Krauss has been a consultant to
The Burlington Capital Group, LLC (formerly known as America First Companies, L.L.C.) (“Burlington™) since
1997. From 1972 to 1997, Mr. Krauss practiced law with Kutak Rock LLP, serving as such firm’s managing partner
from 1983 to 1993, and continues to be Of Counsel to such firm. Mr. Krauss has extensive experience in corporate,
mergers and acquisitions and regulatory matters. [n addition to his legal education, Mr. Krauss has a Masters of
Business Administration and is a registered Professional Engineer. Mr. Krauss currently serves as a member of the
board of directors of InfoUSA, Inc. and as a member of the board of managers of Burlington.

Continving Class 111 Directors

The following information is furnished regarding our Class IlI directors (who will continue to serve on the
Board until our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their respective successors are duly elected and
qualified).

Stewart Zimmerman, 63, has served as our Chief Executive Officer, President and as a director since
1997 and was appointed Chairman of the Board in March 2003. From 1989 through 1997, he initially served as a
consultant to The America First Companies and became Executive Vice President of America First Companies,
L.L.C. (“America First”). During this time, he held the following positions: President and Chief Operating Officer
of America First REIT, Inc. and President of several America First mortgage funds, including America First
Participating/Preferred Equity Mortgage Fund, America First PREP Fund 2, America First PREP Fund II Pension
Series Limited Partnership, Capital Source L.P., Capital Source II L.P., America First Tax Exempt Mortgage Fund
Limited Partnership and America First Tax Exempt Fund 2 Limited Partnership. Prior to 1989, Mr. Zimmerman
held various positions with other financial-related companies, including Security Pacific Merchant Bank, EF Hutton
& Company, Inc., Lehman Brothers, Bankers Trust Company and Zenith Mortgage Company.

James A. Brodsky, 62, has served as a director of MFA since 2004. Mr. Brodsky is a partner in, and a
founding member of, the law firm of Weiner Brodsky Sidman Kider PC in Washington, D.C. and has practiced law
with that firm and its predecessor since 1977. Mr. Brodsky provides legal advice and business counsel to publicly
traded and privately held national and regional single-family residential mortgage lenders on secondary mortgage




market transactions (including those involving Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae and investment banks),
mergers and acquisitions, asset purchases and sales, mortgage compliance issues, and strategic business initiatives.
Prior to 1977, Mr. Brodsky was a Depuly Assistant Secretary with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development. He also serves as general counsel of the National Reverse Morigage Lenders Association and is
Co-Founder and Chairman of the Open Door Housing Fund (a revolving fund resource for the preservation and
re-development of affoerdable housing in the Washington, D.C. area).

Alan L. Gosule, 67, has served as a director of MFA since 2001. Mr. Gosule is a partner in the law firm of
Clifford Chance US LLP (“Clifford Chance”) in New York, New York and has practiced law with such firm and its
predecessor since 1991. From 2002 to August 2005, he served as the Regional Head of Clifford Chance’s Real
Estate Department for the Americas and, prior to 2002, was the Regional Head of such firm’s Tax, Pension and
Employment Department for the Americas. Prior to 1991, Mr. Gosule practiced law with the firm of Gaston &
Snow, where he was a member of such {irm's Management Committee and the Chairman of the Tax Department.
Mr. Gosule also serves as a member of the board of directors of Home Properties, Inc. and F.L. Putnam Investment
Management Company.

In accordance with our Charter and Bylaws, vacancies occurring on the Board as a result of (i} the removal
from office, resignation, retirement, death or disqualification of a director may be fiiled by either our stockholders or
a majority of the remaining directors and (ii} an increase in the number of directors serving on the Board may be
filled by either our stockholders or a majority of the entire Board.

There is no familial relationship among any of the members of our Board or executive officers, except that
Ronald A. Freydberg, our Executive Vice President and Chief Portfolio Officer. and William S. Gorin, our
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, are brothers-in-law,

2. RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Board has appointed Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008. Ernst & Young LLP has audited our financial
statements since the 2003 fiscal year. The Board is requesting that our stockholders ratify this appointment of
Emst & Young LLP.

Neither our Bylaws nor other governing documents or law require stockholder ratification of the Audit
Committee’s appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. However,
the Board is submitting the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP to the stockholders for ratification as a matter of
good corporate practice. In the event that ratification of this appointment of independent registered public
accounting firm is not approved at the Annual Meeting, the Audit Committee will review its future selection of
independent registered public accounting firm. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit Commiitee in its discretion
may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year
if they determine that such a change would be in the best interests of us and our stockholders.

Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and will be
provided with an opportunity to make a statement if so desired and to respond to appropriate inquiries from
stockholders.




Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees

The following table summarizes the aggregate fees (including related expenses) billed to us for professional
services provided by Emst & Young LLP for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Audit Fees™............ . $ 743500 $ 653477
Audit-Related Fees' . — —
TAX FEES™ oottt vas st bssssss s st s et ssss bbb sasan 23,000 30,800
AlLOEr FEES™ ..ot ecesectiiisecemssvos s s e eess e s eens s eees s e on — —
TOUA ettt et e aete et enesaese sre et et et s sateaaa st bt st e eanabasssnsemeesaearreen $  766.500 $ 684,277

m Both 2007 and 2006 Audit Fees include: (i) the audit of the consolidated financial statements included in our annual report on
Form 10-K and services attendant to, or required by, statute or regulation; (ii) reviews of the interim consolidated financial statements
included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; (iii) comfort letters, consents and other services related to Securities and Exchange
Commission (*SEC™) and other regulatory filings; and {iv) accounting consultation attendant to the audit. Audit Fees for (a) 2007 also
include the audit of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, and (b) 2006 also include the audit of management’s assessment on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

2 There were no Audit-Related Fees incurred in 2007 or 2006.

@ Tax Fees include tax compliance, tax planning, tax advisory and related tax services.

@ There were no other professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP in 2007 or 2006.

All audit, tax and other services provided to us were reviewed and pre-approved by the Audit Commitiee,
which concluded that the provision of such services by Ernst & Young LLP was compatible with the maintenance of
that firm’s independence in the conduct of its auditing functions.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as
our independent registered public accounting firm for 2008, Proxies solicited by the Board will be voted FOR
this ratification, unless otherwise instructed.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MATTERS
Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for overseeing our affairs. The Board conducts its business through meetings and
actions taken by written consent in lieu of meetings. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Board held
seven meetings and acted 10 times by written consent in lieu of a meeting. Each of our directors attended at least
75% of the meetings of the Board and of the Board’s committees on which they served during 2007. All directors
serving on the Board attended our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Board's policy, as set forth in our
Corporate Governance Guidelines {the “Guidelines™), is to encourage and promote the attendance by each director at
all scheduled meetings of the Board and all meetings of our stockholders.

Committees of the Board

The Board has four standing committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Capital Advisory Committee.

Audit Committee. Stephen R. Blank (Chairman), Edison C. Buchanan and Michael L. Dahir are currently
the members of the Audit Committee. The Board has determined that all of the members of the Audit Committee
are independent as required by the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE") listing standards, SEC rules governing the
qualifications of audit committee members, the Guidelines, the Independence Standards (as defined below) and the
written charter of the Audit Committee. The Board has also determined, based upon its qualitative assessment of
their relevant levels of knowledge and business experience (see “Election of Directors™ in this Proxy Statement for a
description of their respective backgrounds and experience), that Messrs. Blank and Dahir qualify as “audit
committee financial experts” for purposes of, and as defined by, SEC rules and have the requisite accounting or




related financial management expertise required by NYSE listing standards. In addition, the Board has determined
that all of the members of the Audit Committee are financially literate as required by the NYSE listing standards.
The Audit Commitiee, which met eight times during 2007, is responsible for, among other things, engaging our
independent registered public accounting firm, reviewing with the independent registered public accounting firm the
plans and results of their audit engagement, approving professional services to be provided by the independent
registered public accounting {irm, reviewing the independence of the auditors, considering the range of audit and
non-audit fees, reviewing the adequacy of our internal controls, accounting and reporting practices and assessing the
quality and integrity of our consolidated financial statements. In accordance with its written charter, the Audit
Committee has a policy requiring that the terms of all auditing and non-auditing services to be provided by our
independent registered public accounting firm be pre-approved by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also
reviews and evaluates the scope of all non-auditing services to be provided by our independent registered public
accounting firm in order to confirm that such services are permitted by the rules and/or regulations of the NYSE, the
SEC, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other similar governing bodies. The specific responsibilities of
the Audit Committee are set forth in its written charter, which is available for viewing on our website at www.mfa-
reit.com.

Compensation Committee. James A. Brodsky (Chairman), Stephen R. Blank and George H. Krauss are
currently the members of the Compensation Committee. The Board has determined that all of the members of the
Compensation Committee are independent as required by NYSE listing standards, the Guidelines, the Independence
Standards and the written charter of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee, which met four
times and acted three times by written consent during 2007, is responsible for, among other things, overseeing the
approval, administration and evaluation of MFA’s compensation plans, policies and programs and reviewing the
compensation of our directors and executive officers. The specific responsibilities of the Compensation Committee
are set forth in its written charter, which is available for viewing on our website at www.mfa-reit.com.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Michael L. Dahir (Chairman), James A. Brodsky and
George H. Krauss are currently the members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Board
has determined that all of the members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are independent as
required by NYSE listing standards, the Guidelines, the Independence Standards and the written charter of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, which
met four times during 2007, is responsible for, among other things, assisting the Board in identifying individuals
qualified to become Board members, recommending to the Board the director nominees to be elected at each annual
meeting of our stockholders, recommending to the Board the director nominees to serve on each of the Board’s
committees, developing and recommending to the Board the corporate governance principles and guidelines
applicable to us and directing the Board in an annual review of its performance. The specific responsibilities of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are set forth in its written charter, which is available for viewing
on our website at www.mfa-reit.com.

Capital Advisory Commitree. Stewart Zimmerman (Chairman), Edison C. Buchanan, Alan L. Gosule and
George H. Krauss are currently the members of the Capital Advisory Committee. The Capital Advisory Committee,
which met three times during 2007, is responsible for, among other things, overseeing our compliance with our
investment strategy and other capital and financial operating policies.

We will provide the written charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and/or Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee, free of charge, to stockholders who request them. Requests should be
directed to Timothy W. Korth, our General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and Corporate
Secretary, at MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc., 350 Park Avenue, 21* floor, New York, New York 10022.

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board has fumished the following report for the 2007 fiscal year.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of our consolidated financial statements,
our system of internal controls, our risk management, the qualifications, independence and performance of our

independent registered public accounting firm and our compliance with related legal and regulatory requirements.
The Audit Committee has the sole authority and responsibility to select, determine the compensation of, evaluate




and, when appropriate, replace our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee operates
under a written charter adopted by the Board,

Management is primarily responsible for our financial reporting process, including the system of internal
controls, for the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and for the report on our internal control over financial reporting. Ernst & Young
LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, is responsible for performing an independent audit of (i)
our annual consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion as to their conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and {(ii) our internal control over financial reporting and
expressing an opinion with respect thereto. The Audit Committee’s responsibility is to oversee and review the
financial reporting process and to review and discuss management’s report on our internal control over financial
reporting. The Audit Committee is not, however, professionally engaged in the practice of accounting or auditing
and does not provide any expert or other special assurance as 1o such financial statements concerning compliance
with laws, regulations or accounting principles generally accepted in the United States or as to auditor
independence. The Audit Committee relies, without independent verification, on the information provided to it and
on the representations made by our management and our independent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit Committee held eight meetings during 2007. The meetings were designed, among other things,
to facilitate and encourage communication among the Audit Commitiee, management, Ernst & Young LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm, and Grant Thornton LLP, our internal auditing firm.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed our ongoing compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, including the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s (“PCAOB”) Auditing Standard
No. 2 regarding the audit of internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee discussed with Ernst &
Young LLP and Grant Thornton LLP the overall scope and plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee
reviewed reports and memoranda prepared by Ernst & Young LLP and Grant Thornton LLP with respect to their
respective audits of our internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee met with Ernst & Young
LLP and Grant Thornton LLP, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations
and their evalvations of our internal controls.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2007, and the related report prepared by Emst & Young LLP, with management and
Ernst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed with management, Emst & Young LLP
and Grant Thornton LLP management’s annual report on our internal control over financial reporting. The Audit
Committee discussed with management and Ernst & Young LLP the process used to support certifications by our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that are required by the SEC and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 1o accompany our periodic filings with the SEC and the processes used to support management’s annual report
on our internal control over financial reporting. As a result of these discussions, the Audit Committee believes that
we maintain an effective system of accounting controls that allows us to prepare consolidated financial statements
that fairly present our financial position and results of our operations. Management represented to the Audit
Committee that our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with Emnst & Young LLP their 2007 Audit Plan for MFA
and their proposed implementation of this plan. The Audit Committee also discussed with Emst & Young LLP
matters that independent accounting firms must discuss with audit committees under generally accepted auditing
standards and standards of the PCAOB, including, among other things, matters related to the conduct of the audit of
our consolidated financia! statements and the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards
No, 61, as amended (Communication with Audit Committees), which included a discussion of Ernst & Young
LLP’s judgments about the quality (not just the acceptability) of our accounting principles as applied to financial
reporting.

The Audit Committee also discussed with Ernst & Young LLP their independence from us. Ernst & Young
LLP provided to the Committee the written disclosures and the letter required by Independence Standards Board
Standard No. | (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees) and represented that it is independent from us.
When considering the independence of Emnst & Young LLP, the Audit Committee considered if services they




provided to us beyond those rendered in connection with their audit of MFA’s consolidated financial statements,
reviews of our interim condensed consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
and the attestalion of management’s report on internal control over financial reporting were compatible with
maintaining their independence. The Audit Committee also reviewed, among other things, the tax services
performed by, and the amount of fees paid for such services to, Emst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee received
regular updates on the amount of fees and scope of audit and tax services provided.

Based on the Audit Committee’s review and these meetings, discussions and reports, and subject to the
limitations on the Audit Committee’s role and responsibilities referred to above and in its written charter, the Audit
Committee recommended to the Board that our audited censolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007 be inctuded in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC. The Audit Committee has
also appointed Emst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2008 und is presenting this selection to our stockholders for ratification.

Stephen R. Blank, Chairman
Edison C. Buchanan
Michael L. Dahir

The foregoing Report of the Audit Committee shall not be deemed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act”), 1o be (i) “soliciting
material” or “filed" or (ii) incorporated by reference by any general statement into any filing made by us with the
SEC, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate such report by reference.

COMPENSATION OF NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

Effective January 1, 2007, the Board modified the compensation package to be paid to our non-employee
directors. Beginning in 2007, we started paying, on a semi-annual basis in 50% increments on the last business day
of May and November in each year, (i) an annual board fee to our non-employee directors of $60,000 per year;
(i) an annual chair fee to the non-employee director acting as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of $12,500 per
year; and (iii) an annual chair fee to the non-employee directors acting as the Chairmen of each of the Compensation
Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of $7,500 per year. In addition, the Board
approved, pursuant to our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, an annual grant of equity compensation to our
non-employee directors consisting of 2,500 restricted shares of Common Stock (“Restricted Shares™), which shares
by their terms must be retained by the non-employee directors and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be sold or
otherwise transferred until six months after the non-employee director’s termination of service with us. In
accordance with the terms of this modified compensation package, these Restricted Shares are granted to our non-
employee directors on a semi-annual basis in 50% increments on the last business day of May and November in
each year. Effective January 1, 2007, the, Board also suspended any further participation by our non-employee
directors in our Amended and Restated 2003 Non-Employee Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan (the
“Non-Employee Directors Plan”), prior to which participants were allowed to elect to defer receipt of 50% or 100%
of their annual board fee and 100% of their meetings fees and, if applicable, annual chair fees.

Pursuant to the terms approved by the Board, on January 2, 2007, we made our first payment under this
modified compensation package (o our non-employee directors in an amount equal to 50% of the increase in their
respective annual board and chair fees over the then-current board and chair fees paid to them in May of 2006 and,
in addition thereto, awarded to each non-employee director 1,250 Restricted Shares. Accordingly, during 2007, we
paid an annual board fee 10 our non-employee directors of $70,000. In addition, during 2007, we paid {i) an annual
chair fee to the non-employee director acting as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of $13,750 and (i1) an annual
chair fee to the non-employee directors acting as the Chairmen of each of the Compensation Committee and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of $8,750. Each non-employee director also received, as equity
compensation, a grant of 3,750 Restricted Shares during 2007.




The following table summarizes the annual compensation received by our non-employee directors for the
year ended December 31, 2007.

Non-Equity
Fees Earned or Incentive Plan
Paid in Cash Stock Awards Compensation Total
Name (s)(l) (s)tll {s)m ($)
Stephen R. BIaNK ..o sne s e $ 83,750 $ 29,988 $ 413 $ 114,151
James A. Brodsky..... 78,750 29,988 413 109,151
Edison C. Buchanan. 70,000 29,988 413 100,401
Michael L. Dahir ... 78,750 29,988 825 109,563
Alan L. Gosule ...... 70,000 29,988 413 100,401
George H. KTuss oot 70,600 29,988 25,163 125,151

m Amounts in this column represent annual board fees and annual chair fees paid to non-employee directors for service in 2007.

i Amounts in this column represent compensation costs recognized by us in 2007 for awards of Restricted Shares based upon the fair value
as of the gram dates of such awards determined pursuant to FAS No. 123R “Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123R™).

3 Amounts in this column represent aggregate distributions paid on dividend equivalent rights ("DERS™), which represent the right to
receive a distribution on each DER equal to the cash dividend paid on a share of Common Stock, attached to outstanding non-qualified
stock options ("NQSOs™}) during 2007,

Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive grants of NQSOs, restricted stock, phantom units and
DERs under our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan. We reimburse all non-employee directors for travel and other
expenses incurred in connection with attending Board, committee and stockholder meetings and other Company-
sponsored events and/or related to their activities on our behalf. In addition, we provide all non-employee directors
with up to $500,000 of accidental death and dismemberment insurance while traveling to or attending Board,
committee and stockholder meetings and other Company-sponsored events. Directors who are also our employees
are not entitled to receive additional compensation for serving on the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Role of the Board

Pursuant to our Charter, Bylaws and the Maryland General Corporation Law, our business, assets and
affairs are managed by our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers under the direction and oversight of
the Board. The Board has the responsibility for establishing broad corporate policies and for our overall
performance and direction, but is not involved in our day-to-day operations. Members of the Board keep informed
of our business by participating in meetings of the Board and its committees, by reviewing analyses, reports and
other materials provided to them and through discussions with our Chief Executive Officer and other executive
officers.

Director Independence

The Guidelines provide that a majority of the directors serving on the Board must be independent as
required by NYSE listing standards. In addition, as permitted under the Guidelines, the Board has also adopted
certain additional categorical standards (the “Independence Standards”) to assist it in making determinations with
respect to the independence of directors. Based upon its review of all relevant facts and circumstances, the Board
has affirmatively determined that five of our seven current directors, Stephen R. Blank, James A. Brodsky,
Edison C. Buchanan, Michael L. Dahir and George H. Krauss, qualify as independent directors under NYSE listing
standards and the Independence Standards. In determining that Mr. Krauss qualified as an independent director
under the NYSE listing standards and the Independence Standards, the Board took into consideration in making its
determination that (i) on January 31, 2006, Retirement Centers Corporation, our wholly-owned subsidiary, sold
through an arms-length negotiated transaction, which was the result of a competitive third-party bidding process, all
of its indirect interest in The Greenhouse, a 128-unit multi-family apartment property located in Omaha, Nebraska,
to America First Apartment Investors, Inc. (“AFAI™), a company for which Mr. Krauss then served on the board of
directors and was a stockholder, for $15.2 million, (ii) during 2007, 2006 and 2005, we paid property management
fees of $38,485, $96,000 and $143,000, respectively, to a property manager that was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
AFAL, and (iii) during 2006, we, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary. earned fees of $38,000 for sub-



advisory services provided to AFAI in connection with the management of its mortgage-backed securities portfolio
and, during 2003, earned fees of $50,000 for sub-advisory services provided to the external advisor of AFAl a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the predecessor company of Burlington (an entity in which Mr. Krauss directly and
indirectly beneficially owned approximately 17% and for which he served on the board of managers and was a
consultant), in connection with AFAFs mortgage-backed securities portfolio. In connection with making this
determination, the Board specifically noted that (a) Mr. Krauss recused himself from all Board discussions and
deliberations refating to the sale of The Greenhouse to AFAI and did not participate in the decision to approve such
transaction, (b) neither the amount of property management fees paid to the property manager in 2007, 2006 or 2005
nor the sub-advisory fees earned by us in 2006 or 2005 were considered to be material to us on a consolidated basis,
(c) our property management arrangement with AFAI was terminated in September 2007 and (d} our sub-advisory
arrangement with AFAI was effectively terminated in 2006. The Independence Standards are available for viewing
on our website at www.mfa-reit.com,

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) that applies to our
directors, executive officers and employees. The Code of Conduct was designed to assist directors, execuiive
officers and employees in complying with the law, in resolving moral and ethical issues that may arise and in
complying with our policies and procedures. Among the areas addressed by the Code of Conduct are compliance
with applicable laws, conflicts of interest, use and protection of our assets, confidentiality, communications with the
public, internal accounting controls, improper influence of audits, records retention, fair dealing, discrimination and
harassment, and health and safety. The Bouard's Nominating and Corporate Governance Comrmittee is responsible
for assessing and periodically reviewing the adequacy of the Code of Conduct and will recommend, as appropriate,
proposed changes to the Board. The Code of Conduct is available for viewing on our website at www.mfa-reit.com.
We will also provide the Code of Conduct, free of charge, to stockholders who request it. Requests should be
directed to Timothy W. Korth, our General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and Corporate
Secretary, at MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc., 350 Park Avenue, 21 floor, New York, New York 10022.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that address significant issues of corporate
governance and set forth procedures by which the Board carries out its responsibilities. Among the areas addressed
by the Guidelines are Board composition, Board functions and responsibilities, Board committees, director
qualification standards, access to management and independent advisors, director compensation, management
succession, director orientation and continuing education and Board and commitiee performance evaluations. The
Board’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for assessing and periodically reviewing
the adequacy of the Guidelines and will recommend, as appropriate, proposed changes to the Board. The Guidelines
are available for viewing on our website at www.mfa-reit.com. We will also provide the Guidelines, free of charge,
to stockholders who request them. Requests should be directed to Timothy W. Korth, our General Counsel,
Senior Vice President — Business Development and Corporate Secretary, at MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc., 350
Park Avenue, 21 floor, New York, New York 10022,

Review and Approval of Transactions with Related Persons

The Board has adopted written policies and procedures for review, approval and monitoring of transactions
involving us and “related persons” (directors and executive officers or their immediate family members, or
stockholders owning 5% or greater of our outstanding capital stock). The policy covers any related person
transaction that meets the minimum threshold for disclosure in the Proxy Statement under the relevant SEC rules
{generally, transactions involving amounts exceeding $120,000 in which a related person has a direct or indirect
material interest). A summary of these policies and procedures is set forth below:

Policies

¢ Any covered related party transaction must be approved by the Board or by a committee of the Board
consisting solely of disinterested directors. In considering the transaction, the Board or committee will
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consider all relevant factors, including, as applicable, (i) our business rationale for entering into the
transaction; (i) the available alternatives; (iii) whether the transaction is on terms comparable to those
available 1o or from third parties; (iv) the potential for the transaction o lead to an actual or apparent
conflict of interest; and {v) the overall fairness of the transaction to us.

o On at least an anpual basis, the Board or committee will monitor the transaction to assess whether it is
advisable for us to amend or terminate the transaction,

Procedures

« Management or the affected director or executive officer will bring the matter to the attention of the
Chairman of the Audit Committee or, if the Chairman of the Audit Committee is the affected director,
to the attention of the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

s The appropriate Chairman shall determine whether the matter should be considered by the Board or by
a committee of the Board consisting solely of disinterested directors.

s If a director is involved in the transaction, he or she will be recused from all discussions and decisions
about the transaction.

s The transaction must be approved in advance whenever practicable and, if not practicable, must be
ratified as promptly as practicable.

Identification of Director Candidates

In accordance with the Guidelines and its written charter, the Nominating and Corporate Govemance
Committee is responsible for identifying and evaluating director, candidates for the Board and for recommending
director candidates to the Board for consideration as nominees to stand for election at our annual meetings of
stockholders. Director candidates are nominated to stand for election to the Board in accordance with the
procedures set forth in the written charter of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

We seek highly qualified director candidates from diverse business, professional and educational
backgrounds who combine a broad spectrum of experience and expertise with a reputation for the highest personal
and professional ethics, integrity and values. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee periodically
reviews the appropriate skills and characteristics required of our directors in the context of the current composition
of the Board, our operating requirements and the long-term interests of our stockholders. In accordance with the
Guidelines, director candidates should have experience in positions with a high degree of responsibility and decision
making, be able to exercise good business judgment, be able to provide practical wisdom and mature judgment and
be leaders in the companies or institutions with which they are affiliated. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee reviews director candidates with the objective of assembling a slate of directors that can
best fulfiil and promote our goals, regardless of gender, age or race, and recommends director candidates based upon
contributions they can make to the Board and management and their ability to represent our long-term interests and
those of our stockholders.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee accepts stockholder recommendations of director
candidates and applies the same standards in considering director candidates submitted by stockholders as it does in
evaluating director candidates recommended by members of the Board or management. Upon determining the need
for additional or replacement Board members, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee identifies
director candidates and assesses such director candidates based upon information it receives in connection with the
recommendation or otherwise possesses, which may be supplemented by certain inguiries. In conducting this
assessment, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers knowledge, experience, skills,
diversity and such other factors as it deems appropriate in light of our current needs and those of the Board. If the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee determines, in consultation with other directors, including the
Chairman of the Board, that a more comprehensive evaluation is warranted, the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee may then obtain additional information about a director candidate’s background and
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experience, including by means of personal interviews. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will
then re-evaluate the director candidate using its evaluation criteria. The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee receives input on such director candidates from other directors, including the Chairman of the Board,
and recommends director candidates to the Board for nomination. The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee may, in its sole discretion, engage one or more search firms and/or other consultants, experts or
professionals to assist in, among other things, identifying director candidates or gathering information regarding the
background and experience of director candidates. If the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
engages any such third party, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will have sole authority to
approve any fees or terms of retention relating to these services.

Our stockholders of record who comply with the notice procedures outlined under the “Submission of
Stockholder Proposals” section of this Proxy Statement may recommend director candidates for evaluation and
consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Stockholders may make recommendations
at any time, but recommendations of director candidates for consideration as director nominees at our annual
meeting of stockholders must be received not less than 120 days before the first anniversary of the date on which the
proxy statement was released to stockholders in connection with the previous year’s annual meeting of stockholders.
Accordingly, to submit a director candidate for consideration for nomination at our 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, stockholders must submit the recommendation, in writing, by no later than December 9, 2008. The
written notice must demonstrate that it is being submitted by a stockholder of record of us and include information
about each proposed director candidate, including name, age, business address, principal occupation, principal
qualifications and other relevant biographical information, In addition, the stockholder must provide confirmation
of each director candidate’s consent to serve as a director and contact information for each director candidate so that
his or her interest can be verified and, if necessary, to gather further information.

Communications with the Board

The Board has established a process by which stockholders and/or other interested parties may
communicate in writing with our directors, a committee of the Board, the Board’s non-employee directors as a group
or the Board generally. Any such communications may be sent to the Board by U.S. mail or overnight delivery and
should be directed to Timothy W. Korth, our General Counsel, Senior Vice President - Business Development and
Corporate Secretary, at MFA Mortgage Investments, Inc., 350 Park Avenue, 21¥ Floor, New York, New York
10022, who will forward them to the intended recipient(s). Any such communications may be made anonymously.
Unsoelicited advertisements, invitations to conferences or promotional materials, in the discretion of the Corporate
Secretary, are not required, however, to be forwarded to the directors. The Board has approved this communication
process.

Executive Sessions of Non-Employee and Independent Directors

In accordance with the Guidelines, the non-employee directors serving on the Board meet in executive
session at least four times per year at regularly scheduled meetings of the Board, These execulive sessions of the
Board are presided over by Alan L. Gosule. In addition, at least annually, the independent directors serving on the
Board meet in executive session at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Board.,

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the material elements of the compensation
programs offered to our senior executive officers. The Compensation Committee of the Board is responsible for the
administration of our compensation plans, policies and programs and for all decisions relating to the compensation
of our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and three other executive officers (the “Named
Executive Officers™). The Compensation Committee endeavors to ensure that the compensation paid to the Named
Executive Officers is consistent with our overall philosophy on compensation and market practices.

12




Compensation Philosophy and Objectives. We, through our executive compensation programs, seek to
attract, motivate and retain top quality senior executives who are commitied to our core values of excellence and
integrity. The Compensation Committee’s fundamental philosophy is to closely align these compensation programs
with the achievement of annual and long-term performance goals tied to our financial success and the creation of
stockholder value.

The Compensation Committee’s objectives in developing and administering the executive compensation
programs are to:

»  Attract, retain and motivate a highly skilled senior executive team that will contribute to the successtul
performance of MFA;

s Align the interests of the senior executive team with the interests of our stockholders by motivating
execulives to increase long-term stockholder value;

¢ Provide compensation opportunities that are competitive within industry standards thereby reflecting
the value of the position in the marketplace;

*  Support a culture committed to paying for performance where compensation is commensurate with the
level of performance achieved; and

+  Maintain flexibility and discretion to allow us to recognize the unique characteristics of our operations
and strategy, and our prevailing business environment, as well as changing labor market dynamics.

The Compensation Committee believes that it is important to create a compensation program that
appropriately balances short-lerm, cash-based compensation with long-term, equity-based compensation. Our
executive officer compensation program includes the following primary components:

e  Base salaries paid in cash which recognize the unique role and responsibilities of a position as well as
an individual’s performance in that role;

s  Annual cash awards which are meant to motivate and reward our short-term financial and operational
performance, as well as individual performance; and

» Long-term equity-based awards which are designed to support our objectives of aligning the interests
of executive officers with those of our stockholders, promoting our long-term performance and value
creation and retaining executive officers.

In addition to the primary components of the executive officer compensation program, we maintain our
2003 Senior Officers Deferred Bonus Plan (the “Senior Officers Plan”), a non-qualified deferred compensation
program designed to provide additional opportunities to align the interests of executive officers and stockholders and
provide limited perquisites and other benefits beyond what are provided to all of our employees.

The Compensation Committee is committed to the ongoing review and evaluation of the executive officer
compensation levels and program. It is the Compensation Committee’s view that compensation decisions are
complex and best made after a deliberate review of Company and individual performance, as well as industry
compensation levels. Consistent with this view, the Compensation Committee annually assesses our performance
within the context of the industry’s overall performance and internal performance standards and evaluates individual
executive officer performance relative to the performance expectations for their respective position and role within
MFA. In addition, the Compensation Commitiee regularly benchmarks the total compensation provided to our
executive officers to industry-based compensation practices. While it is the Compensation Committee’s goal (o
provide compensation opportunities that reflect Company and individual performance and that are competitive
within industry standards, a specific target market position for executive officer pay levels has not been established.
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Setting Executive Compensation. During 20035, the Compensation Committee began a comprehensive
review of our senior executive compensation practices in order to ensure that our senior executive compensation
program and policies remained aligned with the goal of enhancing stockholder value through compensation
practices that attract, motivate and retain key senior executives. As a part of the process, the Compensation
Committee engaged FPL Associates Compensation, a nationally recognized compensation consulting firm
specializing in the real estate indusiry (the “Consultant™), to provide independent guidance and insight to the
Compensation Committee on executive compensation matters, both generally in the marketplace and within our
industry and to provide recommendations regarding potential modifications to our senior executive compensation
programs and policies.

The focus of the Compensation Committee’s review was to (i) more directly align our senior executive
compensation programs and policies with our financial performance and, accordingly, the creation of stockholder
value and (ii) competitively update the existing executive compensation programs and policies, including existing
employment agreements, to reflect current practices in the marketplace. In conducting this review, the
Compensation Committee examined all components of our compensation programs offered to the Named Executive
Officers, including, among other things, base salary, annual incentive bonus, equity and long-term compensation,
accumulated (realized and unrealized) gains on stock options {“Options”) and payments on DERs, the dollar value to
the senior executives (and the cost to us) of all perquisites and other personal benefits, the earnings and accumulated
payout obligations under the Senior Officers Plan, and the actual projected payout obligations under several
potential severance and change-in-contrel scenarios. A compensation tally sheet setting forth these components of
our senior executive compensation program provided to each Named Executive Officer was prepared and reviewed
by the Compensation Comtmittee.

As part of this review, the Compensation Commiliee evaluated a comprehensive benchmarking analysis
prepared by the Consultant, which compared our senior executive compensation practices to the compensation
practices employed by multiple distinct industry peer groups representing various asset classes. The comparative
peer groups included, among several others, the following companies:

e Annaly Capital Management, Inc.
¢  Anworth Mortgage Asset Corp.

¢ Capstead Mortgage Corporation
¢ Redwood Trust, Inc.

Based on the analysis and findings of this comprehensive review and the Consultant’s recommendations,
the Compensation Committee determined that it would be beneficial to modify the compensation arrangements
offered to the Named Executive Officers. These modifications, which are described more fully below under
“——Elements of Executive Compensation” of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis of the Proxy Statement,
were documented as a part of amended and restated employment agreements with each of the Named Executive
Officers. In connection with these amendments, Messrs. Zimmerman, Freydberg and Gorin (the *Senior
Executives”) each waived their rights under their then-existing employment agreements in order to enter into the
amended and restated employment agreements specifying the modified compensation arrangements. As a result,
Mr. Zimmerman's amended and restated employment agreement, which has a five-year term, became effective on
April 16, 2006 and will expire on December 31, 2010 and Messrs. Freydberg’s and Gorin’s amended and restated
employment agreements, which each have a three-year term, became effective on April 16, 2006 and will expire on
December 31, 2008. With respect to Mr. Korth and Ms. Covello, they each entered into two-year amended and
restated employment agreements which became effective on January 1, 2006 and expired on December 31, 2007.
The Compensation Committee believes the terms and provisions of these amended and restated employment
agreements provided for compensation arrangements that reflect the Compensation Committee’s philosophy and
objectives and ensure our future stability and succession of leadership. Additional information with respect to these
employment agreements can be found under “Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and
Change-in-Control Arrangements” of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.
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During 2007, in contemplation of the expiration of the amended and restated employment agreements of
Mr. Korth and Ms. Covello on December 31, 2007, the Compensation Commitice, together with the Consultant,
reviewed the components of the compensation arrangements then offered to these Named Executive Officers. As
part of this process, the Compensation Committee considered the terms and provisions set forth in Mr. Korth’s and
Ms. Covello’s amended and restated employment agreements and determined to modify the annual base salaries
paid to them. Specifically, Mr, Korth’s and Ms. Covello’s salaries were increased approximately 18% and 11%,
respectively. These increases were based on the results of this review and the Compensation Commitiee’s view that
the salarics were below competitive market practices and did not appropriately reflect the broad set of
responsibilities that each executive carries out as a member of our senior executive team. As a result, each of
Mr. Korth and Ms. Covello entered into new two-year amended and restated employment agreements, which
became effective on January 1, 2008.

The Compensation Commitlee will, on an ongoing basis, continue to examine and assess our executive
compensation practices relative to our compensation philosophy and objectives, as well as competitive market
practices, and will make modifications to the compensation programs, as deemed appropriate.

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions. The Compensation Committee makes all
compensation decisions related to the Named Executive Officers and approves recommendations related to incentive
compensation for our other employees. When making compensation decisions for the Named Executive Officers
(other than Mr. Zimmerman), the Compensation Committee seeks and considers the advice and counsel of
Mr. Zimmerman, our Chiefl Executive Officer, given his direct day-to-day working relationship with these senior
executives. Taking this feedback into consideration, the Compensation Committee engages in discussions and
retains the right to make final determinations related to compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers. All
decisions regarding Mr. Zimmerman’s compensation are made independently by the Compensation Committee.

Elements of Executive Compensation. The key elements of our executive compensation program include;
*  Base salary;
» Inceniive compensation;

+ Equity grants;

Deferred compensation; and
e  Perquisites and other benefits,

Base Salary

Pursuant (o their amended and restated employment agreements, we provide the Named Executive Officers
with annual base salaries to compensate them for services provided during the term of their employment. When
setling base salaries, the Compensation Committee takes into consideration the scope of the rele and responsibilities
of the position, experience, individual performance and competitive market practices.

The base salaries for each of the Named Executive Officers in 2007 were as follows:

2007 Base Salary
Cash Stock Grant
Stewart ZIMUIETITIAN ...t e sttt rme emvs b enrses s srsr s rabsnesasesabesastsarasasansnaresess $ 900.000 $ 100,000
Ronald A. Freydberg ..o s ssssesrs ossrsnsoens 675,000 —
William 5. GOriD oot tesens 675.000 —
Timothy W. Korth . . 275,000 —
Teresa D Covello ..ot eeev v e s s e a e enen b e rn e e 225,000 —

No adjustments were made to the Named Executive Officers’ salaries for 2007. The Compensation
Committee intends to continue to implement the terms of the amended and restated employment agreements,
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inctuding the base salary provisions, while remaining open to future base salary adjustments in the event the
Compensation Committee concludes that the circumstances warrant them. - However, consistent with the
Compensation Committeg’s overall philosophy, the compensation programs for the Named Executive Officers will
continue 10 emphasize incentive compensation.

Incentive Compensation

Under the terms of their amended and restated employment agreements, an incentive structure was
established for the Senior Executives. As a result, the Senior Executives are eligible to participate in a performance-
based bonus pool that is funded based on MFA’s return on average equity (“ROAE”). ROAE is calculated as the
twelve-month GAAP net income minus depreciation, merger expenses, gains/losses on asset sales and impairment
charges, divided by the average stockholder equity less (i} goodwill and (ii) preferred stockhelder equity., The
Compensation Commitiee evaluated various measures and factors of performance in developing this structure and,
in its view, ROAE was determined to be a strong indicator of our overall performance and value creation for
stockholders. Moreover, ROAE is a metric of our performance that has been calculated and reported on a consistent
basis since our inception in 1998.

As designed by the Compensation Committee, the aggregate amount of this performance-based bonus pool
available for distribution to the Senior Executives can range annually from a minimum of $400,000 to a maximum
of $6.0 million based upon our ROAE for any given year. Under this incentive arrangement, a pool of $400,000 is
available if our ROAE is 4.5% or less. For ROAE performance between 4.5% and 8.0%, the pool funding is
increased 1o $600,000. The poo! funding for ROAE above 8% increases based on an established scale, up to
maximum ROAE performance of 22%. The Compensation Committee has the discretionary right to adjust
downward the amount available for distribution from the Senior Executives’ bonus pool by as much as 10% in any
given year, based upon its assessment of factors including our leverage, stability of book value of the Common
Stock and price per share of our Common Stock relative to other industry participants. Of the aggregate amount
available for distribution from the Senior Executives’ bonus pool, the Compensation Commitiee bases annual bonus
allocations to each of the Senior Executives on its assessment of the performance of each Senior Executive against
individual performance metrics and benchmarks.

In order to further align the performance of the Senior Executives with our long-term financial success and
the creation of stockholder value, the Compensation Committee also determined that (1) with respect to 2006, at least
25% of any annual performance-based bonus amount distributed to a Senior Executive over $100,000 would be paid
in restricted shares of Common Stock (the “Restricted Shares”), which would vest over the three-year period
following such award, and (ii) with respect to each year thereafter, at least 50% of any annual performance-based
bonus amount over $100,000 will be paid in Restricted Shares. In addition, no Senior Executive will be permiited to
sell or otherwise transfer any Restricted Shares during the executive’'s employment with us until the value of the
Senior Executive’s stock holdings in us exceeds a specified multiple of the executive’s base compensation (five
times in the case of Mr. Zimmerman and three times in the case of Messrs. Freydberg and Gorin), and once this
threshold is met, only to the extent that the value of the executive’s stock holdings exceeds that multiple.

In accordance with the terms of the Senior Executive’s amended and restated employment agreements, the
aggregate performance-based bonus pool generated for 2007 was $600,000. The Compensation Committee, based
upon its assessment of the individual performance of each of the Senior Executives, allocated the performance-based
bonus pool as follows:

Restricted Shares

Cash Shares Value Total
Stewart ZIMMETmMAan ......o.eeveeeeieeernesssscssesrnereenee 9 L7000 7,982 $ 70,000 $ 240,000
Ronald A. Freydberg . .. 140,000 4,562 40,000 180,000
William 5, GOFD covoricieccc e s rens s e 140,000 : 4,562 40,000 180,000

For 2007, the Compensation Committee, in its discretion, provided additional incentive compensation to
each of the Senior Executives beyond the annual performance-based bonus awards earned under the incentive
compensation structure as contemplated in their amended and restated employment agreements. This additional
incentive compensation was provided in consideration of management’s execution of our business and strategic
plans in 2007. Specifically, the Compensation Committee noted that, notwithstanding the volatility of market
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conditions in 2007, we were able to successfully employ our business strategy which led to consecutive quarterly
increases in dividends to stockholders, the preservation of the book value of the Common Stock and the completion
of multiple accretive public offerings of Common Stock. In addition, the Compensation Committee recognized that
management’s strategy of reducing both our asset base and leverage during the first half of 2007 positioned us to
take advantage of investment opportunities later in the year in higher-yielding morigage-backed securities with
attractive spreads.

This additional incentive compensation awarded to each of the Senior Executives was as follows:

Cash
SUEWAIT ZUTUTIETTIEAN o.e oot eemsnecreanie st svabessbbas s asnsasa s sastssntstesa oeseseatsnssrnberssssnbsabssatasessbessssesssebesabessin $ 200,000
Ronald A. Freydberg .... 150,000
WIHAITE S, GO c.eceeecieeccce st eeaeseesesateseetesstsasarss ess s esa et asas saetemns basssems s s e s st somnssmessmmnsant e s mnesmssemn b ras 150,000

Annual incentive compensation for Mr. Korth and Ms. Covello is determined at the discretion of the
Compensation Committee based upon its assessment of our performance and the performance of each individual
senior execulive against certain performance metrics and benchmarks. Mr. Kornth and Ms. Covello received
incentive compensation awards for 2007 of $195,000 and $165,000, respectively. Of these total incentive amounts,
Mr. Korth received payment of $15,000 in the form of 1,711 Restricted Shares and Ms. Covello received payment of
$10,000 in the form of 1,141 Restricted Shares.

The cash component of the incentive compensation for 2007, which was approved by the Compensation
Committeec on December 13, 2007, was paid to the Named Executive Officers on January 15, 2008. The restricted
stock awards granted to the Named Executive Officers were made on December 17, 2007 under the 2004 Equity
Compensation Plan. Twenty-five percent of these Restricted Shares became fully vested upon grant, with the
remaining 75% vesting equally on each of the next three anniversaries of the date of grant. Dividends are paid
currently on all vested and unvested Restricted Shares.

Equity Grants

The Compensation Committee believes that equity-based incentives are an effective means of motivating
and rewarding long-term Company performance and value creation. In addition, equity-based incentives
appropriately align the interests of management with those of stockholders. During the second quarter of 2004, we
adopted the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, as approved by our stockholders, which amended and restated our
Second Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan. ln accordance with the terms of the 2004 Equity
Compensation Plan, directors, officers and employees of MFA and any of our subsidiaries and other persons
expected to provide significant services (of a type expressly approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board
as covered services for these purposes) to us are eligible to be granted Options, restricted stock, phantom shares,
DERs and other stock-based awards under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan.

On October 26, 2007, the Compensation Committee determined to grant an aggregate of 302,085 phantom
shares (the “Phantom Shares”), together with DERs attached, to the Named Executive Officers under the 2004
Equity Compensation Plan. With the adoption and implementation of a Phantom Share program, the Compensation
Committee believes that a meaningful long-term retention and equity-building component for our senior executives
and other key employees has been added to our comprehensive compensation program. The purpose for the award
of these Phantom Shares, which “cliff vest” after approximately 38 months, was principally to help assure the
retention of our key employees, including the Named Executive Officers, during this retention period. Given the
volatility in the current marketplace and the fact that the expiration dates of the employment agreements for four of
the five Named Executive Officers were scheduled to occur during the retention period, the Compensation
Committee concluded that grant of Phantom Shares would serve our retention goals, help further to align the
interests of the Named Executive Officers with those of our stockholders and provide appropriate additional
compensation to the Named Executive Officers in the form of quarterly DER distributions, during the period in
which these Phantom Shares continue to be outstanding, for their continuing service. In determining the appropriate
amounts of Phantom Shares to be awarded to the Named Executive Officers, the Compensation Commitiee took into
consideration, among other things, that the amount awarded to each of the Senior Executives was equal the amount
of their respective current annual contractual base compensation. In addition, the amounts awarded to Mr. Korth
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and Ms. Covello reflect the recommendation with respect thereto made by our Chief Executive Officer to the
Compensation Committee. The amounts awarded are also consistent with those recommended by the Consultant in
a sirmlar context. These Phantom Shares are scheduled to vest in full on December 31, 2010 (or earlier in the event
of death or disability or termination of service with us for any reason other than cause) and, once vested, shall be
settled on a one-for-one basis in shares of Common Stock on the earlier of a termination of service with us (for any
reason), a change in control or on January 1, 2013. During the period from award until settlement, the Named
Executive Officers are entitled to receive DER distributions on all unvested Phantom Shares. The table below sets
forth certain information regarding the number of Phantom Shares and related DERs held by the Named Executive
Officers on December 31, 2007, as wel} as distributions with respect 1o these DERs paid to the Named Executive
Officers during fiscal year 2007.

Phantom Shares 2007 DER
Shares Value'" DERs Distributions
Stewart Zimmerman ..... 115,741 $ 1,000,000 115,741 —
Ronald A. Freydberg ... 78.125 675,000 78.125 —
Wiltiam S. Gorin....... 78,125 675,000 78,125 —
Timothy W, Korth. . 17,362 150,000 17,362 —
Teresa D COVEHO vt eeiere e rasra e raesrenn s 12,732 100,000 12,732 -_—

'” For purposes of this table, the value of the Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of Phantom Shares granted under the

2004 Equity Compensation Plan is deemed to be $8.64 per share, the closing price of the Common Stock reported en the NYSE on
October 26, 2007 (the date of grant).

As of December 31, 2007, the Named Executive Officers held an aggregate of 835,000 Options that had
DERs attached. With respect to these DERs, the Named Executive Officers are only entitled to receive DER
distributions to the extent that related Options are vested. The table below sets forth certain information regarding
the number of vested and unvested DERs held by the Named Executive Officers on December 31, 2007, as well as
distributions with respect to these DERs paid to the Named Executive Officers during fiscal year 2007. This
information regarding distributions paid on DERs during 2007 can also be found in the Summary Compensation
Table under the column entitled “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.”

2007 DER
Vested DERs tInvested DERs Distributions
SIEWANT ZIDMETTIAN 1.vvvverrvsrrrererssrrverssraesrsvrssensmensssrrsesseorssseces 285,000 — § 94,050
Ronald A. Freydberg ... 170,000 — 56,100
William S. Gorin....... 180,000 —_ 59,400
Timothy W. Korth..... 50,000 — 15,750
Teresa D, COVEIIO ..vvvvirnrnrisirissrssrsire e rassesrsrassesesrrvessaersasnees 50,000 — 16,500

Under the terms of his amended and restated employment agreement, Mr. Zimmerman is entitled to receive
a grant of Common Stock with an aggregate grant date fair value of $100,000 on the first business day of each year
afier April 16, 2006, the effective date of his amended and restated employment agreement, during the term of his
employment. These stock grants represent a payment of a portion of Mr. Zimmerman’s annual base salary
compensation and are fully vested and non-forfeitable upon the date of grant. Mr. Zimmerman may not sell or
otherwise transfer these shares during the term of his employment unless his stock holdings in us exceed a multiple
of five times his annual base compensation and, once this threshold is met, only to the extent that the value of his
stock holdings exceeds that multiple. The Compensation Commiltee believes that paying a portion of
Mr. Zimmerman’s base salary in the form of Common Stock aligns his interests and compensation with long-term
stockholder value creation. During 2007, pursuant to his amended and restated employment agreement,
Mr. Zimmerman received a grant of 13,004 shares of Common Stock on January 2, 2007, which had a value of
$100,000 based on the closing stock price on the New York Stock Exchange of $7.69 on December 29, 2006 (the
last trading day of the year).

No other equity grants were made to the Named Executive Officers during 2007 other than those grants
detailed above and those awarded in conjunction with the incentive compensation. The Compensation Commitiee
will continue to evaluate the Named Executive Officer compensation programs and Company performance and
retains the right to make future equity-based grants.
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Deferred Compensation

On December 19, 2002, the Board adopted the Sentor Officers Plan which gives executive officers the
ability to elect 1o defer up to 100% of their annuai cash incentive compensation. Amounts deferred under this plan
are subject to a five-year deferral period. The Senior Officers Plan is intended to provide executive officers with an
opportunity to defer certain compensation while at the same time aligning their interests with the interests of
stockholders. Amounts deferred under the plan are considered to be converted into “stock units” of MFA, which do
not represent our capital stock, but rather the right to receive a cash payment equal to the fair market value of an
equivalent number of shares of Common Stock. Deferred amounts, together with any cash dividend equivalents
credited 1o outstanding stock units, increase or decrease in value as would an equivalent number of shares of
Common Stock and are settled in cash at the termination of the deferral period, based on the value of the stock units
at that time. Prior to the time that the deferred accounts are settled, participants are unsecured creditors.

The Named Executive Officers are also eligible to participate in our tax-qualified retirement savings plan
(the “401(k) Plan™) under which all full-time employees are able to contribute compensation up to the limit
prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service on a before-tax basis. We match 100% of the first 3% of eligible
compensation deferred by our employees and 50% of the next 2%, subject to a maximum as provided by
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the *Code™). Subject to certain restrictions, all
of our employees are eligible to participate in this plan. We have elected to operate this plan under applicable safe
harbor provisions of the Code, whereby, among other things, we must make contributions for all participating
employees, and all matches contributed by us immediately vest 100%.

Perguisites and Other Benefits

In general, it is the Compensation Committee’s practice to provide limited perquisites and other benefits to
the Named Executive Officers. We do not reimburse the Named Executive Officers for automobiles, clubs,
financial planning or items of a similar nature. The Compensation Committee periodically reviews the levels of
perquisites and other benefits provided to Named Executive Officers in light of market practices and within the
context of the tolal compensation program.

The Named Executive Officers are eligible to participate in our employee health and welfare benefit
programs. The auributed costs of these benefits for the Named Executive Officers for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007, are included in the Summary Compensation Table under the column entitled “All Other
Compensation” and the related footnote. In addition, we provide all employees, including the Named Executive
Officers, with up to $500,000 of accidental death and dismemberment insurance while traveling on business or
traveling to or attending Board, committee and stockholder meetings and other Company-sponsored events.

As discussed above in this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we have entered into amended and
restated employment agreements with each of the Named Executive Officers, These amended and restated
employment agreements are designed to promote our stability and continuity of senior leadership. Information with
respect to applicable severance payments under these agreements for the Named Executive Officers is provided
under the section “Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements”
of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.

Deductibility of Executive Compensation. The Compensation Committee has determined to maximize the
tax deductibility of compensation payments to our executive officers under Section 162(m) of the Code and the
regulations thereunder. Section 162(m) imposes an annual individual {imit of $1 million on the deductibility of our
compensation payments to executives. Specified compensation is excluded for this purpose, inciuding performance-
based compensation, provided that certain conditions are satisfied. In this regard, grants under our 2004 Equity
Compensation Plan will generally be intended to be qualified performance-based compensation and the
Compensation Committee has the authority to structure other awards thereunder as qualified performance-based
compensation for these purposes. The Compensation Committee may, however, authorize paymenis to executives
that may not be fully deductible if it believes such payments are in our interest and that of our stockholders.
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Other Tax and Accounting Implications. The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 changed the 1ax rules
applicable to nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements. We believe that we are operating in good faith
compliance with these statutory provisions and all subsequent regulatory authority.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted FAS 123R. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123R, we accounted for our
stock based compensation in accordance with FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as
amended by FAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” which was
adopted on January 1, 2003.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee evaluates and establishes compensation for our senior executive officers and
administers our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, Senior Officers Plan, Non-Employee Directors Plan and other
management incentive, benefit and perquisite programs, While management has the primary responsibility for our
financial reporting process, including the disclosure of executive compensation, the Compensation Committee has
reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth in this Proxy
Statement. The Compensation Committee is satisfied that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis fairly
represents the philosophy, intent and actions of the Compensation Commiltee with regard to executive
compensation. The Compensation Commitiee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement for filing with the SEC,

James A. Brodsky, Chairman
Stephen R. Blank
George H. Krauss
' The foregoing Compensation Committee Report shall not be deemed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act to
be (i} “soliciting material” or “filed” or (ii) incorporated by reference by any general statement into any filing
i made by us with the SEC. except 1o the extent that we specifically incorporate such report by reference.

| Compensation of Executive Officers

| The following table summarizes the annual compensation received by the Named Executive Officers for
the year ended December 31, 2007.

Summary Compensation Tahle

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan All Other
Name and Salary Bonus Stock Awards  Compensation Compensation Total
Principal Position Year (s)lli (S)(INB ($)(l)[31(4] (s)(ﬂ ($}lﬁ117) ($)

Stewart Zimmerman, 2007 3 900,000 § 370,000 $ 117502% 5 94,050 $ 29947 3 1.511499
Chairman of the Board, 2006 929,167 175,000 137.500 50,063 27953 1.319.683
Chief Executive Officer and
President

Ronald A. Freydberg, 2007 675.000 260,000 9,378 56,100 3333 1.075.816
Executive Vice President and 2006 696,875 137,500 9.376 30.250 30426 904,427
Chief Portfolio Officer

William S. Gorin, 2007 675,000 290,000 19,378® 59,400 33,331 1,077,109
Executive Vice President and 2006 696.875 £37.500 9,376 32,250 30426 906,427
Chief Financial Officer

Timothy W, Korth, 2007 275.000 180.000 562777 15,750 32.650 509,027
General Counsel, Senior Vice 2006 275.000 130,000 1,876 6,875 29.746 443,497
President — Business Development
and Corporute Secretary

Teresa D, Covello, 2007 225,000 155.000 4377 16.500 32,164 433.041
Senior Vice President, Chief 2006 225,000 125,000 1,876 8,125 29.260 389.261

Accounting Officer and Treasurer
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Material terms of the amended and restated employment agreements of the Named Executive Officers are provided under “Employment
Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements” of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy
Statement.

Amounts in this colemn represent (a) for 2007, the cash component of the 2007 bonus awards that were paid to the Named Executive
Officers on January 15, 2008 and (b} for 2006, the cash component of the 2006 bonus awards that were paid 1o the Named Executive
Officers on January 12, 2007.

Amounts in this column represent compensation costs recognized by us for awards of Restricted Shares based upon the fair value as of
the grant date of such awards determined pursuant to FAS 123R.

Amounts in this column do not include the Phantom Shares granted by us under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan on October 26,
2007, which are scheduled to vest in full on December 31, 2010 (or earlier in the event of death or disability or termination of service
with us for any reason other than cause). Once vested, these Phantom Shares shall be settled on a one-for-one basis in shares of
Common Stock on the earlier of a termination of service with us (for any reason}, a change in control or on January 1, 2013, At
December 31, 2007, the total number of unvested Phantom Shares held by the Named Executive Officers was 302,085, See
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive Compensation—Equity Grants™ of this Executive Compensation
section of the Proxy Statement.

Amounts in this column represent aggregate distributions paid on DERs, which represent the right to receive a distribution on each DER
equal to the cash dividend paid on a share of Common Stock, attached to outstanding vested Options.

Amounts in this colemn represent all other compensation received by the Named Executive Officers during 2007,

401(k) Plan Disability and Dental
Health Insurance  Company Match  Life Insurance Insurance Total
($) ($) $) ($) $
Stewart ZIMMerman ... § 13,892 § 5,000 § 5,825 $ 1230 $ 20947
Ronald A, Freydberg ....oovvvivinans 20,870 9,000 1,710 1,751 33331
William S. Gorin ....... 20,870 9,000 1,710 1,751 33,331
Timothy W. Korth, 20,870 9,000 1,029 1,751 32,650
Teresa D. Covello...ooicciicvreecnns 20,870 0,000 543 1,751 32,164

M

Amounts in this column represent all other compensation received by the Named Executive Officers during 2006,

401(k) Pian Disability and Dental
Health Insurance  Company Match  Life Insurance Insurance Total
%) $ [£3] %) (%)
Stewart Zimmerman............coooeeeon, 3 12,156 $ 8800 $ 5825 $ 1I72 $ 27953
Ronald A. Freydberg .....cccococveneracene. 18,248 8.800 1,710 1,668 30426
Wilttam S. Gorin ....... 18,248 8.800 1,710 1,668 30,426
Timothy W. Korth . 18,248 8,800 1.030 1,668 29,746
Teresa D. Covello.....oeneieieennne 18,248 8,800 544 1,668 29,260

)

&

a0y

an

Amount not including 115,741 Phantom Shares awarded under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan having a value of $1,070,604. This
value is based on a market value of the Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of these Phantom Shares of $9.25 per
share, the closing price of the Common Stock reported on the NYSE on December 31, 2007 (the last trading day of the year). Assuming
continued employment with us, these Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010.

Amount not including 78,125 Phantom Shares awarded under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan having a value of $722,656. This
value is based on a market value of the Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of these Phantom Shares of $9.25 per
share, the closing price of the Common Stock reported on the NYSE on December 31, 2007 (the last trading day of the year). Assuming
continued employment with us, these Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010.

Amount not including 17,362 Phantom Shares awarded under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan having a value of $160,599. This
value is based on a market value of the Common Stock reserved for tssuance upon settlement of these Phantom Shares of $9.25 per
share, the closing price of the Common Stock reporied on the NYSE on December 31, 2007 {the last trading day of the year). Assuming
continued employment with us, these Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010,

Amount not including 12,732 Phantom Shares awarded under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan having a value of $117,771. This
value is based on a market value of the Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of these Phantom Shares of $9.25 per
share, the closing price of the Common Stock reported on the NYSE on December 31, 2007 (the lust trading day of the year). Assuming
continued employment with us, these Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010.”
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sammarizes certain information regarding all plan-based awards granted to the Named

Executive Officers during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Grants of Plan Based Awards for 2007

All Other Stock Grant Date

Awards: Fair Value of
Date of Number of Stock and
Compensation  Shares of Stock Option
Committee or Units Awards'"
Grant Date Action (#) ($)
StEWArt ZAMMETMIAN. .......ocoervrvvvereererassoseessrssresansssssserssssss s srasaressnsssn 01/022007% 4124120067 13,004 $ 100,000
121172007 12/13/2007 7.9829 70,000
Ronald A. Freydberg .......oocooirceericnrercerimerereresmesereesnenens 12/17/2007 12/1372007 4562519 40,000
William S. Gorin. 121772007 12/13/2007 45625 40,000
Timothy W. Korth ... . 1RnT72007 12/13/2007 Lee 15,000
Teresa D, Covello.. e snssesssssiseseenees 120072007 12/13/2007 L14i9® 10,000

n
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Amounts in this column represent the aggregate value of the stock awards granted in 2007 based upon the fair value as of the grant date
of such awards determined pursuant to FAS 123R. For each of the Named Executive Officers, only 25% of the amount set forth in this
column was recognized as compensation during 2007,

In accordance with the terms of Mr. Zimmerman’s amended and restated employment agreement, which was approved by the
Compensation Committee on April 24, 2006, the date of his annual stock grant in 2007 was contractuatly set as the first business day of
the year (January 2., 2007).

In accordance with the terms of Mr. Zimmerman's amended and restated employment agreement, such shares of Common Stock became
fully vested upon the date of grant; however, unless there is a lermination of service, Mr. Zimmerman is not permitted to voluntarily or
involuntarily sell, transfer, pledge, anticipate, alienate, encumber or assign such shares {or have such shares attached or gamished) until
such time as the value of his stock holdings in us exceeds a multiple of five times his annual base compensation and, once this threshold
is met, only in amounts having a value that exceeds that multiple.

Amount not including 115,741 shares of Common Stock reserved for isssance upon settlement of Phantom Shares granted on October
26, 2007 by the Compensation Committee under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan. Assuming continued employment with us, these
Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive
Compensation—Equity Grants” of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.

In accordance with the terms of the applicable award agreements, 25% of such shares of Common Stock became fully vested upon the
date of grant and, thercafier, with respect to the remaining 75%, restrictions will lapse on one-quarter of such shares on each of the next
three anniversaries of the date of grant. With respect to Mr. Zimmerman, unless there is o termination of service under the terms of his
amended and restated employment agreements, he will not be permitted to voluniarily or involuntarily sell, transfer, pledge, anticipate,
alienate, encumber or assign these shares {or have these shares attached or gamished) until such time as the value of his stock holdings in
us exceeds five times his respective annual base compensation and, once this threshold is met, only in amounts having a value that
exceeds that multiple. With respect 1o Messrs. Freydberg and Gorin, unless there is a termination of service, under the terms of their
respective amended and restated employment agreements, neither of Messrs. Freydberg or Gorin is permitted to voluntanily or
involuntarily sell, transfer, pledge. anticipate, alienate, encumber or assign these shares (or have such shares attached or garnished) until
such time as the value of his respective stock holdings in us exceeds three times his respective annual base compensation and, once this
threshold is met. only in amounts having a valee that exceeds that multiple.

Amount not including 78,125 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of Phantom Shares granted on October 26,
2007 by the Compensation Committee under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, Assuming continued employment with us, these
Phantom Shares wilt vest in full on December 31, 2010. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive
Compensation—Equity Grants™ of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.

Amount not including 17,362 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of Phantom Shares granted on October 26.
2007 by the Compensation Committee under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan. Assuming continued employment with us, these
Phantomn Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive
Compensation—Equity Grants™ of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.

Amount not including 12,732 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of Phantom Shares granted on October 26,
2007 by the Compensation Committee under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan. Assuming continued employment with us, these
Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010. Sce “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive
Compensation—Equity Grants” of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.
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Outstanding Equity Awards

The following table summarizes all ouistanding equity awards held by the Named Executive Officers on

December 31, 2007.
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal 2007 Year-End
Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of
Securities Securities Number of Market Value
Underlying Underlying Shares or of Shares or
Unexercised Unexercised Units of Stock  Units of Stock
Options Options Option Option That Have That Have
Exercisahle Unexercisable  Exercise Price Expiration Not Vested Not Vesled
Name i) # ($) Date " $"?
Stewart ZImmerman .......c.o...... 100,000 — $ 9375 41612008 — —
100,000 — 4.875 8/13/2009 — —
185,000 — 10.250 107112013 — —
— — _— — 5.987% $  553%0
— — - — 115.741% 1.070.604
Ronald A. Freydberg .....cccccccec.... 70,000 — 9.375 4/6/2008 — —
100,000 — 10.250 10/1/2013 — —
— — — — 2,404 22237
— — — — 34229 31,654
— — — — 78,1254 722,656
William S. Gorin....cniiireen, 80,000 — 9.375 4/6/2008 — —
100,000 — 10.250 10/1/2013 — —
— — - — 2404 22,237
— — — — 3422 3654
— — — — 78,125 722.656
Timothy W. Korth _......cccvevvnnn. 50,000 — 10.230 222014 — —
-— — — — 4819 4,449
— — — — 1,2849 11.877
— — — — 17,362 160,599
Teresa D. Covello....occovenne. 50,000 — 10.250 10/1/2013 — —
— — — — 481'% 4,449
— — — — 8564 7918
— — — —_ 12,732% 7371

n

@

[£})

)

(5

Excludes 2,404 Restricted Shares granted to Mr. Zimmerman that were considered vested on the date of grant (December 14, 2006)
because. under the accelerated vesting provisions set forth in our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan and the applicable award, there was no
substantial risk of forfeiture.

For purposes of this tabte, the market value of the Common Stock, including Common Stock reserved for issuance upon settlement of

Phantom Shares granted under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, is deemed to be $9.25 per share. the closing price of the Common
Stock reported on the NYSE on December 31. 2007 (the last trading day of the year).

These stock awards were granted on December 17, 2007. Assuming continued employment with us, one-third of these shares will vest
on December 17 of each of 2008, 2009 and 2010.

Phantom Shares awarded under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan on October 26, 2007, Assuming continued employment with us,
these Phantom Shares will vest in full on December 31, 2010. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive
Compensation—Equity Grants™ of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement.

These stock awurds were granted on December 14, 2006, Assuming continued employment with us, one-half of these shares will vest on
December 14 of each of 2008 and 2009,
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes certain information regarding the Common Stock available for issuance
under our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan as of December 31, 2007.

Number of Shares to be Weighted Average
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Number of Shares
Qutstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Available for Future
Plan Category Warrants and Rights™ Warrants and Rights Issuance'”
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Stockholders... e 962,000 $ 933 1,918,125
Equity Compcnsauon Plans Nol Approved by
Stockholders™.......ecee... — — —
TOLAl vt sb et sasrens s e 962,000 $ 933 1,918,125

n Amounts in this column do not represent the Phantom Shares granted by us under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan on October 26,

2007, which are scheduled to vest in full on December 31, 2010 (or earlier in the event of death or disability or termination of service
with us for any reason other than cause). Once vested, these Phantom Shares shull be settled on a one-for-one basis in shares of
Common Stock on the earlier of a termination of service with us (for any reason), a change in control or on January 1, 2013, At
December 31, 2007, the total number of outstanding Phantom Shares siill subject to forfeiture was 326,392, See “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis—-Elements of Executive Compensation—Equity Grants” of this Executive Compensation section of the Proxy
Suatement.

@ We have not adopted any “equity compensation plans” as defined in the applicable SEC rules which have not been approved by our

stockholders.
Long-Term Incentive Plans and Other Matters

2004 Equity Compensation Plan. In general, subject to certain exceptions, stock-based awards relating to a
maximum of 3.5 million shares of Common Stock may be granted under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan
{forfeitures and/or awards that expire unexercised do not count towards such limit). Subject to certain exceptions, a
participant may not receive stock-based awards in excess of 500,000 shares of Common Stock in any one year and
no award may be granted 10 any person who, assuming exercise of all Options and payment of all awards held by
such person, would own or be deemed to own more than 9.8% of the ountstanding shares of our capital stock. Unless
previously terminated by the Board, awards may be granted under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan untii the
tenth anniversary of the date that our stockholders approved such plan.

Pursuant to Section 422(b) of the Code in order for Options granted under the 2004 Equity Compensation
Plan and vesting in any one calendar year to qualify as incentive Options (“ISOs”™) for tax purposes, the market
value of the Common Stock, as determined on the date of grant, to be received upon exercise of such Options shall
not exceed $100,000 during any such calendar year. The exercise price of an ISO may not be lower than 100%
(110% in the case of an ISO granted to a 10% stockholder) of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the
date of grant. In addition, the exercise price for all other Options issued under the 2004 Equity Compensation Plan
may not be less than the fair market value on the date of grant. Each Option is exercisable after the period or
periods specified in the award agreement, which will generally not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Options
will be exercisable at such times and subject to such terms as determined by the Compensation Commitiee.

A Phantom Share is a right to receive, subject to the satisfaction of conditions set by the Compensation
Committee at the time of grant, a payment of a specified value, which, as specified by the Compensation Committee
at the time of grant, may be a share of Common Stock, the fair market value of a share of Common Stock or such
fair market value to the extent in excess of an established base value, on the applicable settlement date. A DER is a
right to receive, as specified by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant, a distribution equal to the cash
dividend distributions paid on a share of Common Stock. DERs may be granted separately or together with other
awards and are paid in cash or other consideration at such times and in accordance with such rules as the
Compensation Committee shall determine in its discretion.

As of the Record Date, under our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan, there were outstanding (i) Options to

acquire (a) a total of 100,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $4.875 per share, (b) a total of 75,000
shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $9.375 per share, (c) a total of 452,000 shares of Common Stock at a
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purchase price of $10.25 per share, (d) a total of 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $10.23 per
share, and (e) a total of 30,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $8.40 per share, (i} a total of 326,392
Phantom Shares still subject to forfeiture, (iii) a total of 23,578 Restricted Shares still subject to forfeiture and (iv) a
total of 1,035,892 vested DERs. During 2007, no Options were granted or exercised and no outstanding Options for
any of the Named Executive Officers were repriced. As of the Record Date, 1,907,315 shares of Common Stock
remained available for grant to eligible participants under our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding all stock awards vested and value realized
upon vesting by the Named Executive Officers during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Stock Vested
Stock Awards
Number of Shares Acquired on Grant Date Value
. Vesting Realized on Vesting

Name # (%}
SIEWArT ZIMIMETIIAN .....oooetcteeees bt tsteeseeemsemsseesebesssesesesssssssanans 14,999 $ 117,500
Ronald A. Freydberg .........cccocccveriienecen 2,342 19,375
William S. Gorin ..... 2,342 19,375
Timothy W, Korth... .. 668 5.625
Teresa D, Covello.....oi i 526 4,375

Deferred Plans. On December 19, 2002, the Board adopted the Senior Officers Plan and the Non-
Employee Directors Plan (collectively, as amended, the “Deferred Plans”). The Deferred Plans are intended to
provide our non-employee directors and executive officers with an opportunity to defer up to 100% of certain
compensation, as defined in the Deferred Plans, while at the same time aligning their interests with the interests of
stockholders. Under the Deterred Plans, amounts deferred are considered to be converted into our “stock units,”
which do not represent our capital stock, but rather the right to receive a cash payment equal to the fair market value
of an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock. Deferred amounts, together with any cash dividend
equivalents credited to outstanding stock units, increase or decrease in value as would an equivalent number of
shares of Common Stock and are settled in cash at the termination of the deferral period, based on the value of the
stock units at that time. The Deferred Plans are non-qualified plans under the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended, and are not funded. Prior to the time that the deferred accounts are settled,
participants are unsecured creditors. During 2007, our executive officers were eligible to participate in the Senior
Officers Plan through which they could elect to defer a certain percentage of their compensation; however, effective
January 1, 2007, the Board resolved to suspend indefinitely the non-employee directors’ ability to defer additional
compensation under the Non-Employee Directors Plan.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding amounts deferred by the Named Executive
Officers under the Senior Officers Plan as of December 31, 2007.

Nonguatified Deferred Compensation

Executive Registrant Aggregate
Contributions Contributions Earnings in Aggregate Aggregate
in Last Fiscal in Last Fiseal Last Fiscal Withdraws/ Balance at Last
Year Year Year Distributions Fiscal Year End
Name ($) % {$) (%) ($)
Stewitrt Zimmerman .o emeereeveresrnene — — — — 3 122618
Ronald A. Freydberg..o.eevereevermaee. — — — — 67,382

William S. Gorin .....
Timothy W. Korth .....ooveerrerirnrnennnens
Teresa D, Covello.....ovvnvmrinoiiniinons — - —_ - -

— — —_ — 158,104
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The following table summarizes certain additional information regarding amounts deferred by our non-
employee directors and Named Executive Officers participating in the Deferred Plans as of December 31, 2007.

Total Amount Fair Market Value

Name Deferred"” of Deferred Amount
Non-Emplovee Directors
Stephen R. Blank .. $ 86,863 $ 101,984
James A. Brodsky.... 45,801 53,706
Edison C. Buchanan . 144,767 184,058
Michael L. BPXRIE e e 19,672 19,415
ALLN L. GOSUIE vt et cressnns st semnsns s ers e s oes et sisa s 143.775 160,727
George H. KIAUSS 1ovesvaecem et sssirs e smssass st snssenssessentas 191.685 225,461
Named Executive Officers
SEEWRIT ZiMIMEIIAN e eeueeeteaeeireierevereesmerensesessssesssste sescmsteempesibsssbatas 118,163 122,618
Ronald A. FreydbDerg .ot ers 62,698 67,382
WHTHAM S, GOMM covveoeoeoceo oot veeeseeess e s sesesessams s s ne et et 148,983 158,104

TOUEL v eeevemereereee e e eeee bbbt es s ssbas s b ams s et $ 962497 $ 1.093.455

Amounts in this column represents total compensation deferred and cash dividend equivalents credited to outstanding stock units from
inception of participation in the Deferred Plans.

Pension Benefits

The Named Executive Officers received no benefits in 2007 from us under defined pension or defined
contribution plans other than our tax-qualified 401(k) Plan.

Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements

With respect to the Named Executive Officers, we entered into amended and restated employment
agreements with (i) Messrs. Zimmerman, Freydberg and Gorin as of April 16, 2006 and (ii) Mr. Korth and
Ms. Covello as of January 1, 2008. As described below, these employment agreements provide the Named
Executive Officers with, among other things, certain payments at, following and/or in connection with certain
terminations of employment or a change-in-control involving MFA. As used below, the terms “Cause,” “Change In
Control,” “Disability,” “Good Reason™ and “Pre-Change-1n-Control Event” shall have the respective meanings set
forth in the applicable employment agreements.

Stewart Zimmerman. The amended and restated employment agreement for Mr, Zimmerman provides for
an annual base salary of not less than $900,000. Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Zimmerman is also entitled to
receive an annual grant of Common Stock having an aggregate grant date fair value of $100,000, which was paid on
the effective date of his amended and restated employment contract and, thereafter, will be paid on the first business
day of each year during the term of his employment. In addition, Mr. Zimmerman is eligible to participate with
Messrs. Freydberg and Gorin in an annual performance-based bonus pool, ranging annually from a minimum of
$400,000 to a maximum of $6.0 million, based upon our attainment of specified ROAE targets. Specific
information regarding the application of this performance-based bonus pool, including the applicable ROAE targets,
is provided under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive Compensation” of this
Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement. As provided in this agreemeni, a portion of any
performance-based bonus pool amount paid to Mr. Zimmerman shall be paid in Restricted Shares (with respect to
2006, at least 25% of any such annual bonus amount over $100,000 and, with respect to each year thereafter, at least
50% of any such annual bonus amount over $100,000). In addition, in accordance with this agreement,
Mr. Zimmerman shall not be permitted to sell or otherwise transfer any such Restricted Shares during the term of his
employment unless the value of his stock holdings in us exceeds a multiple of five times his annual base
compensation and, once this threshold is met, only in amounts having a value that exceeds that multiple.
Mr. Zimmerman’s amended and restated employment agreement has a term of approximately five years, subject to
earlier termination in certain circumstances, and is scheduled to expire on December 31, 2010.

Pursuant to the terms of his amended and restated employment agreement, under certain specified scenarios
during the term of his employment, Mr. Zimmerman is entitled to receive, in addition to earned and unpaid amounts
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then owed to him, certain payments upon the termination of his employment or a Change In Control involving
MFA,

»  Without Cause or For Good Reason. If Mr. Zimmerman’s employment is terminated by us without
Cause (which would exclude our determination not to renew his employment at the end of any
applicable term) or by him for Good Reason, he will be entitled 1o (i) a payment equal to three times
the greater of his combined annual base compensation and performance bonus for the preceding fiscal
year or the average of his combined annual base compensation and performance bonus for the three
preceding fiscal years, (ii) the immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and
Options, with his Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after
such termination or the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred,
and (iii) the immediate full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares. In the
event that Mr. Zimmerman’s employment with us was terminated on December 31, 2007 under one of
these two scenarios, he would have been entitled to receive from us a payment estimated to be
$4.987.651.

s Change In Control. If Mr. Zimmerman's employment is terminated (i) by us without Cause within
two months before a Change In Control and following the occurrence of a Pre-Change-In-Conirol
Event, (ii) by his resignation for any reason within six months following a Change In Control, or
(iii) by us other than for Cause or by his resignation for Good Reason within 24 months following a
Change In Control, he will be entitled to (a) a payment equal 1o 300% of the sum of his current annual
base compensation and his performance bonus for the preceding fiscal year, (b) the immediate full
vesting of ali of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his Options and related DERs
remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or the contractual expiration
of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (¢) the immediate full vesting and settlement of
all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (d) the continued participation, at our expense, in all of our
health insurance, life insurance, retirement and other benefit programs for the balance of the term of
his employment agreement. In the event that Mr, Zimmenman's employment with us was terminated
on December 31, 2007 under one of these three scenarios, he would have been entitled to receive from
us a payment estimated to be $4,875,436.

*  Non-Renewal of Employment. If Mr, Zimmerman’s employment is terminated by us based upon our
determination not to renew the term of his employment at the end of any applicable term, he will be
entitled to (1) a payment equal to his current base compensation, (ii) the immediate full vesting of ali of
his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his Options and related DERs remaining
outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or the contractual expiration of such
instruments had such termination not occurred, and (iii) the immediate full vesting and settlement of all
of his outstanding Phantom Shares. In the event that Mr. Zimmerman’s employment with us was
terminated on December 31, 2007 under this scenario, he would have been entitled to receive from us a
payment estimated to be $2,125,984.

o Death or Disabifity. If Mr. Zimmerman's employment is terminated by reason of his death or
Disability, he (or his legal representative or estate) will be entitled to (i) a continued payment on a
monthly basis of his current annual base compensation for a period of two years following such
termination, (ii) the immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options,
with his Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such
termination or the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred,
(iii) the immediate full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) in the
event of his Disability only, the continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance for the
balance of the duration of the Disability (subject to certain limitations). In the event that
Mr. Ziminerman’s employment with us was terminated on December 31, 2007 (i) by reason of his
death, his estate would have been entitled to receive from us payments estimated to be $3,125,984 or
(i1) by reason of his Disability, he or his legal guardian would have been entitled 1o receive from us
payments estimated to be $3,300,633 (assuming payment of health insurance until age 70).

27




e Cause or Voluntarily Without Good Reason. If Mr. Zimmerman’s employment is terminated (i) by us
for Cause or (ii} at his own volition other than for Good Reason, he will not be entitled to any
additional payments from us.

In addition to the foregoing amounts, in the event that Mr. Zimmerman’s employment with us was terminated on
December 31, 2007 under any of the scenarios identified above, he would have also been entitled to receive from us
a payment of all amounts deferred by him under the Senior Officers Plan equal to $122,618.

Ronald A. Freydberg. The amended and restated employment agreement for Mr. Freydberg provides for an
annual base salary of not less than $675,000. Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Freydberg is eligible to participate
with Messrs. Zimmerman and Gorin in an annual performance-based bonus pool, ranging annually from a minimum
of $400,000 to a maximum of $6.0 million, based upon our attainment of specified ROAE targets. Specific
information regarding the application of this performance-based bonus pool. including the applicable ROAE targets,
is provided under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive Compensation” of this
Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement. As provided in this agreement, a portion of any
performance-based bonus pool amount paid to Mr. Freydberg shall be paid in Restricted Shares (with respect to
2006, at least 25% of any such annual bonus amount over $100,000 and, with respect to each year thereafter, at least
50% of any such annual bonus amount over $100,000). In addition, in accordance with this agreement,
Mr. Freydberg shall not be permitted to sell or otherwise transfer any such Restricted Shares during the term of his
employment unless the value of his stock holdings in us exceeds a multipte of three times his annual base
compensation and, once this threshold is met, only in amounts having a value that exceeds that multiple.
Mr. Freydberg’s amended and restated employment agreement has a term of approximately three years, subject to
earlier termination in certain circumstances, and is scheduled to expire on December 31, 2008,

Pursuant to the terms of his amended and restated employment agreement, under certain specified scenarios
during the term of his employment, Mr. Freydberg is entitled to receive, in addition to earned and unpaid amounts
then owed to him, certain payments upon the termination of his employment or a Change In Control involving
MFA. '

e Without Cause or For Good Reason. If Mr. Freydberg’'s employment is terminated by us without
Cause (which would include our determination not to renew his employment at the end of any
applicable term) or by him for Good Reason, he will be entitled to (i) a continued payment, in
accordance with our payroll practices, of his current annual base compensation until the later of the
coniractual expiration of the stated term set forth in his employment agreement or the first anniversary
of such termination, (i) the immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and
Options, with his Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after
such termination or the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred,
(iii) the immediate full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) the
continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in his employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination. In the event that Mr. Freydberg’s employment with us was terminated on December 31,
2007 under one of these two scenarios, he would have been entitled to receive from us a payment
estimated to be $1,480,099,

o Change In Control. If Mr. Freydberg’s employment is terminated (i) by us without Cause within two
months before a Change In Control and following the occurrence of a Pre-Change-In-Control Event,
(ii) by his resignation for any reason within three months following a Change In Control, or (iii) by us
other than for Cause or by his resignation for Good Reason within 12 months following a Change In
Control, he will be entitled to (a) a payment equal to 300% of the sum of his current annual base
compensation and his highest performance bonus received during one of the two preceding fiscal
years, (b) the immediate full vesting of ail of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his
Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or
the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (c) the immediate
full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (d) the continued participation,
at our expense, in all of our health insurance, life insurance, retirement and other benefit programs for
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the balance of the term of his employment agreement. In the event that Mr. Freydberg’s employment
with us was terminated on December 31, 2007 under one of these three scenarios, he would have been
entitled to receive from us a payment estimated to be $3,367,760.

o Death or Disability. It Mr. Freydberg’s employment is terminated by reason of his death or Disability,
he {or his legal representative or estate) will be entitled to (i) a continued payment on a monthly basis
of his current annual base compensation for a period of one year following such termination, {ii} the
immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his Options and
related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or the
contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (iii) the immediate full
vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) in the event of his Disability
only. the continued participation, at our expense. in our health insurance for the balance of the duration
of the Disability (subject to certain limitations). In the event that Mr, Freydberg’s employment with us
was lerminated on December 31, 2007 (i} by reason of his death, his estate would have been entitled to
receive from us payments estimated to be $1,451,547 or (ii} by reason of his Disability, he or his legal
guardian would have been entitled to receive from us paymenis estimated to be $2,630.796 (assuming
payment of health insurance until age 65).

s Cause or Voluntarily Without Good Reason. 1f Mr. Freydberg’s employment is terminated (i} by us
for Cause or (ii) at his own volition other than for Good Reason, he will not be entitled to any
additional payments from us.

In addition to the foregoing amounts, in the event that Mr. Freydberg’s employment with us was terminated on
December 31, 2007 under any of the scenartos identified above, he would have also been entitled to receive from us
a payment of all amounts deferred by him under the Senior Officers Plan equal to $67,382,

William S. Gorin. The amended and restated employment agreement for Mr, Gorin provides for an annual
base salary of not less than $675,000. Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Gorin is eligible o participate with Messrs,
Zimmerman and Freydberg in an annual performance-based bonus pool, ranging annually from a minimum of
$400,000 to a maximum of $6.0 million, based upon our attainment of specified ROAE targets. Specific
information regarding the application of this performance-based bonus pool, including the applicable ROAE targets,
is provided under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Elements of Executive Compensation” of this
Executive Compensation section of the Proxy Statement. As provided in this agreement, a portion of any
performance-based bonus pool amount paid to Mr. Gorin shall be paid in Restricted Shares (with respect 1o 2006, at
least 25% of any such annual bonus amount over $100,000 and, with respect to each year thereafier, at least 50% of
any such annual bonus amount over $100,000). In addition, in accordance with this agreement, Mr. Gorin shall not
be permitted to sell or otherwise transfer any such Restricted Shares during the term of his employment unless the
value of his stock holdings in us exceeds a multiple of three times his annual base compensation and, once this
threshold is met, only in amounts having a value that exceeds that multiple. Mr. Gorin's amended and restated
employment agreement has a term of approximately three years, subject to earlier termination in certain
circumstances, and is scheduled to expire on December 31, 2008.

Pursuant to the terms of his amended and restated employment agreement, under certain specified scenarios
during the term of his employment, Mr. Gorin is entitled to receive, in addition to earned and unpaid amounts then
owed to him, certain payments upon the termination of his employment or a Change In Control involving MFA.

e Without Cause or For Good Reason, 1f Mr, Gorin’s employment is terminated by us without Cause
(which would include our determination not to renew his employment at the end of any applicable
term) or by him for Good Reason, he will be entitled to (i) a continued payment, in accordance with
our payroll practices, of his current annual base compensation until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in his employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination, (ii) the immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options,
with his Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days afier such
termination or the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred,
(iii) the immediate full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) the
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continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in his employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination. In the event that Mr. Gorin’s employment with us was terminated on December 31, 2007
under one of these two scenarios, he would have been entitled to receive from us a payment estimaled
to be $1,480,099.

s Change In Control. If Mr. Gorin’s employment is terminated (i) by us without Cause within two
months before a Change In Control and following the occurrence of a Pre-Change-In-Control Event,
(ii) by his resignation for any reason within three months following a Change In Control, or (iii) by us
other than for Cause or by his resignation for Good Reason within 12 months following a Change In
Control, he will be entitled to (a) a payment equal to 300% of the sum of his current annual base
compensation and his highest performance bonus received during one of the two preceding fiscal
years, (b) the immediate fuil vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his
Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days afier such termination or
the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (c) the immediate
full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (d) the continued participation,
at our expense, in all of our health insurance, life insurance, retirement and other benefit programs for
the balance of the term of his employment agreement. In the event that Mr. Gorin’s employment with
us was terminated on December 31, 2007 under one of these three scenarios, he would have been
entitted 1o receive from us a payment estimated to be $3,367.760.

e Dearth or Disability. If Mr. Gorin's employment is terminated by reason of his death or Disability, he
(or his legal representative or estate) will be entitled 1o (i) a continued payment on a monthly basis of
his current annual base compensation for a period of one year following such termination, (ii) the
immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his Options and
related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days afier such termination or the
contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred. (iii) the immediate full
vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) in the event of his Disability
only, the continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance for the balance of the duration
of the Disability (subject to certain limitations). In the event that Mr. Gorin’s employment with us was
terminated on December 31, 2007 (i) by reason of his death, his estate would have been entitled to
receive from us payments estimated to be $1,451,547 or (i) by reason of his Disability, he or his legal
guardian would have been entitled to receive from us payments estimated to be $2,393.870 (assuming
payment of health insurance until age 65).

o Cause or Voluntarily Without Good Reason. 1f Mr. Gorin’s employment is terminated (i) by us for
Cause or (ii) at his own volition other than for Good Reason, he will not be entitled to any additional
payments from us.

In addition to the foregoing amounts, in the event that Mr. Gorin’s employment with us was terminated on
December 31, 2007 under any of the scenarios identified above, he would have also been entitled to receive from us
a payment of all amounts deferred by him under the Senior Officers Plan equal to $158.104.

Timothy W. Korth. The amended and restated employment agreement for Mr. Korth provides for an annual
base salary of not less than $325,000. Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Korth is eligible to receive an annuul
performance bonus as recommended by our Chief Executive Officer and approved by the Compensation Commitiee
or the Board, as the case may be. Mr. Korth’s amended and restated employment agreement has a term of two
years, subject to earlier termination in certain circumstances, and is scheduled to expire on December 31, 2009.

Pursuant to the terms of his amended and restated employment agreement. under certain specified scenarios
during the term of his employment, Mr. Korth is entitled to receive, in addition to earned and unpaid amounts then

owed to him, certain payments upon the termination of his employment or a Change In Control involving MFA.

o Without Cause or For Good Reason. If Mr. Korth's employment is terminated by us without Cause
(which would exclude our determination not to renew his employment at the end of any applicable
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term) or by him for Good Reason, he will be entitled to (i) a continued payment, in accordance with
our payroll practices, of his current annual base compensation until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in his employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination, (ii) the immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options,
with his Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such
termination or the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred,
(i) the immediate full vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) the
continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in his employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination. In the event that Mr. Korth's employment with us was terminated on December 31, 2007
under one of these two scenarios, he would have been entitled to receive from us & payment estimated
to be $480,477.

o Change In Control. 1f Mr. Korth’s employment is terminated (i) by us without Cause (which would
include our determination not to renew his employment at the end of any applicable term) within two
months before a Change In Control and following the occurrence of a Pre-Change-In-Control Event,
(ii} by his resignation for any reason within three months following a Change In Control, or {iii} by us
other than for Cause (which would include our determination not to renew his employment at the end
of any applicable term) or by his resignation for Good Reason within 12 months following a Change In
Control, he will be entitled to (a) a payment equal to 250% of the sum of his current annual base
compensation and his highest performance bonus received during one of the two preceding fiscal
years, (b) the immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his
Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or
the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (c) the immediate
tull vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (d) the continued participation,
at our expense, in all of our health insurance, life insurance, retirement and other benefit programs for
the balance of the term of his employment agreemeat. In the event that Mr. Korth's employment with
us was terminated on December 31, 2007 under one of these three scenarios, he would have been
entitled to receive from us a payment estimated to be $1,248,708.

e Death or Disability. If Mr. Korth’s employment is terminated by reason of his death or Disability, he
{or his legal representative or estate) will be entitled to (i) a continued payment on a monthly basis of
his current annual base compensation for a period of one year following such termination, (ii) the
immediate full vesting of all of his outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with his Options and
related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or the
contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (iii) the immediate full
vesting and settlement of all of his outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) in the event of his Disability
only, the continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance for the balance of the duration
of the Disability (subject to certain limitations). In the event that Mr. Korth's employment with us was
terminated on December 31, 2007 (i) by reason of his death, his estate would have been entitled to
receive from us payments estimated to be $451,925 or (ii) by reason of his Disability, he or his legal
guardian would have been entitled to receive from us payments estimated to be $2,437,223 (assuming
payment of health insurance until age 63).

o - Cause or Voluntarily Without Good Reason. 1f Mr, Korth’s employment is terminated (i) by us for
Cause or (ii) at his own volition other than for Good Reason, he will not be entitled to any additional
payments from us.

Teresa D. Covello. The amended and restated employment agreement for Ms. Covello provides for an
annual base salary of not less than $250,000. Pursuant to this agreement, Ms. Covello is eligible to receive an
annual performance bonus as recommended by our Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Financial Officer and
approved by the Compensation Committee or the Board, as the case may be. Ms. Covello’s amended and restated
employment agreement has a term of two years, subject to earlier termination in certain circumstances, and is
scheduled to expire on December 31, 2009. .
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Pursuant to the terms of her amended and restated employment agreement, under certain specified
scenarios during the term of her employment, Ms. Covello is entitled to receive, in addition to earned and unpaid
amounts then owed to her, certain payments upon the termination of her employment or a Change In Control
involving MFA.

Without Cause or For Good Reason. If Ms, Covello’s employment is terminated by us without Cause
{which would exclude our determination not to renew her employment at the end of any applicable
term) or by her for Good Reason, she will be entitled to (i) a continued payment, in accordance with
our payroll practices, of her current annual base compensation until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in her employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination, (ii) the immediate full vesting of all of her outstanding Restricted Shares and Options,
with her Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such
termination or the contractval expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred,
(i) the immediate full vesting and settiement of all of her outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) the
continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance until the later of the contractual
expiration of the stated term set forth in her employment agreement or the first anniversary of such
termination. In the event that Ms. Covello's employment with us was terminated on December 31,
2007 under one of these two scenarios, she would have been entitled to receive from us a payment
estimated to be $383,691.

Change In Control. 1f Ms. Covello’s employment is terminated (i) by us without Cause (which would
include our determination not to renew her employment at the end of any applicable term) within two
months before a Change In Control and following the occurrence of a Pre-Change-In-Control Event,
(i1) by her resignation for any reason within three months following a Change In Control, or (iii) by us
other than for Cause (which would include our determination not to renew her employment at the end
of any applicable term} or by her resignation for Good Reason within 12 months following a Change
In Control, she will be entitled to (a) a payment equal to 250% of the sum of her current annua} base
compensation and her highest performance bonus received during one of the two preceding fiscal
years, (b) the immediate full vesting of all of her outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with her
Options and related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or
the contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (c) the immediate
full vesting and settlement of all of her outstanding Phantom Shares and (d)the continued
participation, at our expense, in all of our health insurance, life insurance, retirement and other benefit
programs for the balance of the term of her employment agreement. In the event that Ms. Covello’s
employment with us was terminated on December 31, 2007 under one of these three scenarios, she
would have been entitled to receive from us a payment estimated to be $1,063,935.

Death or Disability. 1If Ms. Covello’s employment is terminated by reason of her death or Disability,
she (or her legal representative or estate) will be entitled 1o (i) a continued payment on a monthly basis
of her current annual base compensation for a period of one year following such termination, (ii) the
immediate full vesting of all of her outstanding Restricted Shares and Options, with her Options and
related DERs remaining outstanding until the earlier of 90 days after such termination or the
contractual expiration of such instruments had such termination not occurred, (iii) the immediate full
vesting and settlement of all of her outstanding Phantom Shares and (iv) in the event of her Disability
only, the continued participation, at our expense, in our health insurance for the balance of the duration
of the Disability (subject to certain limitations). In the event that Ms. Covello’s employment with us
was terminated on December 31, 2007 (i) by reasen of her death, her estate would have been entitled to
receive from us payments estimated to be $355,138 or (ii) by reason of her Disability, she or her legal
guardian would have been entitled to receive from us payments estimated to be $2,340.436 (assuming
payment of health insurance until age 65).

Cause or Voluntarily Without Good Reason. 1f Ms. Covello’s employment is terminated (i) by us for
Cause or (ii) at her own volition other than for Good Reason, she will not be entitled to any additional
payments from us.
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Each of the amended and restated employment agreements of Messrs. Zimmerman, Freydberg, Gorin and
Korth and Ms. Covello includes a prehibition on (a) providing services 1o, or acquiring certain interests in, any other
mortgage REIT and (b) soliciting our employees, in either case without our consent, for a period of one year
following a termination of employment; provided, that, the non-compete obligation described in clause (a) of this
sentence will not be effective, with respect to Messrs, Zimmerman, Freydberg and Gorin, in the event any such
individual elects not to renew the term of his employment upon expiration of the initial or any renewal period and,
with respect to Mr. Korth and Ms, Covello, in the event either they or we elect not to renew the term of their
employment upon expiration of the initial or any renewal period. -

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

There are no compensation committee interlocks and no insider participation in compensation decisions
that are required to be reported under the rules and regulations of the Exchange Act.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers and holders of more than 10%
of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (“10% Holders™) to file with the SEC and the NYSE initial reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership of Common Stock and other equity secunties of MFA. Directors,
executive officers and 10% Holders are required by the SEC’s regulations to furnish us with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms and amendments thereto filed during any given year.

Based on the review of copies of the Section 16(a) reports and amendments thereto furnished us and written
representations from our directors, executive officers and 10% Holders that no other reports were required to be
filed, we believe that for the year ended December 31, 2007 our directors, executive officers and 10% Holders
complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to them.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Since the beginning of our last fiscal year, we have not been a party to any transaction or proposed
transaction with any related person who is (i) one of our directors or executive officers, (ii) a director nominee,
(iii) a beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Common Stock or (iv) any member of the immediate family of any
of the foregoing persons that involves an amount exceeding $120,000 and in which any such related person had or
will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Legal Services. Since 2001, we have retained the services of Clifford Chance as our outside legal counsel

for general, corporate, securities and other matters. Alan L. Gosule, one of our directors, is a partner of Clifford
Chance.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following tabte sets forth information as of the Record Date regarding the beneficial ownership of our

Common Stock by (i) each person known 1o us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of the Common Stock,
(ii) the Named Executive Officers, (iii) our directors and (iv) all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Common Stock Beneficially Owned

Shares
Subject to Percent of
Name and Business Address'” Shares'™® Options" Total Class

Directors and Officers
SEEWAN ZAIMITIEIIIIAI . co.eeoeme s sisrersesssssesaessasneseresenesemmmssbesrebsbsbs 1 b1 Tima RS ar b s amnsnan 216,599 285,000 501,599 *
Ronald A. Freydberg...........civennns 117,823 100,000 217,823 *
William $. Gorin ...covvviniiniinininns 166,746 100,000 266,746 *
Timothy W. Korth.. 9,673 50,000 59,673 *
Teresa D. Covello... 12,103 50,000 62,103 *
Stephen R BIANK oo b e e 7.468 5,000 12,468 *
James A. Brodsky... 8250 5.000 13.250 *
Edison C. Buchanan... 3,750 5,000 8,750 *
Michael L. Dahir .oovvueeeeeeer e 112,686 5,000 117,686 *
Alan L. GOSUIE vr.veeeecr i 6,336 5,000 11,336 *
George H. Krauss e 25,973 80,000 105,973 *
All directors and executive officers as a group

(172 PRISONS)cueuvcrecememmrcsnsien st st s rass et oot ser sttt b S0 687,407 690,000 1,377,407 *
FMR LLC™®

82 Devonshire Street

Boston, Massachusetts 02109, ..o oot s ssessenss 17,717,760 — — 12.399%
Wellington Management Company, LLP®

75 State Street

Boston, Massachusetts 02100 .....oovieiiicriimrine e e 9,268,684 — — 8.860%

*)

th

12y

(3

4

5

16}

Represents less than 1% of issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock.
The business address of each director and Named Executive Officer is c/o MFA Mortgage lnvestments, Inc.. 350 Park Avenue,
21% Floor, New York, New York 10022.

Each director and Named Executive Officer has sole voting and investment power with respect to these shares. except that
{i) Mr. Freydberg jointly hotds 76,000 shares with his spouse and (ii) Mr. Krauss’s spouse has sole voting and investment power with

-respect to 22,223 shares.

Includes unvested Restricted Shares granted to the Named Executive Officers pursuant to our 2004 Equity Compensation Plan as
follows: Mr. Zimmerman - 8,391 Restricted Shares:; Mr. Freydberg — 5,826 Restricted Shares; Mr. Gorin — 5,826 Restricted Shares;
Mr, Korth - 1,765 Restricted Shares; and Ms. Covello ~ 1.337 Restricted Shares.

For purposes of this table, a person is deemed to be the beneficial owner of shares of Common Stack if that person has the right o
acquire such shares within 60 days of the Record Date by the exercise of any Options. Options held by a person are deemed to have been
exercised for the purpose of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by such person. but
shall not be deemed to have been exchanged or exercised for the purpose of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of Common
Stock beneficially owned by any other person.

On its Schedule 13G (Amendment No. 1) filed with the SEC on March 10, 2008, FMR LLC reported sole voting power with respect 10
1.612.460 shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by them and sole dispositive power with respect to 17.717.760 shares of
Common Stock beneficially owned by them. The Schedule 13G (Amendment No. L} reports a beneficial ownership percentage of shares
of Common Stock of 12.399%. which does not include any shares issued or tepurchased since such percentage was calculated for
purposes of the Schedule 13G (Amendment Ne. 1).

On its Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008, Wellington Management Company, LLP reported shared voting power
with respect to 6,173,160 shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by them and shared dispositive power with respect to 9,149,784
shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by them. The Schedule 13G reports a beneficial ownership percentage of shares of
Common Stock of 8.86%, which does not include any shares issued or repurchased since such percentage was calculated for purposes of
the Schedule 13G.

OTHER MATTERS

The Board knows of no other business to be presented at the Annual Meeting. The proxies for the Annual

Meeting confer discretionary authority on the persons named therein as proxy holders to vote on any matier
proposed by stockholders for consideration at the Annual Meeting. As to any other business which may properly
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come before the Annual Meeting, the persons named as proxy holders on your proxy card will vote the shares of
Common Stock represented by properly voted proxies in their judgment.

SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any steckholder intending to present a proposal at cur 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and have the
proposal included in the proxy statement for such meeting must, in addition to complying with the applicable laws
and regulations governing submissions of such proposals, submit the proposal in writing to us no later than
December 9, 2008.

Pursuant to our current Bylaws, any stockholder intending to present a proposal at an annual meeting of our
stockholders, without having such proposal included in the proxy statement for such annual meeting, must notify us
in writing not less than 120 days nor more than 150 days prior to the first anniversary of the date of the proxy
statement for the preceding year’s annual meeting. Accordingly, any stockholder who intends to submit such a
proposal at our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must notify us in writing of such proposal by December 9,
2008, but in no event earlier than November 9, 2008.

Any such proposal must include the information required by our Bylaws and should be sent to Timothy W.
Korth, our Generai Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and Corporate Secretary, at MFA
Morigage Investments, Inc., 350 Park Avenue, 21* Floor, New York, New York 10022.

HOUSEHOLDING OF PROXY MATERIALS

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (such as banks and brokers) to satisfy
the delivery requirements for proxy statements and annual reports with respect to two or more stockholders sharing
the same address by delivering a single set of proxy materials (i.e., the proxy statement and annual report) addressed
to those stockholders. This process, which is commonly referred to as “householding,” potentially means extra
convenience for stockholders and cost savings for companies.

This year, a number of brokers with account holders who are our stockholders will be “‘householding” our
proxy malerials. A single set of proxy materials will be delivered to multiple stockholders sharing the same address
unless contrary instructions have been received from the impacted stockholders. Once a stockholder has received
notice from its broker that they will be “householding” communications to such stockholder’s address,
“householding” will continue until such stockholder revokes consent to “householding” or is notified otherwise. If,
at any time, a stockholder no longer wishes to participate in “householding” and would prefer to receive a separate
set of our proxy materials, such stockholder should so notify us by directing written requests to: MFA Mortgage
Investmenis, Inc., 350 Park Avenue, 21" Floor, New York, New York 10022, Aun: Timothy W. Korth, our General
Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business Development and Corporate Secretary or by calling our tnvestor relations
toll-free phoneline at (800) 892-7547. In addition, if so requested, we will also undertake to promptly deliver a
separate set of proxy materials to any stockholder for whom such proxy materials were subject to “householding.”
Stockholders who currently receive muitiple copies of our proxy materials at their address and would like to request
“householding” of their communications should contact us as specified above or their respective brokers.

MISCELLANEOUS

We are bearing all costs assoctated with the solicitation of proxies in connection with the Annual Meeting.
This solicitation is being made primarily through the internet and by mail, but may also be made by our directors,
executive officers and employees by telephone, telegraph, facsimile transmission, electronic transmission, internet,
mail or personal interview. No additional compensation will be given to our directors, executive officers or
employees for this solicitation. We will request brokers and nominees who hold shares of Common Stock in their
names to furnish proxy material to beneficial owners of such shares and will reimburse such brokers and nominees
for their reasonable expenses incurred in forwarding solicitation material to such beneficial owners.
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A COPY OF OUR ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K (FILED WITH THE SEC AND THE NYSE),
WHICH CONTAINS ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT US, IS AVAILABLE FREE OF CHARGE
TO ANY STOCKHOLDER. REQUESTS SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO TIMOTHY W. KORTH, OUR
GENERAL COUNSEL, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT - BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE
SECRETARY, AT MFA MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS, INC., 350 PARK AVENLUE, 215" FLOOR, NEW
YORK, NEW YORK 10022.

By Order of the Board

/\f:;\—;\w A?QS(\

Timothy W. Korth
General Counsel, Senior Vice President — Business
Development and Corporate Secretary

New York, New York
April 8, 2008
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